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About the Report

Introduction

This is the 2022 Erwvironmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report released
by Li Auto Inc. (o company controlled threugh weighted voting rights and
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability). It aims to showcase
the ESG strategies, monagement and practices of the Company and its main
subsidiaries as listed in its annual report (“the Company,” “Li Auto,” or “we"},

Reporting Scope

The materials and dota disclosed in the report cover Li Aute Inc. and its main
subsidiaries' as listed in its annual report. The information covers the period
from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022 (“the reporting period,” “this
year," or "2022"), unless otherwise stated.

' The Data is mainly cellected from business entities in Beijing and Changzhou. Entities in
Shanghoi provide dato on revenues, R&D expenditures, and employees for this report,

* GRI, Global Repaorting Initictive,

¥ MSCI, Morgan Stanley Capital Intermationol

Basis of Preparation

This report is compiled in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance (ESG) Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Mairn
Board Listing Rutes of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
[HKEX), with reference to the GR/* Standards developed by the Global
Sustainability Standords Board (GSSB). This report is olso prepared
with reference to MSCIY, S&P DJSI® and ather mainstream ESG indices,
and being aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)®
and recommendations of Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)®.

Sources of Information

All materiols and data referred in this report are sourced from our official
documents, statistical reports and financial reports, which have been
collected, summarized and reviewed by relevant departments. Unless
otherwise stated, the reporting currency herein is Renminbi (RMB).

* S&P DJSI, S&P Dow Jones Sustainability Indices.

* SDGs, Sustainoble Development Goals, include 17 globol development gools adopted by
the United Notions to guide global develepment from 2015 to 2030

Report Approval and Acc

This report has been reviewed and approve
and the Board of Directors on April 21, 202.
website of HKEX (www.hkexnews.hk) and tt
(bttps:/fwwwlixiang.com) in simplified Chir
and English.

Disclaimer

Parts of this report are forward-looking subjec!
cause actuol results to differ materially from tk
undertakes no obligation to update any forwar
in this report.

* TCFD, Task Farce on Climate-reloted Financiol Discl
help companies disclose climate-related infarmation
as Imestars, lenders, insurance underwriters to unde
imvestment information transparency,
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About Us

Li Auto Inc. is a leader in China's New Energy Vehicle (NEV) market. Our
mission is to “Create a Mobile Home, Create Happiness” ( “8liStEshites, aliE
FmAYE" ). We design, develop, manufacture, and sell premium smart electric
vehicles. Through innovation in product, technology and business model, we
provide families with safe, convenient and comfertable smart electric vehicles.

We are dedicoted to full-stack self development, ond have ochieved success
with in-house research and development in key technical fields such as
range-extended electric vehicle, high-voltage pure electric platform,
autonomaous driving, and smart cabin. Li ONE, aur first six-seat premium
electric SUV, was launched in 2019. In 2022, we lounched Li L9, a six-seat

flagship family SUV and Li L8, a six-seat prem
Li L7, afive-seat flogship family SUV. With the
can better satisfy needs of market segments, r
premium smart electric vehicle for family user
cumulative deliveries hod reached

257,334
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Celebrating Our Milestones

Beijing CHJ Information Technology Co., Li ONE, our first smart electric vehicle, was
Ltd. (currently known as Li Auto Inc.) officially lounched. It adopts innovative ronge
waos founded. extension solutions, oddressing ronge anxiety

fram the perspective of product technologies.

April 2015 October 2018

The 10,000th Li ONE was delivered to our user.
Since the first delivery in December 2019, Li
Auto had achieved its first 10,000 delivery in
6.5 months.

June 2020

Li Auto went public on the Masdog Stock Market
under the ticker symbol “LI".

July 2020

The 2021 Li ONE*
upgrades extende
(EREV) powertralr
technologies and
range of 1,080 kil

August 2021 MNovember 2021
On August 12th, 2021, Li Auto completed the The deliveries of Li ONE reached 13,485
dual primary listing on the Main Boord of the vehicles, setting o new single-month
Stock Exchonge of Hong Kong Limited, under delivery record, which was also the first time
the stock code *2015". that a Chinese brand medel priced over

RMB300,000 had delivered over 10,000
vehicles in a single month.
' In April 2017, CHJ Technologies Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman

Islands as our offshore holding company, and it later changed its nome to™Li Auto Inc.”
in July 2020

# NEDC refers to New Eurapean Driving Cycle, @ stondard of mileoge.

June 2022

Li Auto officially unveiled Li L9, a six-seat
flagship SUV for family users.

September 2022

Li ONE ushered in the lounch of their next
generation flagship models, with Li L8 lounched
and Li L7 unveiled. In September, our delivery of
aver 10,000 Li L9s marked the first time a model
of o Chinese brand priced over RMB400,000
had achieved this monthly delivery milestone,
establishing Li LS os one of the top choices of
full-size SUV for family users in China.

Der

Li Auto delivered
December, once
monthly delivery.
MNEV manufacture
to reach 20,000~
single month.
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2022 ESG Highlights

ESG Accreditation

Maintained excellent AA MSCI ESG rating for 2 consecutive years

Compliant Operation and Responsible Governance
Anti-corruption and complionce training sessions for 100% of employees
Zero corruption-related investigations and cases

Certified to 150 27001 - Information Security Monagement System
Certified 10 IS0 27701 - Privacy Security Management System

Zero user privacy dota breach incidents

2,061 accumulated authorized patents and 655 trademarks
100% Tier 1 suppliers certified to IATF 16949
100% of user complaints handled and resolved

99.8% user satisfaction rate

Innovative Pioneer and Outstanding Product
Moare than 2,700 quality standords met prior to delivery

The annual read test mileage of advonced driver-ossistance systems
(ADAS) reached millions of kilometers

Zero product recalls
27,546 employee enrollments in quality safety training, totaling 28,000 hours

RMB&.78 billion invested in innovation and R&D, and 41 laboratories in
operation

Inclusive Care and Shared Growth
Emplayees come from 15 countries or regions, and 37 ethnic minorities

First cn-compus recruitment channel attracted more than 2,000 fresh
graduates

398,701 enrollments in various types of employee training, totaling over
610,000 training hours, averaging 31 hours of training per employee

Zemo production-reloted serious injury or fatality accidents

Zero accupational diseases or suspected occupational diseases

2022

Mare than 90% of factory waoste gos collectic

100% of manufacturing bases in production ¢
Environmental Maonagement System

Zero administrative punishment related to env

Changzhou Manufocturing Bose achieved th
nitrogen and phesphorus in wastewater

Certified to ISO 50001 - Energy Managemeni
Retted as Provincial-level Water-seving Entes

Changzhou Manufacturing Base won the title
factory

The recyclobility ond recovesability rates of Li LB w
The recyclability ond recoverability rates of Li LS w

Through the renewable energy system, the P
heodquarters can reduce 30,272.3 tonnes of

Low-carbon Operation and Green Ambition

Energy consumption of production was 0.107 tce per vehicle, intended
target accomplished

Water consumption of production wos 4.4 tonnes per vehicle, intended
target accomplished

Community Contribution for o Bette

Donations made to the Sichuan Charity Gene
relief

Donations made to Bahrain Left Banner in In
poverty alleviation projects
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2022 Honorary Accolades

Li ONE ranked No .1 in the Tech Experience Index
Innovation Index of Chinese mainstream NEV brands

1.0, Power

Li OMNE ranked No.1in the Mainstream Plug-in Hybrid Market
Segment of China New Energy New Vehicle - Initial Quality Study

1.0, Power
Li OME ranked Ne.1in the Mainstream Plug-in Hybrid Market

Segment of China New Energy New Vehicle -
China Automotive Performance, Execution and Layout

1.0 Power

No.1in Customer Experience Value Index of Chinese NEV brands

J.0. Power

2022 Smart Cabin Model

1.0 Power and Humen-Yehicle Relationship Laberatary
of Tongji University (HVR Lab)

Li L9 won "Car of the Year"in the 10th Xuanyuan Award

Auto Business Review ond EFS Consulting {Austria)

Provincial-level Green Factory

Industry and Information Technology Department of Jiangsu Provinee

Pravincial-level Water-saving Enterprise

Jiangsu Pravincial People’s Government

ESG Excellent Governance Enterprise

FUTU

Top 20 companies in China's Automobile Industry in 2022

China inery Industry F ion and China A
of Automobile Manufocturers

Second Prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award

The People's Government of Beijing Municipelity

2022 Hone

Excellence Patent of the 23rd Cr

China National intellectual Praperty

Dianjin Award for Popular New En
Wehicle Model 202:

Werld Intelligent Connected Vehicles Co

China's Top 10 Healthy

Chinese Associotion of Human Resov

King's Ark - The Most Talent-Ch

Boss Zhipin

2022 Excellent Emg

Maimai

China Best Employer

Zhilian Zhoopin
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Compliant Operation and Responsil

Compliant Operation
Responsible Governa

Corporate Governance ES

Business Ethics Cyl

Li Auto believes thot responsible corporate go
creation of sustainable value. To this end, we
te improve our governance and effectively me
Meanwhile, we maintain close communicatior
understand their demaonds and expectations,
values for all porties
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1.1 Corporate Governance

1.1.1 Compliant Operation

Li Auto and its subsidiaries hove established a sophisticated and efficient
corporate governance framework with a clear division of rights and
responsibilities, in accordance with the Company Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Nosdag Stock Market LLC Rules, ond the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities an The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as well as
other opplicable laws.

Our Board of Directors has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure efficient operation. We clarify the respective
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and committees and duly uphold
business ethics and standards while ensuring compliont business operation,
in a bid to safeguard shareholders' interests and corporate sustainability. The
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and committees and information
about directors are available on our IR website' and the website of the stock
exchanges. During the reporting period, the Board of Directors held four
meetings with a 100% director attendance rate.

Li Auto’s boord structure

Board of Directors

Compensation
Committee

Nominating and
Corporate Governance
Committee

Audit Committee

! https:/fir.lixiang.com/

We believe that boord independence and diversity are key pillars to safeguard
shareholders' interests and maintain stable corporate development. When
nominating ond oppointing board members, we fully factor into gender, age,
knowledge, skill, experience, ond background, amongst other attributes,

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committes assesses the
independence of independent non-executive directors, develops targets for
board independence and diversity, and regularly reviews and oversees the
implementation of board diversity.

Li Auto's dirsctars

- g Experiencef
Name Gender  Position/Role and Responsibility Expartise
- Chairman of the Board and Chief
I
Li Xiang Male Executive Officar Industry expert
Ma Danghui Male Executive Director ond President Industry expert

- Executive Director, Chief Financial Industry and
LiTi Mal t y . .

S o Officer, and Compliance Officer financial expert
Waong Xing Male Non-Executive Directar Industry expert
Fan Zheng Male Mon-Executive Director Industry expert
Koo King Female  Independent Non-Executive Directar  Financial expert
Zhoo . . .

. Male Independent Non-Executive Directar  Financiol expert
Henggiang
Jiang Zhen Male Independent Non-Executive Director i L2 B
g i P legal expert

Compliont Operation ond Responsil

As of the release of the report, the Board of Dir
eight members, including two non-executive d
non-executive directors who meet independen
of the applicoble lows and stock exchange rule
Hong Kong. The Board of Directors has appoin
independent non-executive director, o testame
attach to female leadership, as well as beard i

Li Auto's outstanding female representative

As on independent ron-sxecutive director of Li Auto,
operation and gevernance, provides objective and inc
that need to be opproved by the Board of Directors, o
financial contrel ond rigk manogement palicies.

Prof. Xion Xing has given pricnty to ESG and conduct
reloted issues, including the impocts of corbon bardes
mechoniems ond economic coreequances of oreann
companies, and the 1558 Sustainability Reporting Sta
parficipated in the preparation of and hosted the 202
sponsored by Teinghuo University School of Econcei
Business Schcal, and Asian Infrastructure Irvestment
September 15. The event brought together policymok
players from rultiple Asion countries 1o discuss the pr
droft sustainability disclosure standords for consutat
Asian marksts,

Prof. Xioo Xing is passicnate aoout public welfore onc
concermed about students’ mental health, In 2022, Pr
back, The Oid Man and tfhe Sea, at an event with the
was tohelp releve students’ pressure from ocademic |
development and to encourage them ta face difficulti
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1.1.2 Risk Management

Li Auto takes risk monagement and internal control os the core of
corporate management. To this end, we have formulated the Li Auto inc.
Risk Management Policies and established a risk manogement framework
featuring "three lines of defense.” We have developed a sound risk
prevention and management architecture to ensure the execution of risk
management agendas.

Li Auto's risk response and management structure

The first line The second line The third line
of defense of defense of defense
A\
BUSHEE: d:p;:;:’:s Internal contrel,
fengng fra ) affairs, ond quality Internol audit and other

procuement, proguction,
and manufacturing to sales
and user senices

management and other
related deportments

supervisary deportments

Provice prolassicaol
expertis ipport, ond
supendsion os well as
reasonatle douit for
risk-reloted matters

Provide indeperdent and
abjective assessments
and recommendations

on all matters relating to

achieving corparate targets

Ideniify, assess,
and manoge business risks

! COS0, Committee of Spansoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, wos
organized to sponsor the Mational Commission on Froudulent Reporting (NCFR).

Organizational Structure

The Board of Directors is the highest leodership and decision-making body,
which shoulders the ultimate responsibility of corporate risk management.
The Audit Committee, under the Board of Directors, reviews and monitors
corporate risk management and internal control systems, ensuring the precise
identification, real-time monitoring, effective assessment, and comprehensive
control of risks involved in business operations. At the functional level, the
Legal and Compliance Departrment takes charge of coordinating with the relevant
business departments to take risk prevention measures in a timely manner.

Risk Management and Internal Control System

We have built o sound and effective risk manogement and internal control
system. We regularly identify, onalyze ond assess internal risks, develop
corresponding risk control strategies, and regularly analyze and review
their effectiveness. The Audit Committee circulates matters concerning risk
managernent and internal control at quarterly meetings.

In 2022, we comprehensively reviewed and identified strategy risks, market
risks, operational risks, financial and legal risks, with reference to the COSO'
Enterprise Risk Monogement Framework. We identified major risks and
clarified the couses, countermeasures, and the departments in charge based
on the list of risks and their potential impacts. Concurrently, we assessed risks
from both their likelihood of occurrence and consequences by applying a risk
matrix. We then issue a risk assessment report as a basis for risk identification
ard management in the following year. Prioritizing ESG risk management, we
have incorporated a number of ESG risks into our risk management system,
including product quolity, infermation security, production safety and natural
disaster risks. We formulate risk response strategies and effectively improve
our capability to address ESG risks.

Compliant Operation and Responsil

List of Li Auto's major risks in 2022

Risk categories

Strotegic risks

Market risks

[s] tional risks

Risks

+ Mocro-environmentol risks
- Strateqgic management risks

+ Morket supply and demand
risks

» Morket expansion and brand
marketing risk

= Investmant risks

Financial risks

Legal risks

- Maon, ing risks
- Procurement risks

« Financial risks
= Tox risks

= Complionce risks
- Litigation and dispute risks

Exomples of Li Auto's ESG risks in 2022

Product quality risks

Inform

Production safety risks Nature
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1.2 ESG Management

At Li Auto, we are committed to improving ESG management systems to
promote environmental and social harmany, thus creating sustainable
corporate value. Furthermore, we actively respond to stakeholders’ ESG
dermands from multiple perspectives, relentlessly improve our performance in
the MSCI ESG rating as well as other mainstream ESG indices ond strengthen
our capability for sustainakility management.

Li Auta’s ESG monagement structure

/ Board "\ ¥
£ " *

£ A

/ of Directors \

,
. r — >
Vi Audit Committee Ay
/ N
/ ,
/ 4 ,
/ peport [ oo omspones
/ N
/ + N
/ \
/ N
/ i N
,’j ESG Working Group \ e
/
/ Q \
/ | N,
/' repan | Sz
/ v ,
/ A
/ N,
s ESG-reloted modules Y »
\
/ D
/ by

Compliant Operation and Responsil

1.2.1 ESG Structure

Li Auto hos identified the ESG management system with the approval of At present, we are engoging the Boord of Direc
the Board of Directors in 2021, with the ESG Working Group designated in discussions to establish an ESG Committee
to coordinate ESG-related matters. We have sorted out ond odjusted the management procedures and enhance ESG m

management structure to toke into account our ESG management needs,
and the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee will jointly consider and
approve the ESG strategies and policies.

Baard of Directors: Leading and being respansible for ESG management, identifying ESG monagement k, reviewing ESG jies, policies, anc
building of effective ESG risk management and internal cantrol systems,

Audit Committee: Reviewing ESG strategles, policies, targets, annual plans, and mid-long-term plans together with the Board of Directors, as well as supe
On the bosis of existing responsibilities, the Audit Committee assumes odditional responsibilities relating to ESG-related reviews and inspections, includin
strategies, frameworks, principles, policies, and systems; overseeing the implementation of ESG targets, reviewing the practices and perfarmance for lege
monitoring Key Perfarmance Indicators (KPts) set by the Compony on ESG priorities and ESG performance; and reporting and making recommendations tc
obove motters.

ESG Working Group: Developing ESG targets and working plans, improving communication with stakeholders, identifying ESG-related risks and opportunit
Audit Committes.

ESG-related modules: Sales and Service, Legal and Camplionce, Capital Markets, R&D, Manufacturing, Quality and Safety, Finance, Supply Chain, Humai
Administrotive Monagement ond External Affairs, etc.

Coordinating the implementation of working plans and advancing specific tasks under the guidance of the ESG Working Group.
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1.2.2 Sustainability Strategy

Li Auto has integrated the sustainability strategy into corporate strotegic
planning. We are dedicated to leading the future modes of mobility while
achieving sustainable development to honor our social responsibility

through unremitting Improvements in brand reputation and technological

Sustainability strategy

Compliant Operation and Responsil

accumulation. We identify risks and opportunities in business operations
while pursuing our vision and mission in terms of "Compliant Operation and
Responsible Governance,” “Innovative Pioneer ond Outstanding Product,”
"Inclusive Care and Shared Growth,” “Low-carbon Operation and Green

Ambition,” ond “Community Contribution for a
tangible actions to respond to the SDGs, thus .
development of society as a whole.

Areas SDGs

Compliant Cperation
and Respansible Governance

Innovative Pioneer
and Qutstanding Product

Inclusive Care
and Shared Growth

Low-carbon Cperation
and Green Ambition

Community Contribution
far o Better Society

Qur Risks

ESG manogement risks
Decision-making ricks

Business ethics risks

Product quality risks
User safety risks

Technology RE&D risks

Nlegal employment risks
Taolent drain risks
Hurmon cost risks
Banefit guarantee risks

Policy ond regulatory risks
Market risks

Energy risks

Climate change risks

Reputational risks
Public safety risks

Litigation risks
Information security risks

Intellectunl proparty right risks
Supply ehain risks

Customer relationship
maonagement risks

Equol opportunity risks
Sate production risks
Occupational health risks

Corbaon emissions risks in the
praduction process

‘Water pollution risks
‘Waste management risks
Matural disaster risks.

Qur Opportunities

ESG strategies
Risk cantral system

Manzgement made! innovation

Smort driving technologies
Inravation layaut
Industrial resource integration

Increose of reliobility and business capocity of
supply chain

Coordinated user innovation

Excellent tolent tzom

Human copital empowerment
Use of technological tools
Multi-chonnel knowledge oceess

Farmulation of climate chonge contingency plans
Production cost reduction by using renewables
Resource access and allacation eptimization
Materials recycling

Green product R&D

Enhancement of sociol value of brand
Employmeant generation
Dedication to philanthropy

Qur Actions

Establishing on ESG structure

Enhancing communication with
stakeholders

Ensuring compliont management

Quality management
Technalagy RED

Industry cooperation
Intellectunl property protection

Equol emplayment opportunities

Strengthening employee
communication

Providing reasonable
remuneration and benefits

Setting up carban neutrality
working group

Setting CO: emissions reduction
targets

Impraving the emvironmental
ranagement system

Monitoring pollutant emissions

Disaster assistance

Supperting pecple in stroitened
circumstances
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1.2.3 Stakeholder Communication

When advoncing sustainability, Li Auto fully understands the implications of
stakeholders' opinions and expectations on corporate operations and growth.

Li Auto's stokeholder communication mechanisms

We have put in place routine mechanisms for stokeholder communication in

and demands, and accept their supervision.

multiple forms, actively listen to their voices, understand their expectations

Compliant Operation and Responsil

Stakeholders

Issues of Concerm

Communication
Forms

Shareholders and
investors

Infarmation disclosure

Ongaing and stable
business grawth

Innovative develepment
Business ethics

Compliont operation and
risk management

General meeting af
shareholders

Regular reports and
announcements

Interim annauncements
and netices

Investor mailbox

Online and affline investor
meetings

News release

Users

Customer service and
satisfaction

Product quality and safety
Infermation security and

privacy protection

Official App

‘WeChat official occount
User satisfaction survey
Product survey and feedback
Usear complaint and handling

Oriline and affline activity
promotion

Company website and
interactions on sociol medio

Governments and
regulators

Regulatory compliance
Campliant eperatian
Information security
Business ethics

Job creation

Green praduct

Information disclosure

Daily cammunicotions
and reports

Supervisions and
inspections

Visit receptions

Employees

Legal employment
Training and development
Employea banefit guarantes

Oecupational health and
safety

Employee satisfaction
survey

Internal OA system

Internal communicotion
meeting

Regular research and
feedback

Online and affline training
activities

Publicity activities of
corporate culture

Employee care octivities

Suppliers

Honest operation

Mutual benefit and win-win
progress

Supply chain mancgemaert
Product quality and safety

Project procurement

Supplier contraets and
agreements

Supplier cudit and
evaluation

Supplier ossistoncs ond
cooperation

Other supplier
communication activities

Environment

Energy use and manogement
Green praduct

Water managemant
Emissions management

NEV-related technology and
product RED

Data disclosure of operational
environment

Cultivation of users’ low-carbon

owareness

Industries/

assecigtions

Intellectunl property
rights management

Innovative
developrnent

Green product

Cooperative
development

Praject cooperation

Technologicol
exchonges

Result sharing

Media

Infarmation transparency
Compliant aperation

Infarmation security and
privacy protection

Responsible marketing
Community contribution

MNews conference
Exclusive interviaw

Company website and
interactions on socicl me
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1.2.4 Materiality Assessment

Li Auto places great emphasis on the feedback ond suggestions of
stakeholders regording sustainable issues. In 2022, following the three steps
of “identification-research-analysis”, we reviewed and adjusted material
issues to produce the material issues matrix for the year. We reported the
material issues identified to the Boord of Directors and provided suggestions
on the final assessment of the material issues.

The distribution of Li Aute’s material issues

Importonce  lssue Category Location
. Froguct quality ond
1 Product quolity and safety Saclal 2 e
2 Business ethics Goverrance 1.3 Business ethics
information security and privacy §
3 teton Gaverrance 14 Cybersecurity
4 Customer service and satisfaction  Sociol 24 User service
Extramaly
high 5 lince and risk 11 Corporat
. | P Innovaticn ord
& novative development Saclal 22 opmant
7 Occupational hoolthond salaty  Saciol 33 Ensuing safety and
health
& Supply chainmonagement Saclol 23 Supply chain
manogamant
% Talent attroction and retention Sacial 31 Atrocting talent
10 Employees’ rights and welfare Saciot 31 Aftrocting tolent
" 42 Green produstion
12 Troining and development Saciol 32 Cutivating talent
Very high
13 enengy 42 Green production
14 Diversity, squity and inclusion Sacial 31 Attrocting talent
15 Green product Environmental 4.3 Green product
16 41 Climate strot
Moderatsly |7 Water management Environments 42 Green praduction
figh 18 Commurity contricution Sackl 51 Philanthropy

Importance to stakeholders

Compliant Operation and Responsil

Identification process of material issues

In ¢ with HKEX's Enwi . Social and (ESG) Reporting Guide and the GRY Standarals, with reference to require

ldentification  and other ESG rating indices, we hove comprehensively categerized materiol ESG issues and focuses of stakeholders. Through benchmar
domestically and internationolly as well as monitoring medio information, we hove identified 18 ESG priorities.

Research We collected responses from stokeholders such as directors, monagement, employess, investors, and usars through ancnymous onling gu
questionnaires collected in 2022,

P We analyzed and prioritized the research results from both "importance to Li Aute” end “importance lo stakeholders”, and produced Li Au

alyss which has been reviewed and confirmed by the ESG Working Groug.
Li Auto's mioterial issues matrix @ Governance
Moderately high Very high

-3

Importance to Li Auto
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1.3 Business Ethics

Li Auto upholds business ethics with high standards and has formulated
the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics', the Li Auto inc. Anti-corruption
and Compliance Policies, the Li Auto inc. Employes Handbook, the Li Auto
Inc. Whistle-blowing Policies and Procedures, the Li Auto Inc. Management
Rules far Confidentiality, Gift Acceptance Management System and other
management protocols, drawing on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002, and other advanced international laws and
regulations. These policies and protocals apply to all directors

and employees.

1.3.1 Building Management Architecture

Li Auto has established a comprehensive management framework for
business ethics, comprising of the Board of Directors, the Strategy Committee,

and the Legal and Compliance Department, The Boord of Directors supervises
and reviews the construction of business ethics compliance. The Working
Group for Clean Workploce under the Strategy Committee is responsible for
continually improving business ethics systems, fostering a culture of honesty,
investigating and punishing any violations of discipline, and accepting
employees’ complaints ond suggestions. A supenvision team has been set

up under the Legal and Compliance Departrment for the development of the
overall business ethics compliance mechanism, including the construction

of management mechanisms relating to anti-corruption, anti-bribery ond
conflict of interest.

Li Auto adopts a zero-tolerance policy for business ethics misconducts.

We have defined all potential corruption and bribery behaviors, including
bribery, kickbacks, excessive gifts, facilitation payments, extortion, money
laundering and payments or offers to obtain improper business advantages,

Compliant Operation and Responsil

ond developed corresponding management m
behaviors. We inspect business ethics perform
supervisions and oudits every year to minimize
the source.

We sign the Li Auto Inc. Employee Handbook v
integrity clauses with employees, supervising t
regulations on business ethics. Furthermare, w
with suppliers to create a fair and honest envir
also sign integrity agreements and relevant clc
will be bound to actively obide by relevant bus
thus building a clean and healthy supply chain
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1.3.2 Reporting Management

To improve the supervision and reporting management of business ethics,
we have developed the Li Auto Inc. Whistle-blowing Policies and Procedures
to stondardize the reporting channels and procedures, clarify the division

of rights and responsibilities of complaints and the operation process, and
improve the reporting channels management to ensure timely and effective
handling of complaints and reporting cases. We provide publicly accessible
and diverse reporting channels to accept both internal and external
supervision, including mail, email, in-person reporting and hatlines. We
encourage employees, suppliers, and other stakeholders to report any known
or potential misconducts that may violate lows, corporate ethics standards,
and malpractices that could domage corporate interests. After receiving

a credible whistleblowing report, we will promptly conduct verification

on businesses involved, give feedback to the whistleblower, consult the
personnel investigated, and take serious oction on corruption-related cases
after confirming a violation. To sofeguard the basic rights and interests of

whistleblowers, we have developed whistleblower protection palicies to
strictly protect their personal information and keep the reported information
strictly confidential as well as prohibit retaliation of any kind against them, in

accordance with rules ond laws,

In 2022, Li Auto received over 20 whistleblowing reports regarding violations
of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, most of which were minor
cases. All reports had been resolved. There were six whistleblowing reports
relating to imtegrity and corruption. During the reporting period, there were no
confirmed coses of corruption and bribery involving Li Auto.

Li Auto's business ethics reporting channels

Email:  complionce@lixiang.com

Haotline: +001 877-249-8611

Mail: Complionce Department, Li Auto Inc., 11 Wenliong Street,
Shunyi District, Beijing

1.3.3 Business Ethics Training

To continually enhance employee owarenass of onti-corruption and create an
open and honest workplace, Li Auto insists on conducting online and offline
business ethics training programs. We provide compliance training for all new
hires during orientation and require all permanent employees to participate

in ot least one comprehensive compliance training session every year, In
addition, we regularly launch integrity promotion campaigns and vigorously
publicize a compliance culture.

In 2022, Li Auto conducted 17 employee compliance training sessions
(including anti-corruption and integrity education):

With o coverage rote of Totaling

100% 7,994 hours

One integrity training session for
Baoard of Directors, totaling

20 hours

One integrity training session for the
management, totaling

20 hours

Li Auto's business ethics and complionce tralning system

Members of Board of Directers and seniar
executives

New hires Emplayee Hanabook.

Employees at different levels and from
business departments

All employees (including regular
interns, ete)

Compliant Operation and Responsil

Case Study: Li Auto’s anti-corruption ar
all employees

On December 7, 2022, the Director of Policy

the heads of the complionce teams organizi
themed "A Face-to-face Talk on Imegrity™ fi

course, our employess focus

integrity and anti-corn.
complian

channels.

corruptior

Receive specialized compliance training to enhence aowareness of the importance of performing duties w

Are required to finish complionce training during orientation ond sign the Code of Business Conduct and |

Recelve specialized training in compliance and business ethics to enhance daily work practices.

Recaive the Company's confidentiality training to strengthen confidentiality awaraness,
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1.4 Cybersecurity

Uphalding the firm belief that ensuring information security and user data
privacy is the first prerequisite for a safe and quality user experience, Li Auto
respects the users' personal information and privacy security, constantly
improves the process management of safe operation, and effectively avoids
information security risks by establishing a complete internal system and
information security management framework,

1.4.1 Information Security

To protect corporate network information security, Li Auto has
established an Information and Data Security Team. The vice president
of the Li Auto serves as the leoder of the Information and Data Security
Team and oversees the overall strotegic planning of information security,
the development of information security management policies and
systems, as well os the review, supervision, analysis, guidance, and
support of information security management. The Information and

Data Security Team reports any major netwerk information security
matters to the Board of Directors for supervision and decision-making.
The functional department invelved in information security executes
resolutions adopted by the Information and Data Security Team,
quiding, and coordinating relevant works across all business units. Each
functional department has an infermation security head to implement
departmental dota security work.

We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations such as the Data
Security Law of the People's Republic of China, the Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Provisions on
the Administration of Automoive Data Security (for Trial implementation)
and other relevont lows and regulations. In 2022, we updated our
management systems covering the entire life cycle of data based on our
existing management systems, such as the Lf Auto inc. Data Security
Management System V2.0 and the Li Auto Inc. Data Clossification and

Grading Management System V2.0, which cover all employees, suppliers ond
third parties involved in data security and personal information compliance.
Furthermore, to reinforce daily management of data and information, we have
categorized and classified data according to priority, type, confidentiality
requirements, and access-authorized objects. Based on these categories, we
have developed appropriate protection strategies and implemented unified
management through our data control platform. In 2022, Li Auto was certified
10 150 27001 - Infarmation Security Management System.

We formulate and improve data security management systems, setup o
data security protection system that covers the entire life cycle of software
demand, design, launch, operation, and maintenance, We put in place strict
measures to protect important data such as access control and adoption

of key informotion eneryption. We strictly record the relevant staff, time,

Li Auto's arganizational structure of the Infarmation and Dota Security Teom

Compliant Operation and Responsil

and operation of occessing data, and regularky
and audit on data operation. Strict manageme
equipment with live CCTV in place. We discow
of data stored with us. In addition, to ensure dc
leckage incidents, we have utilized data-loss-|
data with different clossification of risks and st
backup and recovery processes.

We also invite external expert teams and orgal
teams to monitor and inspect the data security
product lines, locate problems in advance and
technical measures to reduce information sect
conducted 325 internal and two external inspe

Information and Data Security Team

Business Unit Representatives ‘

Infermation Securi

Legal and Capital
Complionce ! Markets

Administ
Manage
and Ext

Affai

IT Systems
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In 2022, we revised the Lj Auto Inc, Emergency Response System for
Information Security Incidents based on the original CHJ Emergency Respanse
Guidelines to classify the security incidents accerding to their potential
impacts. We have also formulated corresponding emergency response plans
far security incidents and standardized relevant response processes, thus
addressing security emergencies such as information system interruption and
network attack risks in a timely and effective manner. To strengthen the data
security prevention and control system, we have organized network attack
and defense drills on a regular basis and summarized and rectified any weak
links identified to strengthen our ability of daily sofe operation. In 2022, Li
Auto conducted two emergency simulotion tests and drills.

Case Study: Li Aute’s emergency drill with Web Application Firewall

On September 21, 2022, Li Auto organized ond conducted an emergency
drill ogainst the network attack to ensure the success of the Li L8

press conference. During the drill, Web Application Firewall (WAF) was
deployed to menitor and copture simulated attacks and issue wamings.
Then, the security operation personnel immediately troubleshooted

the attack and initioted the

urity emergency response to block and
control the netwaork attack initiator. The goal of the drill was achieved in
the desired 10-minute timeframe from finding to preventing the attack,
with the overall emergency response process lasting for 20 minutes.

Li Auta's Information security training systern for employees

Introduction to information security and privacy management system

and risk assessment

Training on cenfidenticlity manogement regulations of product R&D 2.0

Training on IS0 27001 - Information Security Management Systerm

Experience sharing of enterprise system informatization and intelligent
manufacturing

Training on personal information protection, data and network security

Training on information security and privacy owareness

Compliont Operation ond Responsil

Diverse online and offline training courses targ
for all employees to improve their awareness ir

Case Study: Li Auto organizes information

In December 2022, Li Auto organized the 2(
Law” to carry out a series of training sessior
laws and regulotions in occordance with the
Protection Law and the Company's develop
employees better understand how to protec
perform confidentiality obligations and othe
enhance their awareness on information sec

recognized and well-received with a total of

In 2022, Li Aute conducted a total of 19 emple
information security, including seven security
enrollments and 33,351 training hours,
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1.4.2 Privacy Protection

Protecting personal information and privacy security is Li Auto’s primary
commitment to users. In 2022, certified to 1SO 27701 - Privacy Security
Manogement Systemn, Li Auto updated and released the Li Auto frc.
Privacy Policy for Users', and made all-out efforts to protect users' rights
to occess, copy, correct, supplement, delete persenal information and
change the autharization status. Moreover, we have formulated the L/ Auto
Inc. Management System for Personal Information Protection to clarify the
privacy evaluation process of varicus products before they are launched
and integrate the awareness of privacy protection into product design and

Li Aute's protection mechanism for users's information

daily business operations. We are committed to protecting users’ personal
information and privacy in all business interactions, including the use of
vehicles and apps. To achieve this, we have implemented a comprehensive
user infarmation protection mechanism and continuously optimize our
technelogy and manogement copabilities throughout the entire process

of collecting, storing, and using users' information. We take care of users’
information in strict accordance with laws and regulations. Users’ personal
information will be promptly deleted or anonymized in cases where they log
out of the app or request deletion.

Collection We detoil the purpose of collecting personal infarmation and promise not to use that information for undeclared purposes.

We adopt security protection measures that meet industry stondards to protect users’ personal information against unouthorized access, public disclosure, use,

madification, damage, and loss.

We take oll reasonable measures to protect users’ persanal information, such as access control, TSL encrypted transmission, encrypted storage by using encryption
Storage olgorithms such as AES256, RSA42048 or those having higher encryption strength, s well as displaying sensitive information after desensitization.

We use encryption techinology te ensure data anenymity and confidentiality.

We use trusted protection mechonisms to prevent malicious attecks on dota.

We adopt a strict intemal plan to prohibit providing user data te other personal informaticn processors without the user’s consent or legal basis,

Third-party data . = . .
management We sign confidentiolity and inf on

user dota, and toke protection Measures promptly.

clouses with partners who receive user dota, terminate cooperotion with partners who abuse or leak

If the: user revokes their autharity, the outharization shall be cancelled. When the user concels the authorization, the forced callection and use of the user's parsonal

User rights informatian is prohibited

We provide usars with rights ta contral and manage their personal infarmation with relevent methads publicly available in our privacy pelicies.

P - Fertl

' Li Auto Ine. Privacy Policy far Users: https:/) lixiong.co ml

Compliant Operation and Responsil

In 2022, we further improved the complaint re:
handling processes related to user privacy. Th
internal resources to respond, properly handlir
timely feedbock on the results.

As of December 31, 2022, Li Auto hod receives
user personal information and privacy from th
complaint was handled effectively in accordar
resolved, and no user privacy data breaches o
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2.1 Product Quality and Safety

Li Auto is dedicoted to building a quality manaogement system covering the
entire life ¢

le of products and fostering a culture of quolity in the Company as

well as bringing users a safe, healtt

. and exceptional product experience.

In 2022, models of Li Auto were awarded and widely recognized. Li ONE has
consistently demonstroted exceptionol performonce and hos obtained the first

2 in multiple 1.0, Power awards, Our new model Li L9 achieved extroordinary
ts in majar o th the highest ranking
in a number of fields including driving comfort, safety performance, healthy

rds and autharitativ

rtifications,

trovel, smart cabin, and comprehensive strength.

Li LS won mull awards and authorital

Li L9 wa
ir the 10

ded the "Car of the Year"

Xuanyuan
Il as Top 10 Auf 1aus Dr

Top 10 Self-driving Inte:

Li L9 won multiple G rating

AL

the highest rating) in the | China Insurance

otive Sol Irdex".

Li L9 won fiv
(E-AHI) rat

Automoblle Health Index

arganic e

intensity, particulote

matter, sensitizers, and electromagnetic radiation abin, ranking first with the
highest total scare in 2022,

Li L9 won the “Smart Cabin Mo
pionship (CICA) Ay s 2022

Li L9 ranked first, with the highest total score, of "6+2 NEV Testing” released by

§ OMNE ranked firstin J

WEr mojor aw

i ONE ronked first in 2022 J.D. Power Ching Tech Experience Index (TXI):
nnavation Index af Ching

mainstreom N

Li OME ronked first in 2022 ).0D. Power China Mew En
Study (NEV-105): Mainstream Plug-in

cle Initial Quality

rid Mar}

Li ONE rankes
Performan

ehicle Automative
ution and Layout {NEV-APEAL): Mainstream Plug-in Hy

Figure: Li LY being tested

Innovative Pioneer and Outst
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2.1.1 Construction of Quality Management System

Li Auto has formulated o quality manogement system covering R&D quality, supply
chain quality, monufacturing quality, ond after-sales quality by following the
requirements of IS0 9001 and IATF 16949, In 2022, in response to the Company's
demands for quality and safety strategy, we established o quality governance
structure with clear responsibilities ond drew up a plan to establish a working group
for safety system construction to continually strengthen quality and manogement
of safety-related offairs. Starting from the product positioning, we take the quality
management systerm covering the entire life cycle of the product as the institutional
guarantes to provide users with safe and excellent products and services.

Li Auta's quality monagemerit system

R&D quality

After-soles quality Li Auto’s quolity Supply chaln quolity

management system

Manufacturing quality

' OTA, over-the-air, refers to a technology designated to update vehicle systems and other
terminal functions and services for users ofter delivery.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of the quality system, we regularly
organize and carry out internal examinations and control procedures at all

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Case Study: The third-party examination of
certification

links of the product life cycle every year. In oddition, every year we actively

participate in and invite external professional third parties to carry out quality
management-related audits and certifications. In 2022, Li Auto initioted and
passed a number of external audits and certifications, including the routine
third-party examination of IATF 16949 quality system certification and the
annual audit of China Compulsery Certification (CCC) factory.

From Jonuary 20 to 23, 2022, the National Qu
out audit and certification on Li Auto, This cow
assurances, including the entire process of ba
and development, production control, produc!
Li Auto passad the oudit and attained certifice

Case Study: CCC annual factory audit
On July 19, 2022, the China Quality Certificati

the 2022 CCC annual factory audit on Li Auto
Base. Li ONE and Li L9 participoted in and sus

Li Auta's lifecycle quality management requirements

Development
and design

|

Parts
management

|

Product

We strictly ensure the orderly implementation of quelity eontrol procedures in aceordance with the Vehicle Development ¢
Product Design Alternation Control Procedures. In 2022, we revised the Product Design Alternation Manual and the Meast
Vehicle Product Specifications and fermulated the Management Process for Function Safety Development of Vefucie and
Filing Process ta achieve the overall improvement of the development and design quality.

‘We strictly stondardize the maonagement process of all procurement links in accordance with the Proglction Parts Procure
2022, we impraved the guality control pracess of New, Unigue, Different and Difficult (NUDD]) parts, carried out its quality
projects, as well as identified its patential risks in advanca.

We strictly control the delivery quality in accordance with the Product Production Control Procedures and the Equipment A
the collobaration betwean production management system and automated praduction equipment. In 2022, we revised the

|

After-sales
management

Confarmity inspection of Vehicle, further developed new working processes and respansibilities to ensure the scientific an
sampling inspections.

We implemant the Recall Management Procedures for defective products in a timely manner to pravent personal Injury an
by safety and guality defects.
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2.1.2 Life-cycle Quality Management

In strict complionoe with the Product Quality Low of the People’s Republic of
China, Li Auto insists on improving the quality control of the entire life cycle
from project initiation, development and design, production and manufacturing
to sales and ofter-sales. While aptimizing internal quality management, we:
continue to pay attention to the external real driving experience of users,

Project Initiation

We give priority to quality management at the stage of project initiation. In the
feasibility study of the project, we put forword the overall requirements for the
project quality, while occommodating current manufacturing copacity, In 2022,
we improved the guality control processes of NUDD parts, including quality

plonning for parts ot the project initiction stoge while ensuring the identification
of potential quality risks as early as possible. This promoted the rapid and stable
quality status ot the development stage, effectively controlling the spill-over of
quality defects and ensuring product quality and safety.

Product Development and Design

We fully incorporate user safety into the overall product design concept. Bosed
on the “Plan-Do-Check-Action” (PDCA) management model, we develop

and implernent quality stondards such os the Quality Manual, the procedure
documents including the Vahicle Development Control Procedures and the
Process Design and Development Control Procedures and other quality control

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

procedures to ensure that the product design mc
We partner with world-class suppliers ond moke
in electric technology, outonomous driving, smal
production, committed to providing users with sc
competitive products.
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Production and Manufacturing

In complionce with the processes of the Infrastructure Manogement Procedures
and the Progluct Progliction Control Procedures, we have succeeded in adopting a
comprehensive highly automated production systermn through full-line application
of state-aof-the-art world-leading testing equipment. We focus on building a
product verification system featuring software and hordware colloboration, which
fully combines external strategic cooperation test resources and internal mature
verification standard iteration copabilities. The hardwaore test covers materials,
parts, systems, and vehicles, and the software test covers autonomous driving,
Human Machine Interface (HMI), Electrical/Electronic (EE) vehicle and ather test
items to ensure that our products are fully verified,

In addition, we strictly conduct the function and rood test of the completed
vehicles. The total number of pre-delivery quality stondard checks are:

more than 2,700

In terms of outonomous driving testing, we carry out multiple tests including
the shadow test, large-scale road test, internal test, simulation test, and OTA
early bird function test. In 2022, the mileage of these tests reached millions
of kilometers, which effectively ensured the quality of delivered vehicles. We
concentrated on planning and building intelligent inspection tools that cover
the whole manufacturing process, including unmanned quality inspection
technologies such as unmanned vehicle movement, the Noise, Vibration,
Harshness (NVH) autornatic inspection, fast and slow charge autematic
inspection and chassis automatic inspection. The finished vehicle Conformity
of Preduction (COP) test is carried out every year in accordance with regulatory
requirerments and product characteristics. We entrust the National Center of
Supervision and Inspection on Motar Vehicle Products Quality (Shanghai) and
China Merchants Vehicle Ressarch Co., Ltd. to assist the COP test. The LiL9
vehicles were qualified for all COP test items in 2022

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Product Recall Management

We strictly abide by the Regulation on the Admir
Auto Prodlucts of the Peple's Republic of Ching,
Managerment Procedures, and established the re
“TOP-0Q" (quality) and "TOP-5" {safety) with ser
further clarify the recoll monagement process,

Upon receiving any feedback about product defe
making group meeting on major quality issues, af
analysis and demonstration on target products ac
Safety of Motor Vehicle Product - Guidelines for
ond report the incident to relevant government de
stop the production ond sale of defective vehicles
confirmed and develop and implement the recall
will also submit periodic and summary reports as
departments to promete product quality improverr
recall incidents imvolving Li Auto, including those c
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Li Auto's manufacturing quality management process

1. Stamping workshop

We use linear seven-axis robots for our stomping line, which is copable of mixed
production of steel and oluminurm parts under vorious scenarios. After starmping,
the world-leading blue-ray scanning system is used for blue-ray inspection.

2. Welding workshop

We ochieve 100% automation for spot welding. We also regulorly test the
strength of welding spot with ultrosonic ond breaking-in tools to ensure thot the
welding satisfies the design requirements.

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

3. Painting workshop

‘We odopt pointing robots ond set up on Audit ine
instruments are adoptad for inspections on paint
to relevant standards, including paint film thickm

4. Final assembly workshop

We use electric tools for thousands of tightening points on each model to

ensure perfect matching of torque values. Mochine inspection and analysis are
conducted on impartant torque values that need to be accurately measured. We
upload all tightening torque volues to our Manufacturing Execution System (MES),
which enables data tracing and volidation for 10 years.

5. Final assembly test

Besides the routine inspections such as lamp, sideslip, dynamic bolance,
exhaust, chassis, four-wheel positioning and rain test, we also carry out special
tests including high-voltage insulation test, fast/slow charging function and
ADAS function, to ensure the standardization of vehicle guality.

6. Road test

We set up road test tracks uniformly in the manu
will be 100% tested for all rood conditions before
test, we set up more than ten poor road condition
vehicles should also pass the vehicle dynamic w
wvehicle performance under all kinds of condition
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2.1.3 Quality Culture Fostering

‘We attach great importance to the quality culture of the Company, fully integrote
quality awareness education into the induction, pre-job and on-the-job training
of employees, and develop targeted quaolity education and training plans for
emplayees in different positions. In full combination with the actual operation
neads of front-line production, we set up theoreticaol training and practical
operation training with the theme of “Three Nos Principles” *, “quality defect
definition” and "quality awareness”, combined with corresponding assessments
to ensure that the quality management knowledge and skills of front-line
employees satisfy the Company's quality management needs, and provide basic
guorantee for our overall quality monagement work,

Three Nos Principles refer to no
substandard praducts and no distribution of substondard

N 2022, Li Auto recorded:

Employee enrollments in quality
and safety training

27,546

Supplier quality tralning sessions

347

The total number of training hours
reached for oll stoff

28,000

Supplier training coverage

100%

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Case Study: Li Auto’s first skills competitic
in2022

The first blue-collor skills competition of Li Au
22, 2022, with the principle of “promoting lea
competition”. At the event, 24 outstanding wa
sted rewards

base got prizes and harve

the quality skill assessment. Thanks to this co
all employees’ awareness on product quality ¢
employees improve their professional guality «
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2.1.4 User Safety Assurance

Li Auto continuously optimizes and iterates the technology for vehicle sofety
assurance and improves the health coefficient for vehicle material, aiming to
bring safer and healthier products to users.

Safe Driving

In the product design and development stage, Li Auto implements the sofety
concept and ensures vehicle sofety from four aspects including system sofety,
battery safety, charging safety and user safety,

Case Study: Li L9's optimization on protection structure

High-strength steel accounts for 75% of that applied in the lotest Li L, of
which the proportion of hot-formed steel reaches 28.9%. The key structural
parts of the passenger compartment are made of high-strength hot-formed
steel materials to form a cage-type protective structure, which is combined
with the eight airbags covering the whole vehicle. The side survival spoce

after the impact is up to 25 cm, which is much higher than the excellent
standard of 12.5 cm, ensuring safety protection for the passengers in case
of collision accidents

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Case Study: Li L9 Safe Driving Academy

To help us

better understand the boundary
we launched the Li L9 Safe Driving Acadermny

user participants. Through three experience a
ADAS and Mountain Off-road, users can deeg
boundary under urbon and special road condi
were provided to explain how to sofely and ea

dangerous situations while driving the Li L9.

For a safer and happier fomily travel, we tried
driving safety owareness in the experience prc
concept and calibration criteria underpinning
developed technologies of Li Auto protect bot

We have developed the Li AD Max and Li AD Pro autonomous driving systems equipped with powerful perception copabilities and self-developed full-stack autonomous driving perception algerithms, with high-

Systemn sofety

fully optimized. In addition, we pioneered the industry’s first Automatic Emergency Braking (AEB) function with LIDAR opplicotions on Li AD Max to enhance driving sofety.

Qur battery system development conforms to a sofety standard far stricter then the natienal standard G8 38031-2020 Electric Vehicles Traction Batteries Safety Requirements, Under the savera working canditi

Bottery safety

Charging safety

User safety

during the whole process of thermal runaway tests. As of the end of the reporting period, no accidents related to charging safety had eccurred invalving Li Aute,

, the safety ion video will be a

We carry out product charging safety verification with technical requirements that are far more stringent than Industry stondards. We have added o large number of active control safety strategles in charging fu
safety. As of the end of the reporting period, no incidents related to charging safety had sccurred invelving Li Aute.

We distribute the pre-use instructions of the outonomeous driving system to users to publicize its safe driving operation specifications. Mareover, in order to help owners to establish safety awareness, we hove at

functicn to the driving ossistonce system. When the system is first ployed through the pop-up window,
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Healthy Product

Li Auto is committed to providing users with healthy products. We prefer to

use healthy and environmental-friendly materials to eliminate the impacts of
harmful substances in materials on users from the source. We highlight the
control over Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) and Vehicle Odor Intensity (VOI)
during vehicle design and production. Our designated in-cor air quality teamis
dedicated to bringing o healthy and quality in-car experience to every user.

To ensure the in-car air quality, we track and evolugte the VOI and the in-car
concentration of VOC during the vehicle quality test. Our manufacturing bases
have set up vehicle odor test cabins with a variety of efficient and occurate
equipment to achieve VOC inspection of oll vehicles and ensure each vehicle
delivered to be compliont with national VOC emission standards. In addition to
the regular odor control, we also conduct the odor contrel when the vehicle is

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

exposed to the blazing sun for quite a long time, to ensure that users can have a
friendly driving experience with nice smell under any harsh conditions.

Case Study: Li L9 wins four five-star certific

2 7 ed the full fiv

In terms of vehicle electromagnetic radiation, we adopt strict enterprise standards
to contred the Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC) perfarmance of parts and
components, conduct EMC verification and virtual simulation verification of
vehicle electrical system in the process of vehicle research and development,
and conduct testing and verification for vehicle and parts by our industry-leading
self-built EMC laboratories, so as to ensure that the electromagnetic radiation

ate matt

impact of our vehicle moedels is for lower than the national standards.
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2.2 Innovation and Development

Innovation is a source of strength to drive sustainable development at Li Auto,
Through constant innovative research and development in electric systems,
autonomous driving and smart cobin, we provide users with competitive
products and services satisfying their needs and are committed to improving
their life gquality with technology.

2.2.1 Expanding Innovation Layout

Our research teams in Beijing and Shanghai are dedicated to developing
various smart electric vehicle technologies, such as range-extended electric
vehicle, high-voltoge all-electric platform, eutonemous driving, ond smart
cabin. In addition, we set up o production engineering and technology center

in Changzhou, Jiangsu Province, to facilitate the commerciolization of R&D
achievernents. In 2022 the Li Auto post-doctoral research station welcomed the
first batch of seven doctors, who were jointly cultivated by Tsinghua University
and Li Auto. Moreaver, joining hands with Tsinghua University, we have
estoblished the Zhongguancun Laboratory of Li Auto to provide cooperation
opportunities in R&D and practice for both sides in multimodal machine learning,
boosting technologicol progress and industrial developrment.

Li Auto attaches great importance to the development of physical test capakbility,
and has invested in the construction of the vehicle semi-anechoic loboraotory

and EMC loboratory for NVH performance improvement and electromagnetic
radiation verification. In the future, we will invest in the construction of the Vehicle
in the Loop (VIL) laboratory with focus on strengthening autonomeus driving
ability, thus loying a solid foundation for in-house product research. We have
heavily invested in virtual testing and perfermance development octivities such
as structural durability simulation, collision simulation, and NVH simulation. We

! Confidence is the degres of conformity between the results of simulation and physical
werificotion. High confidence means high consistency, that is, the results of simulation
onalysis can be trusted in the verification crganization, thus improving the verification
efficiency and reducing the verification cost

aim to enhance development efficiency by continuously optimizing algorithms
through iterations. In 2022, our bending and tarsion stiffness simulation
confidence' reached 96%, achieving an outstanding breakthrough in virtual
simulation test copability.

As of December 31, 2022, for Li Auto

The number of loborataries in
operation had reached

41 4,838

The number of employess
engoged in R&D work had been

The annual omaunt invested in
innovation and RED hod reached

RMB&.78 billicn

Electrification Technology

In 2022, we continued to improve the research layout of electrification
technology. We took torgeted approoches in the design and analysis of
vibration, noise, maintenance by mileage, plotform-based adaptability,
thermal efficiency, emissions, performance, weight, and other attributes
that users are most concerned about. The system efficiency of the electrical
power train has been significantly improved. We also made remarkable
progress in the R&D of High-Power Charging (HPC) technelogies, achieving
desian optimization ond performance verification of 4C cell’ in energy
density, tast charging ability, and sofety,

* 4C cell can reoch 60% stete of charge in 10 minutes.
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In addition, our three development projects in
Power Drive (SPD) high-voltage three-in-one
Carbide ({SiC) power module project and HPC
production and sampling tests, with intended

Case Study: HPC R&D project

In 2022, we independently d loped the HR
energy supplement requir nts of 4C, and
NEVs, and passed the certif on of the nat

We are an pioneer in such industry segment
iquid-cooled charg
The
greatly improved our users' charging experie

gun cable, regular air

ight of the charging gun outperfarme:
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Autonomous Driving

Li Auto boasts the lorgest populotion of NOA users in China, By the end of
2022, we had deliverad nearly 190,000 vehicles with navigation on ADAS
(NOA). From Li ONE to Li L9 and Li L8, our NOA mileage has exceeded 65
million kilometers, and the total assisted driving mileage has exceeded 400
million kilometers,

For ADAS, our self-developed full-stack autonomous driving systems
include autonomous driving controller, underlying software, perception
algorithm, regulation algorithm and application software. We provide users
with industry-leading driver-assistance systems including NOA, ADAS,
AEB, and Auto Parking Assist [APA). To satisfy diverse needs of users

for autonomous driving, our Li L8 and Li L7 models are equipped with Li
AD Pro and Li AD Max. To be specific, Li AD Max is the world's first NOA

autonomous driving product powered by NVIDIA Orin for mass production
and delivery, and Li AD Pro is the world's first NOA product using Herizon J5
chip for mass production and delivery.

For olgerithm and performance, the delivery of Li L9 has earned us the

first enterprise in the industry to apply mass production lidar algorithm to
active safety and ADAS. The safety performance of our autonomous driving
products during the nighttime leads the industry. Li Auto is also a trailblazer
in response to nighttime accident scenarios such as overturned vehicle
rescues and backlight driving without streetlights. Our Li L? model with Li

AD Max satisfied the C-1ASI G rating (the highest rating) safety requirements.

The performance of 2022 Li L9 Max OTA 4.2 ranks first in the nighttime AEB
evoluation of Yoojic. In addition, the fusion Bird's Eye View (BEY) clgorithm

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

jointly proposed by Li Auto, Tsinghua Univers
the first place in many academic achievemen
far-reaching influence on the research ond de
driving in the industry.
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Smart Cabin

A brand-new smart cabin was lounched with the release of Li LS. The oudio
ond video experience and three-dimensional interaction create o unique
experience for every family member.

In terms of audio-visual experience, Li L9 adopts the flagship hardware
configuration and is powered by 8155 chips, feotures a five-screen display
system serving every fomily member, os well os o 21-speaker system with
Dolby panoramic sound layout, creating an unparalleled cabin audio-visual
experience. In terms of software, we worked with developers to create a
number of pepular applications based en the environmental characteristics
of the cabin. Behind the in-depth exploration of user needs ond hordware
potential, we hove launched high-level products with multi-screen
interaction, multi-angle viewing, sound system with Dolby Atmos and

other features.

In terms of connection with other intelligent and entertainment terminals, Li
L9 has realized the screen projection from the mainstream terminals to the
vehicle while displaying the content of the cabin on the giont screen through
our AR equipment. We also innovated a one-line direct connection with
Switch, creating a convenient and pleasant gaming experience for our users,

In terms of three-dimensional interactions, we have deployed the multi-zone
fusion network MIMO-NET which can significantly enhance the occuracy

of sound source localization and reduce noise, so that Li Xiang Tong Xue,
the virtual voice assistant, can hear every passenger's voice in the cabin
clearly. Through our in-house multi-voice recognition algorithm MSE-NET,
the activation rate and recognition rate of the Li Xiong Tong Xue in the
vehicle have increased to 98%. The accuracy rote remains at over 90% in

three demanding scenarios, namely high noise, low voices and children's

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

voices. In terms of multimodal perception, we
network MVYS-NET to complete the spatial mc
sensors to empower Li L9 smart cabin with 30
In this way, users can interact with the screen
without touching the physical screen.
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2.2.2 Partnering with the Industry

Li Auto actively promotes industry-university-research cooperation and
technical exchanges with scientific research institutions ond industry
associations, ond widely participates in research projects, academic
conference discussions ond industry standard formulotion, so os to achieve
mutual promotion and common development of professions and industries.

In 2022, Li Auto actively cooperated with industry standardization institutions,
such as National Technical Committee of Auto Standardization, China
Communications Standards Associotion, and widely participated in the system
construction of automobile industry stondards and intelligent connected
vehicle standards. By the end of 2022, Li Auto had participated in nearly 50
standard research projects and more than 30 special working groups.

Case Study: Li Auto participates in the preparation of the ICV - Technical
Requirements and Test Metheds for Combined Driving Assistance System
= Part 2: Multi-Lane Driving Control

In 2020, at the invitation of Sub-committee of Intelligent Connected Vehicles
(ICW), Li Auto joined the project group of ICV stondards as a porticipating
unit for research, discussion and preparation. During the preparation, we
provided the Li L9 sample vehicle for the feasibility and parameter validation
test of the national standard and completed opinion solicitation and the
preparation of the draft for approval. The standard was submitted for
appreval in December 2022 and has been submitted to the Standardization
Administration of the People’s Republic of China for approval.

In addition, we also actively cooperated with universities and scientific
research institutes to carry out industry-university-research cooperation,
fully combined the technology ond talent odvantages of universities with the
industry and product experience of Li Aute, and jeintly developed cutting-
edge technologies that meet the needs of the market and users.

Case Study: Li Auto's industry-university-research cooperation in key
technologies with Tsinghua University and MIT

In 2022, to give full ploy to the advantages of university-enterprise
resources, Li Auto, Tsinghua University and MIT established partnerships
in key technology research. Li Auto, together with Tsinghua University
and MIT, has jointly developed new paradigm in the industry and the first
public BEV visual inspection method: pure visual 3D inspection algorithm
DETR3D; the industry’s first public real-time high-precision mop-owore
algorithm: HDOMaopNet; the interactive DenseTNT algorithm which ronked
first in the multiple cbstacles behavior prediction of IEEE International
Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV) in the world.

Case Study: Li Aute joins hands with Tsinghua University for talent cultivation

In 2022, the Zhongguancun Laboratory of Li Auto was established to
explore the joint training mechanism of first-class talents with Tsinghua
University, building a new college-enterprise cooperation platform. The
Loboratory aims to cultivate high-level innovative talent in the field of
engineering construction and provide practice, internship opportunities
and conditions for teachers and students in the multimodal machine
learning laberatory of the Cross Informotion Research Institute.

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Case Study: Li Auto's R&D cooperation proj

In 2022, Li Auto cooperated with the School of
University to develop high-performance motol
with Tsinghua University, Zhejiang University, 1
develop advanced battery technologies, batte

simulation technologies.

In 2022, Li Auto and its innovation partners joit
15 patents for edvanced battery technologies.
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2.2.3 Protecting Intellectual Property

In strict occordance with the Patent Law of the Peaple’s Republic of China and
the Copyright Law of the Peaple's Republic of China, Li Auto attaches great
importance to independent innovation and intellectual property rights protection.
We have formulated special intellectuol property protection policies such as the
Patent Application Administration Measures and the Patent Guidelines, revised
the Patent Application Management Measures, issued the Li Auto inc. Detailed
Rules for the implementation of the Patent Application Administration Measures
and the intellectuol Property incentives Managerment Measures in 2022, further
standardizing the patent opplication process, improving the Company’s reward
methed for inventors' patent opplication and creators” copyright, and constantly
improving the intellectual property rights protection system.

In accordance with the relevant lows and regulations of the Trademark Law

of the People's Republic of Ching, we have formulated internal systems such

as the Trademark Management Systern, the Standard Process of Trademark
Registrotion Application and the Standaraized Process System for Trodemark
Protection, constantly improving the troderark registrotion manogement system,
strengthening the distribution of domestic and foreign trademarks, actively,
comprehensively and severely cracking down on trademark preemption and
trademark infringement, and effectively safeguarding the rights and interests of
Li Auto brands and trademarks,

During the reporting period, Li Auto intellectual property monagement system
was certified to GB/T 29490-2013.

In addition, we organize intellectual property rights-related troining for product
developers and fresh graduates to improve employees’ awareness of intellectual
property right protection and motivation for technological innovation. In 2022,

we conducted training on the general theory of intellectual property, the risk of
intellectual property terms, the basic knowledge of trademark copyright, and
patent knowledge for the departments of the electric vehicle, R&D and operation,
smart cabin, and autonomous driving to circulate the concept of intellectual

property right to business relevant business deportments and improve owareness
of intellectual property right risks. In 2022, Li Auto held 28 intellectual property
pratection training sessions, totaling 30 hours.

Caose Study: Celebrating the World Intellectual Property Day

In 2022, w cted ond commended the patent exemplary employee:
and departments in 2021 according to the it
Adirrini: Measures, sent an online announcerment to all employees of

the Company on April 26, the World Intellectuol Property Day, ond put up
posters in the office buildings of Beijing R&D heodquarters

Li Auto's IPR gt domestic and international level

Intellectucl Property Rights Data
Cumulative number of patent licenses in China 2,028
Cumulative number of international patent licenses 33
Cumulative number of trademarks aequired n China 575
Cumulative number of international trademarks acquired B0
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By the end of 2022, Li Auto haod obtained 2,0t
registered and approved trademarks and 54 ¢
invention patent of "control method ond devic
awarded the title of “Excellence Patent” of the

Certificote of "Excellence Patent” of the Z3rd Chino Pate
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2.3 Supply Chain Management

A comprehensive supply chain management system is the cornerstone for
Li Auto's sustainability. We establish an efficient two-way communication
chonnel to continuously monitor suppliers’ ESG performance ond build o

sustainable supply chain featuring ope

nness, honesty and cooperation.

2.3.1 Supplier Management System

Li Auto strictly complies with the Biddling

g Law of the People’s Republic
of Ching and has formulated internal management systems such s

the Supplier Management Manual, the General Procurement Rules, the

Performance Management Regulations for Parts Supplier, and the Quality
Rejection (QR) Management Measures for Purchased Ports, set up strict

ma

agement processes covering supplier sourcing, occess and elimination,
exgminotion and evoluation, performance evoluation, communication and
exchange, to ensure closed-loop management of the supply chain.

Li Auto supervises and makes decisions centering on category strotegy,

supplier management strategy, supplier nomination process and other

related issues. In 2022, we formulated dual sourcing solutions to enhance

y chain,

resilience and ensure safety and stability of the sup
As of December 31, 2022, Li Auto had had 363 Tier 1 suppliers’

Distribution of Li Auto’s Tier 1 suppliers

Region Data
China 360
Owversens regions 3

! Tier 1 suppliers refer to direct suppliers providing parts, companents, and auxiliary

materials f

vehicle production, cove

tools, representing the largest pro

2.3.2 Supplier Access and Evaluation

To improve supplier management efficiency, we classify and grade suppliers
according to their characteristics into strategic suppliers, important

suppliers and general suppliers.

At the stoge of supplier identification and access, we organize on-site visits
to potential suppliers in terms of product quality, compliance, environment,
etc. Our cooperative suppliers are required to obtain the IATF 16949

certification or equivalent third-party certifications. In 2022, 100% of our

Tier 1 suppliers were certified to IATF 16949,
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For the admitted suppliers, we organize suppl
and evaluation quarterly, on which we investic
performance and divide them into four grade:
card and red card through the performance e
supply and after-sales. For suppliers receivim
urge them to rectify and conduct dynamic trai
completed. With rectifications completed, we

receive evaluation again to obtain the grade ¢
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2.3.3 Supplier ESG Management

Li Auto corries out risk identificotions and ossessments on supplier
candidates in such aspects as product quality, production safety, business
ethics, environmental impact, and labor, in accordance with the L Auto inc.
Generol Rules for the Procurement of Parts and Row Materials.

‘We set higher stondards on the business ethics performance of suppliers
and sign integrity agreements and relevant clauses with all suppliers to
regulate their behaviors. We urge suppliers to establish an internal anti-
corruption complionce management system, strictly managing the behavior
of their employees and prohibiting all acts of corruption, unfair competition,
fraud ond bribery or other corruption-related crimes. We encouroge
suppliers and relevant third parties to report and make complaints abaut

procurement malpractices through Li Auto’s compliance reporting channels.

We give priority to suppliers certified to IS0 14001. We clearly reguire all
suppliers to comply with national and local environmental protection laws
and encourage suppliers to odopt energy-saving and emission-reducing
production methods to produce products that satisfy recyclable standards.
In addition, we promise to procure green environmental protection materials
with less pollution and emissions that are recyclable. As of December 31,
2022, 89% of Li Auto's direct suppliers obtained 150 14001 certification.

Case Study: Li Auto's procurement of environmental-friendly tires

To minimize the impacts of corporate operations on the envirenment, Li
Auto established o partnership with Michelin to purchase its new low-

carbon tires. According to the calculation of carbon emissions, compared

with traditional tires, the new lightweight low-carbon tires con reduce COz
emissions by 67% in the production stage and 3% in the use stage. By the
end of the reporting peried, we applied the new low-carben tires across our

product lines.

Li Auto supply chain ESG access audit score

ESG aspect

Cuality

Safety

Business ethics

Emvironment

Labor

Requirement

» Establish effective quality management systems
+ Obtain IATF 16949 or aquivalent third-party certifications

= Comply with national laws and regulations on building safety and fire safety
+ Set up work safety organizations, such as o Safe Preduction Committes

+ Sign inteqrity egreements and relevant clouses
+ Estoblish internal anti-corruption complionce manogement systems

+ Abide by national and regional environmental laws and regulations
- Assess the erviranmental impoct of production and products

- Comply with national lobar lows
« Stay in complionce with employment lows and prevent child labor or forced lobor
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We conducted supplier ESG oudit in the form
communicated and provided rectification assi
and supplier feedback. In 2022, we designate
strategic suppliers, through which we sorted ¢
conducted preliminary communication on key
footprint, product quality and safety, supplier
chain risk assessment, and defined the suppli
Based on the ESG audit results of suppliers, w
rectification requirements for the weak links ir
of suppliers, supervised the implementation ¢
constantly monitored rectification perfarmanc

= Inspect product quality and issue releva
* Set quality goals and take improvement

- Meet the requirements regarding the prc
of flammable and explesive dangerous ¢
« Meet information security requiremants

+ Prahioit all ilegal octs of corruption, unf
other crimes omong employees

« Use recycloble, areen materials wheney

« Recycle vehicles and aute ports wheney

- Obtain environmental manogement syst
S0 14001
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2.3.4 Conflict Minerals Management

Li Auto's risk rasponse model of supply chains

We are dedicoted to improving the traceability of row materials in the supply

chain and upholding respensible procurement principles. We encourage Supplier admittance Product development Suppliers’ manufacturing Manufacturing ot Li Auto
strategic suppliers ond important suppliers to conduct due diligence on
conflict minerals to ensure that the raw materials and components supplies Quality risks [-] o -] ]
do not invalve conflict minerals,
Capacity risks -] -] e [}

2.3.5 Supply Chain Risk Response Delieryriss  © o ° °

We have corried out comprehensive risk analysis on the potential risks of ESG risks -] o -] ]
the supply chain, ond built early warning mechanism and complete risk
prevention and control system for supply chain quality, capacity, delivery

Respo + On-site oudits « Quality ossessments - Controlling key processes = Quality improvements
and ESG risks. In 2022, we developed a supplier pandemic risk warning esponse - Capability assessments - Key supplier monagement and quality control points

measures
module based on pondemic risks, sent the list of risk incidents through +ESG performance assassments

the supply chain risk warning system, and required relevant responsible
personnel to respond within 24 hours, We issued daily early warning through
the system to regularly check the updated information of new risk incidents,
urging relevant parties to respond to risks.

Factoring into supply chain stability risks caused by COVID-19, geopolitical
impacts and climate change, Li Auto eyes building local supply chains

that are green and stable. By screening local suppliers, we have effectively
shortened the procurement cycle, improved the logistics efficiency and
reduced the supply chain risks and negative environmental impacts caused
by long-distance transpertation, achieving timely product delivery.
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2.3.6 Empowering Suppliers

Li Auto attoches great importance to the cultivation and improvement of
suppliers’ capabilities, and works vigorously with all porties in the supply
chain to jointly address issues relating to product safety and guality
assurance, thereby jointly building a stable, efficient and quality industrial
supply chain.

In 2022, we held the Global Partners Conference and the Partners
Conference of the Li Auto Range Extender Manufacturing Base to improve
suppliers’ capabilities through diversified interactions.

+ 2022 Li Auto Global Partners Conference

Li Auto Globol Portners Conference 2022

Sa e g % 3% g g'w o o™
-

TR RS B, ERNEETXANE "R
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In order to help small and medium-sized supp
their production capabilities and product quali
technological gop, we arrange our internal tec
deeply engage in product development and pr
small suppliers such as Anhui NEV power, and
guide them in the factory, thus helping them a

At the some time, we have effectively address:

of various suppliers, maintained the stability o
systermatic risks across supply chains by odop
sourcing solutions.

LI I o o T T

-
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2.4 User Service

To deliver our brand promise, we constantly improve our services with a
variety of events to offer our users responsible, relioble and comfortable
service experience.

2.4.1 Responsible Marketing

Li Auto's well-developed direct selling and servicing network functions as a
secure cornerstone to transparent, standardized and high-quality services
for our users. To create standardized professional services for all stores
across the country, we formulated and updated 26 management standards
for servicing center operations in 2022 and issued 203 operation inspection
standards for serving centers. We conduct internal checks and third-party

spot checks for all stores nationwide on a monthly basis to guide and help
stores to develop standardized operations and service modes. We require
the soles manogement teams both ot headguarters and in different regions
to formulate store visit plans on a quarterly basis and carry out irregular
unannounced inspections to ensure the transparency ond outhenticity

of the overall soles process. We also adopt sampling surveys to verify

the authenticity of key sales data and the professional performance in
services, thus ensuring excellent user experience in the sales process,

Throughout the sales process, we enforce responsible marketing practices
to guarantee the credibility and dependability of communication data and
user experiences. We aim to prevent excessive marketing that can result
from deceptive publicity by strictly adhering to responsible marketing

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

practices. We accomplish this by sharing Li A
consumption, sofety, and other relevant infore
public only after they have been certified by t

To provide users with the best sales service &
an internal system to monitor the improper be
the end of 2022, we lounched the early warni
to identify abnormal business data suspected
Business Management System for Retail Stor
and supplement the “Yellow, Red and Black L
requiring all employees of the retail stores to:
strictly investigate and publish such miscond.
records, unauthentic test drive records and or
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2.4.2 After-sales Support

The ofter-sales service experience is an indispensable foctor in enhancing user
satisfaction and loyalty. With the goal of “serving our users in a time-saving,
considerate and convenient manner”, we devote ourselves to improving after-
sales service capabilities with the pravision of diversified options for users.

After-sales Service System

With a data-driven mindset, Li Auto has built a standardized, systematic and
intelligent after-sales service system covering all online ond offline service
scenarios to facilitate o balanced coordination between online and offline teams
to meet services needs of users. Our “service expert” mode dedicated to g
carefree, convenient and exclusive user experience hos been developad where

a service expert senves os bridge to keep in touch with users through various
communication channels such as telephone, the Li Auto App and WeCom
Enterprise occounts. In line with the trend of electrification ond intelligence of our
future automobile products, we actively explore the business model of remote
vehicle diagnesis to improve user experience. To realize our business positioning
of "serving our users in a time-saving, considerate and convenient manner”,

we lounched mobile service pilots in 2022, providing door-to-door services for
users' bosic maintenance needs with less time but better user satisfaction.

Case Study: Li Auto mobile service pilots

Since the kick-off in March 2022, Li Auto mobile service pilots

launched in 12 zhou, Hangzh

renient ond considerat: site

Zhengzhou,and

ofter-soles services for car ow services for routine

mainten ssible to service
experts through varicus chai through the
Li Auto mber 2022,
more than chieving user

satisfaction

After-sales Quality Assurance

To improve services, Li Auto has established o unified headquarter
coordination and management mechanism for quality assurance. We
provide remote or on-site technical assistance for maintenance servicing
centers, as well as regulor supervision ond guidonce on their operations
to deliver a satisfoctory and consistent after-sales services. The after-
sales technical support team has established o rapid response mechanism
for praduct problems with 100% online and offline coverage, passive fault
handling and active foult warning. The overall technical capacity of front-
line teams is secured and further enhanced through the close cooperation
amang online, regional and central technical support teams.

We are fully aware that the service awareness and professional skills of after-
sales personnel are key to ofter-sales service quality, We effectively sofeguard
the consistency of after-sales service by combining online learning with offline
teaching, with supplement of in-stere training. As of the end of the reporting
period, our training system had covered 100% of the after-sales service front-
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line employees. In 2022, Li Auto carried out 10¢
service training ond 915 online courses, totaling
hours. The pre-job training rate for new employ

Maintenance Insurance Guarantee

We continue to optimize the functional desigr
related services according to user needs, and
insurance application or renewal services rely
technology, excellent professional insurance t
channels. In 2022, to provide time-saving, col
services, we provided online procedures to fa
ond renewal with a detailed operational guidc
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2.4.3 User Experience

Based on the brand relationship of "building a community where everyone
respects each other to stimulate creativity”, Li Auto participates in the
construction of the user community, listens to the voices of our users for a
shared growth ond satisfying user experience.

User Communication

We tirelessly explore users' needs and prepare various complaint channels,
including 7/24 self-service and manual services via telephone, Apps,
WeCom Enterprise accounts. Through the whole process of collection,

sorting, identification, feedback and solution, we continue to optimize

the experience related to products and services, and establish a brand
reputation monagement mechanism. According to the different types and
severity of the incident, we take a multi-layered approach to guide front-
line employees to process and follow the incident in an efficient and orderly
manner. We will process and follow the work order as soon os possible ofter
receiving the complaints, and follow up the user complaints to be resolved

every day systematically in conjunction with the headquarters, regions ond
stores. We make “resolving a complaint case within 72 hours” as a core
indicator and constantly update the handling procedures and standards of
user complaints.

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

In 2022, Li Auto received 2,676 user complair
handled and resolved in a timely manner.
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User Satisfaction Management

Guiding by the value of "exceeding users’ needs with excellent products and
services”, we pay close attention to user satisfaction during and after sales
to answer dynamic changes of users’ needs with quality services. In 2022, Li
Auto's user satisfaction rate reached 99.83%.

Test drive is one of the most important service links, We invite users to rate
the professional knowledge and service of the product experts after the test
drive to learn their feedback and respond to their guestions and concerns
over the product in a timely manner. In 2022, we achieved 99.85% of test drive

sotisfoction rate as a result of our efforts in the strict service monogerment
and tracking. It shows strong evidence that we have provided expected test
drive experiences.

Li Auto highly prioritizes user satisfaction after delivery. We adopt the Net
Promoter Score (NPS) research mechanism to distribute questionnoires for
users on important days throughout the timeline after delivery to further
understand their needs and continuously improve product and service
experience. According to the Insight Report on the Net Recommendation

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Rate of Users in China's Passenger Car Marke
Research Institute in September 2022, Li Autc
recommendation rate of China's mainstream |
score of 67.52%.
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User Community Building

As o brand focusing on product quality ond user feedback, Li Auto is committed
to effective communication with users. We vigorously build user communities
defined by mutual respect, develop rich, interesting and practical content and
function, thus constantly providing diverse value for users.

In 2022, we achieved effective communication and shared growth with our
users by holding various activities such os the Driver Assistance Safety Month,
Messoge from Product Managers, and Co-creation of Li Auto Community with
Car Owners.

Case Study: Li Auto community - better service for family travel

We hove created the "Li Auto Community” mod ere the vehicle can

connect with App in the form of popular photo spot
records, enabling family users to choose holiday travel destinations under

s through vehicle travel

travel scenarios to improve trovel experience.

In 2022, through the Co-creation with Car Owners, we launched a speciol
activity under the theme of “A better family travel with Li Auto community”,
During the event, we engoged car owners in group discussions on relevant
topics to understand real pain points and needs of users in the family
travel scenarios,

Cose Study: Knowledge sharing of safe driving in the Li Auto user community

In July 2022, according to the onalysis of the accidents, Li Auto
summarized six dangerous behaviors that users are most likely ta ignore
during the long-term use of driving assistance and the six situations with
high occurrence rate of accidents, in the forms of images and texts, videos
for publicity in stoges.

Report on Driver Assistance Safety Month of Li Auto

Li Auto’s first Driver Assistance Safety Month campaign hos been well
received by users, with high participation enthusiasm:

32,339

Users completed the backtest and received badges

104,770

Views of "My Experience of Using Assisted Driving"

0,
95%
More than 95% of car owners said they were aware of the risky
scenarios and risky behaviors of assisted driving.

Innovative Pioneer and Outst

Caose Study: Messoges from product manag

After the delivery of Li L9 and Li L8, we enga
communication with our users to collect their
experience. To this end, the product manage
articles in the community such as Li L9 Prodt
Plan and Answers to Populor Questions abou
users’ concemns through in-depth communic
providing users with a fresh cor service exper
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Inclusive Care and

Inclusive Care and SF

Attracting Talent Cultiva

Ensuring Safety and Health

Li Auto pursues the talent concept of “creatin
respect, trust, growth, achievements and rew:
We fully protect our employees’ rights and int
personal growth ond development with a dive
environment. We also devote ourselves to attr
achieving shared growth with employees.




Li Auto Inc. 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report

3.1 Attracting Talent

Li Auto provides employees with an equal and diverse working environment,
competitive salary packages and welfare benefits as well as o promising
career development platform. We make ongeing efforts to attroct global
talent from different backgrounds to build a diversified talent pool.

3.1.1 Equity and Diversity

Li Auto upholds legal recruitment proctices in strict accordance with the
Labor Law of the Pegple’s Republic of China and other relevant laws and
regulations. We have established o talent recruitment management standard
reflected in the Recruitment Manogement Policies and Li Auto Inc. Privacy
Policy for Job Application. In 2022, to further optimize the stondardized and
refined management of recruitment and emplayment processes, we launched

Inclusive Care and

the digital talent recruitment management sys
hires, we make utmost efforts to screen their IC
labor or forced labor and reguire themn to sign-
Commitment and Emplopment Conditions. Dur
child or forced labor incidents occurred at Li A
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Li Auta’s employee compasition

Inclusive Care and

Indicators

Totol numiber af
employees

MNumber of employees
by employment type

MNumber of emplayess
by gender

Mumber of emplayeas
by rank ond gender

Murmiber of emplayees by
function and gender

Categories

Full-time
Part-time
Outsourced
Male
Fermaole

Progortion of male employees
in senior menagement

Proportion of female employees
in senior manogement

Propartion of male employees in
middle management

Proportion of female employees
in middle managemeant

Propartion of male employees in
juniar management

Proportion of female employees
in junior manogement

Proportion of femalea employees
in senior manogement positions
and revenue-generating functions

Fropartion of femole employees
in STEM -related positions

Unit

person

person

parson

person

person

parsan

%

Data in 2022

19,396

19,396

0

15,860

3,836

94.74

526

8662

1338

90.62

9.38

5.26

1542

' STEM iz an acronym for the fields of science, technalogy, engineering and math. STEM
workers refer to those who opply science, technalogy, engineering or mothematical
krnowledge in thelr daily wark.

Data in 2022
[ LR
w9104
605
19,075
humiber of 6o
ermplopeesty =
sank =142
mig
6,561
Humber of 5791
employess by
educational
Dackground 4,041
3003
CEACL)
m4838
Mumizar of
employess
by profession
cotegory 4,318
1,041

Categories

W 29 ond below
W 30w 39
W 40 and above

M Senior management?
W Middle monogement
B Junior management

Generol employees

W Maoster and above
W Undergraduate
M Junior college

Senior high school
and below

W R&D
W Soles and marketing

M Generol and
administrotive services

Production

* The definition and the caliber of “senior management" in this report differ from that in

the financial reparts, which cnly apply ta this report.

Indicators.

Number of employess
by job type

Murnber of special

Categaries

Blue-collar employees
White-collar emplayess
Store employees
Employees with disabiliti

Ethnic minarities

employees
‘Overses employess
Li Aute's employee turnover
Total number of |
amplayee rnovar
Employes turnover rate [
Male
Employee turnover rate
by gender
Female

Employee turnover rate
by job type

Employes turnover
rate by oge

Blue-collar employees

White-collor employees

Store employsss

29 ond below

3010 39

A0 and obove
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To create a fair and inclusive working environment, we hove formulated and
updated the internal policies such as the Li Aufo inc. Employee Handbook,
the Li Auto Inc. Anti-Discrimination Managerment Provision, and the Li Auto
Ine. Anti-Sexual Horassment Management Provision, strictly prohibiting
discrimination, harassment or malproctices based on race, color, religion,
nationality, descent, sex, age, marital status, mental or physical disability,
sexuol orientation, or any other charocteristics protected by law.

We strive to build a diversified and international cultural atmosphere for
employees. We respect different cultural customs in different regions and
provide care for minority employees.

Cwerview of Li Auto's care for ethnic minarities

Region Group Care action
All offices
equipped All employees Ethnic meals in the conteen

with conteens

All employees from Ningxia

Ningxia Hui Autonermaus Reglen “Eid al-Fitr* and “Eid Al-Adha” holidays

All employees from Guongxi

Guangyi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Lunar March 3rd holiday

Employees of oll ethnic
Xirjiang graups fram Xinjiang Uygur "Ruzi" and "Eid Al-Adha" holidays
Autonomaous Region

All employees from Tibat
Autonomous Region

"Tibetan Mew Year" and "She Dun

LS Festival” halidays

Li Auto's diversified workforce compasition:

Cur employees ore from: 1,015 of aur employess are from:

15 countries and regions 37 ethnic minorities

including China, South Koreg, the United
Kingdom, Germany, Australio

including Mongalian, Hui, Sibe, Bai

We attach great importance to the construction of diversified talent echelons
and continue to expand the recruitment channels. In 2022, we started the on-
campus recruitment channel for new graduates for the first time, attracting
mare than 2,000 fresh graduates with different professicnal bockgrounds.

Li Auta's new hires compasition

Indicator Category Unit Datoin 2022

Tatal number of new hires from social

137
recruitment person 3,736

Tatal number
of new hires

Total number of overseas new hires person ]

Inclusive Care and

Case Study: Li Auto's Open Day for online

In June 2022, an online Open Day was held
office areas, intelligent production lines, an
stores. We also invite employees to share th
and experience as senior schoolmates to he
dimensional understonding of Li Auto.

In addition, we have set up o first-level post-do
train post-doctoral talent with the School of We
University,

Case Study: “Sailing Plan" school-enterpi

In January 2022, Li Auto launched the “Sail
cooperation project, designated to cultivatir
talent in after-sales maintenance and mant
has collectively empowered and certified 40
more than 100 vehicles and various mainter
decorated classrooms and training venues.
more than 300 hours of after-sale courses ¢
about online manufacturing end carried out
practicol teaching

As of the end of the reparting period, more th
cultivated from nearly 50 cooperative college
"Sailing Plan”. It is expected that more than 1
nurtured as new reserve forces through on-ce
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Li Auta's communication channels for employee

We establish channels to listen to employees and understand their
needs in hope of ameliorating our working environment with a better
We require moenagers ta conduct performance interviews with employees and cormy out perfermance intervi

woridng experisnce. Two-wiay communication channels for work  manggement communication workshops ond other activities.

objectives and performance feedback
We encoLrage employees o actively report any violation of the L Auto inc. We distribute questionnaires after quarterly performance communication to oequire employees’ feedback ¢
Employee Handbook, Li Auto Inc. Anti-Discrimination Management Provision,
and the Li Auto Inc. Anti-Sexual Harassment Management Provision. We

promise to investigote ond seriously hondle the misconduct as soon as we . E . . .
The HRBP teom bridges employees to ask senior management questions, focilitates their exchange frequer

receive the report, and strictly keep the reported information confidential HREP' communication channel recognition of corporate Strateay and culture.

to provide protection for the whistleblower. During the reporting period, no
employee made complaints regarding equity and diversity at Li Auto.

' HREP, Human Resource Business Partner, is the hur
by enterprises to various businesses or business di
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3.1.2 Employee Benefits

Li Auto develops a solary incentive and welfare system with internal fairness
and external competitiveness for employees, aiming to enhance employees’
sense of happiness from multiple fronts.

Li Auto has developed a complete salary incentive system to provide
employees with competitive salaries, including performance-based

cash incentives and long-term equity incentives, We have improved the
performance management scheme centering on the OKR' and ideas from The
Seven Habits of Highly Effective People, and linked the performance appraisal
results with promotion, salary adjustment and cash reward. To encourage

key employees and managers to share our growth achievements, we have
adopted the equity incentive plan, which covers senior, middle, entry-level
and front-line employees.

Non-salary benefits for employess of Li Aute

Pre-employment care - Pre-employment physical examination

- Women's festival events and special workploce events

Colorful life N
+ Sports competitions

Maternity suppert

- Sacial insuronce including endowment insurance, medical insuronce, unemployment insurance, industrial injury insurance

and maternity insurance

Insurence guorantee = Housing provident fund

- Supplementary medical insurance, major disease insurance and oceidental injury insurance

» Free lunch, fruits, drinks, and overtime meals
= Annual comprehensive physical exominations

Health guerantes
= Mental health services and suppont

= Multi-route shuttle buses

Caol ient Lif
ruementie = Shuttle buses between foctories

« Malernity leave, maternity check leave, nursing lecve, paternity leave for female employees ond male employees

Dedicated to our mission of “Create a Mobile Home, Create Hoppiness" { “8ll
EREINE, BlESEMF" ), we provide all employees with a wide range of
non-salary benefits ranging from work-life balance and health support to
employee care, enhancing their sense of belonging and happiness.

Case Study: Li Auto celebrates International Women's Day for
female employees

In celebration of International Wemen's Day in 2022, Li Auto prepared
o special gift for every female employee, and arganized photo spot of
women's declaration to encourage women to speak out in the workplace.

* Pre-employment training

- Li Auto's anniversary celebration

Inclusive Care and

Caose Study: Spring and Summer Sports b

In 2022, Li Auto encouraged the employees
holding octivities themed with "Sports Mont
to enrich their leisure time, In April, we laun:

sports check-in activity with the theme of “¢

employees participoted in this activity, totall
more than 20 sports. During the “Summer &
encouraged the employees to record precio
with nature, friends, and the world. 169 emp
times in the whale process of the "Summer

+ Birthday celebrations and gifts for emplayees

« Matemity raams

~ Self-paid commercial insurance plans of “Family core” groups

+ Protection plans for specific types of jabs

+ Major and serious diseases assistance

« Financicl assistance 1o chority funds

+ Spring and summer sports manth, ond bosketbaoll match

+ Online cerobics classas

= Vending machines

- Convenience stores, supermarkets, and cofes

! OKR, Objective ond Key Resuits, is a simple and effective system for enterprises to
conduct objective manogarment, which was first developed by Intel.
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3.2 Cultivating Talent

Li Auto regards tolent cultivation as an important organizotional strotegy.
Adhering to the talent concept of "hold our destiny and break growth
limits*, we have established o sound employee training and development
system to achieve the synchronous improvement of employee copacity and
organizotional performance.

3.2.1 Cultivation and Training

To promote cormmon growth with our employees, we have established a
training system covering the full path of employees’ career growth, We
make full use of internal expert resources to develop training courses and

Li Aute’s troining process of the navice troining camp for fresh graduates

HNovice troining camp

The 1st month The 2nd to 6th month
Stage Company training Department training
Milestone Company training completed
e 1. Online course learning ; :::f:;‘:;::uining

2. Offline training 3 Tutor guidance

hire external experts to strengthen the professional abilities of employees ot
different levels. For employees with different backgrounds and ranks, we have
launched a training progrom focusing on the three aspects of general ability,
professionalism, and leadership to support the growth and development of
employees.

In 2022, we upgraded the training program for fresh groduates and
developed a six-month novice training camp for fresh graduates, including
comprehensive online and offline courses, task practices and departrmental
training with mentors.

Li Auta's classification of intermal trainers

Inclusive Care and

We hove established a troining system for inte
our employees to participate in its constructior
teaching occomplish, employees can climb the
lecturers to company-level lecturers and hono
the reporting peried, Li Aute had trained and ¢

In addition, we provide quality professional trai
certification opportunities for employees. In 20
in Project Management Professional (PMP) am
Professional (NPDP) training sessions and rece

Troining completed
Benchme
The &th month good imc
to enter t
Core use
forcetoc
Company-level certified lecturers company
Pass the compony-level ecturer -
. certification process.
Training Summary repart/Probation
ossessment nasessmant
High-pot
teaching
1. Cou_rses and training . and teac!
review Department-level certified lecturers ond bein
2 Assessment and Fuss the department-level lecturer certification process. influance

qualification
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New Employee Training

We build systematic training courses for new hires based on their positions
and regularly update training plans, in bid to help them understand our
corporate culture and effectively improve their professional skills and perform
their duties.

Case Study: Fresh graducte training

‘We set up a complete training system and plan for each fresh graduate
and match our key talents with them as career mentors. Vocational

mentors will develop training plans for newly employed graduates,
conduct training guidonce and cperation, and regularly provide feedback
used to the role transformation from students to staff as

to helpthem g
well as from theory to practice,

Li Auta's employee training performance

Inclusive Care and

Indicators.

The number of employees trained

Tatal training hour by gendar

Tatal training heur by rank

Averoge training hour by gender

Averoge training hour by ronk

Percentoge of employees rained by gender

Percentoge of employees trained by rank

Categories

totol number of employees troined
Mals

Female

Senior management
Middle management
Junior management
Generol emplayees
Malz

Female

Senior management
Middle management
Junior managemeant
General emplayees
Male

Female

Board of Directors
Senior management
Middle management
Juriar managermant

Generol employees

Unit

person

hour

housr

hour

housr

hour

hour

housr

hour

housr

howr

hour

hour

k]

%

3

50

20

E

kil

9

9E

8¢

9

97

5
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Professional Training

In 2022, we carried out professional training for all employees. We In April 2022, we held the second Li Auto TBP contest, inviting 1,763 8 sessions of the “Developing Managers-Whit
actively introduce external paid training resources and combine internal participants and producing 1,483 business solutions. atotal of 240 troinees, and more than 90% of 1
experience sharing to integrate knowledge inwork, effectively improving the with the training program.

professionalism of employees and broadening their understanding of cutting-

edge knowledge and technology as well as excellent industry practices. Leadership Training To cultivate high-tevel talsnt In the incustry an

growth of our employees, Li Auto provides a ve
ceontinuing education ond degree certification.
with degree certificotions related to business n
of them to participate in EMBA/MBA degree pr
unified examination every year for enhanceme
ability.

Case Study: "“Star Plan” training camp We have established a tiered training system for Li Auto’s monagers. [t gims

to pravide learning paths and resources for manogers at different levels and
i Auta pioneer:

he training comp maode of “Star Plan” for the ne

provide managers with resources for self-manaogement, team management
and collaboration. In 2022, we carried out the “Executive Business School”
project for heads of key positions in the first-level department, with a total of

. vehicle function operation, 26 students in the first batch. For middle-level manogers, we have carried out
maintenance technelogy and specifications. The troining camp is

stoffed with head teachers, instructors, monitors, team leaders, and

employed fresh graduates of after-sale s e departments. Du
hr

including praduct

month-long theory and te gy troining in the camp, we have

knowle

up cour

group leaders for teaching assistance and dai

training camp supports Li Auto in effe sales
service mo om of “one expert for wi r L As of
December 31, 2022, the first c mps hod

d 112 fresh groduat ormation

adents to prof
General Ability Training

We improve the product map of employees’ general ability based on the
analysis of user pain points and business challenges, as well as the study of
the ideas from The Seven Habilts of Highly Effective People. We encourage
business managers and key talent to share professional knowledge and
cases in their fields, promote the occumulation of achievements within the
organization, and encourage employees to produce new perspectives and
insights.

! The TBP compaetition is o series of activities continuously carried out by Li Auto to
promote employees to produce business solutions.
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3.2.2 Promotion and Development

Li Auto has fair, clear and transparent coreer promotion channels

for employees.

Career Paths

We establish a dual-channel development made of professional and
managerial talent covering white-collar, store-baosed ond blue-collar
employees. Their performances are evaluated in a comprehensive and

objective way to build fair and smooth career development channels.

Li Auta’s prometion standards

Performance Appraisal

Li Auto hos created an efficient performance management framework bosed

on the concept of ability-oriented selection and skill incentive. Targeted

promaotion assessment schemes have been set up for various types of career

development channels.

We ossess the performance of our employees on o quarterly basis and corry

out premetion evaluations on an annual or quarterly basis to ensure the
fairmess and transparency and to motivate employees to pursue their

self-growth.

Li Aute's classified promation criteric

White-collar
employees

Store-bosed
employees

Blue-collar
employees

Under the fromework of dual promation channels featuring
professional sequence and monagement sequence, we formulate

personolized promotion paths factoring into both functional medules

and professional capabilities.

We put in ploce a 8-level promotion lodder from product experts to
senior executives.

We put in ploce a @-level promaotion ladder including manogamert-
oriented poths and skill-oriented paths.

White-collar
employess

Store-based
employees

Blue-collar
employees

The core promation stondards include OKR and the ideas from The
Seven Habits of Highly Effective Peaple.

The core promation stondards include performaonce assessment,
complionce, and Integrity.

The core promation stondards include performance ond skill
standards,

Inclusive Care and

Li Auto's hurman resource awards in 2022

China's Top 10 Healthy Employer

China Best Employer Award

Beijing Outstanding Employer

King's Ark = The Most Talent-Cherishec

Employer with Best Growth in Nowcode

Mewly Selected Employer

Excellent Employer

Most Influential Ernployer

Favorite Employer
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3.3 Ensuring Safety and Health

Li Auto cores about the physicol and mental health of employees and is
committed to creating a safe and healthy production and working envirenment
for employees.

3.3.1 Production Safety

In addition to continuously improving production safety measures in terms
of institutional systems, management approaches and technolegy, Li Auto
also ottoches great importance to improving safety protection owareness of
employees and providing comprehensive guarantees for production safety.

Li Auto's occupational health

and safety management objectives:

0 occupational diseases and serious injuries or above;
0 fire accident with loss exceeding RMB5,000;

0 administrative penalty;

100% compliance of Environment, Health & Safety (EHS)
policy on the new reconstruction and expansion projects.

In 2022, we ochieved our intended occupational health and
sofety monagement objectives.

Safety System Building

Li Auto hos adopted the safety management policy featuring “Safety first,
Low-based, Accident prevention, and Continuous improvement”, and
established an EHS center, which is tasked with planning the corporate EHS
system, and managing and empowering internal employees, manufacturing
supplier partners os well os relevont personnel from a third party. The

EHS Center assigns environmental protection teams and sets up safety
management rooms in 2ach base. To ensure the implementation of the
preduction safety accountability system, Li Aute includes safety responsibility
assessment indicaters in the quarterly performance appraisol of personnel in
charge.

We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations such as the
Production Safety Law of the People's Republic of China, the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Fire Prevention Law of the People's Republic of China, and formulate rules
and regulations related to production sofety.

Li Auto's EHS management system

Inclusive Care and

In 2022, in accordance with the Occupational i
System - Requirements and Guidelines far Use
updated and revised the £HS Manual and form
standard which has been strictly implemented

and construction of each base.

During the reporting period, our manufacturing
production had 100% completed the construct
health and safety system and wos certified by
phase, the new bose will build a management
requirements of SO 45001, ond plan to initiate
immediately after completion.

Level 1 One manual

Level 2 16 procedure documents

A4 monagement rules and forms
Level 3 covering production safety, accupational haalth, fire
protection, environmental protection, etc.

The EHS management manual: Furctional Distabution
Docurnents ifst of the EHS Systern.

Management Procedure for Laws, Regulations and Of.
Accountability System Management Procedles, EHS
Cantrol Procedlure for Pollution Source Emission of Ma

The Management System of EHS Inspection and Haze
System for Women Workers ond Minors, Safety Prodi
Occupational Hazard Prevention and Control Accounh
Systern for Lithivm Sattery of NEVs and Environmenia
Construchion Profects, ete.
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Production Safety Management

‘We have established manogement and inspection mechanisms for production
safety risks, and regularly carry out comprehensive risk identification, safety
inspection, and safety equipment upgrading.

In 2022, we upgraded our function in crisis prevention and control, and
established a dotabase of EHS violation cases, typical occidents, and hazard
types. On this basis, we unite various manufacturing bases to actively and

Li Auta’s safety inspection and risk identification in 2022

Number of safety inspections 341

Number of safety inspection stations 11,947

comprehensively identify and respond to risks and opportunities, increasing
the predictability of risk management. We regularly conduct comprehensive
safety inspections, including monitoring of cocupational hazard foctors,
physical examination of employees, noise monitoring, annual inspection of
special equipment, and review of special eperation certificates. To ensure the
continued effectiveness of the inspection, we regularly calibrate and maintain
the EHS detection and measuring equipment.

Safety Emergency Management

We continue to improve our capacity to handle the production safety
emergency and ore committed to mitigate sudden production safety accidents
effectively and timely to prevent the amplification or deterioration of the

Inclusive Care and

accident, so as to minimize the impact of the ¢
of employees, property sofety and ecological ¢
with Guidelines for the Preparation of Emerger,
Safety Accidents in Production and Business L
a series of national safety assessment specific
Emergency Plan for Proguction Safety Accider.
organization and responsibilities and refine ide
production safety accidents. We classify the re
severity, controllability, and scope of impact o
ond then formulate corresponding handling pr
conduct regular emergency plan training and ¢
that emergency rescue resources can be effec
timely manner for emergency rescue and resp
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Production Safety Awareness Enhancement

We closely follow and constantly enhance the safety owareness of
employees. All employees are required to receive occupational health and
safety education and training and pass examinations before working at their
positions. We provide new employees with three-level safety education and
training, ond conduct speciol safety management training and other sofety
training schemes in day-to-day work to effectively enhance their safety
awareness and improve the operation and protection skills in the production
process.

In 2022, Li Aute conducted 216 employee safety training sessions for 122,614
participants.

Li Auto’s four-level safety training system

Case Study: Safety production month in Changzhou Manufocturing
Base

In June 2022, the Changzhou Manufacturing Bose of Li Auto orgonized
the month of safety production themed “obiding by production safety
laws to be the principal personnel in charge”. The event is carried

out on a weekly basis comprised of different topics, including “sofety
emergency drill week", “safety poster contest week", "safety publicity
and consultation week”, and “safety knowledge competition week”,

Case Study: Firefighting month in 2022

In November 2022, firefighting month was carried out at Li Auto with

the theme of "ensuring fire safety and high-quality development”

for all bases, logistics worehouses, stoff dormitories, construction,

ond accommodation areas of interested parties, During the event, we
organized all employees to participate in firefighting ability training

and examination, fire emergency drill and fun sports meetings. We

also carried out training sessions on fire risks in autumn and winter,
inspections on key fire hazord spots ond special inspections to effectively
improve fire safety awareness for all employees.

Inclusive Care and

Caose Study: Training on safety productior

In June 2022, Li Auto invited the leaders of *
Bureau to provide training for management
Manufacturing Base on safety production lo
improve their safety owareness.

Case Study: Exchanges on fire safety

On July 20, 2022, a total of 58 firefighters fi
District of Changzhou City arrived at Chang
of Li Auto for a half-day troining, visit and &
the event, all the fire brigode officers listene
personnel in charge of production, visited tr
lines, checked the setting of the fire pump o
and the in-house small fire station. Both the
fire brigade officers had a thematic discuss
lithiumn battery of NEVs.

Datasheet an work injuries of Li Auta's employees

+ Prepare and update plans of production safety training every year;

Carporate + Conduct research on employess training demand at the baginning of each year
level and erganize and conduct EHS-related awareness training, speciolized training

and gualification authentication training eccordingly:

Workshop + Conduct sofety education and training on occupational hazards tailored for

level workshops,

Shift lavel

» Provide three-level safety education and training and speciel safety monogement

training courses far new employees;

+ Require employees to sign the occupational hazords notification;
+ Require employees to complete personol heclth information form.

+ Inform emplayees of the sccupational hazards and protection reguirements of thair specific positions,

50 they exoctly understand those hozards expased 1o them ond how to protect themselves,

Third-party - Provide relevont employees with safety training before working in our factories, which includes guidance on labaor protective wear,

employaes hazardous eperation safety requirements and penalties for vislating our rules

Indicator

Fatalities due to production accidants
Work-related injury occidents’

Employee work-related injury rote

Waorking deys lost due to work-related injurles

Injury rate per million howrs®

! In 2022, the 14 work-related injury aceidents included road traffic accidents outside our affices and factories which were datermined os work-related injuries, recarding no serious injury oecidents.

2 Injury rate per million hours = (Number of lost-time inj
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3.3.2 Occupational Health

Li Auto attoches great importance to the physical ond mental health of
employees and has established a complete occupational health management
system to provide employees with a safe and healthy working environment.
We carry out regular identification of accupational hazards and risks and
comprehensively protect occupational health of employees.

During the reporting peried, no occupational diseases or suspected
occupational diseases were found at Li Auto.

Ocecupational health management system

Under the EHS manogerment system, we hove blished 12 three-level ma it
systems related to occupational health, including the Occupational Hazard Prevention
Responsibility Systern and the Occupational Hazord Factor Detection and Evaluation
Systern.

Case Study: Health benefits for employees during the COVID-19
pandemic

Li Auto has formulated the working standards to respond to the Covid-19
pandemic, such as the Plan for Pandemic Peak, the Closed-loop
roduction Plan for Pandemic Prevention in Extreme Cases, and the

Pandemic Prevention and Control - Natification Letter for All Employees.
During the pandemic, the employees’ health is always a focus for us to
care about. We purchase masks, antigens and medicines together for
employees’ needs on pandemic prevention, testing and rehabilitation,
and open up a green channel for medical treatment to ensure emergency
treatment of employees.

Occupational health examination and evaluation

We carry out regular identification and menitoring of occupational hazards to batter contral
employees’ exposure to ocoupational hozard, and implement the digitol operation for
eecupational hazard and health moniterdng.

benefits on il health

We orgonize pre-employment, on-the-job, and post-employment physical exominations
for all employees, establish employes safety ond health files, gredually strengthen chronic
disease monitering, mental health counseling and ergenomic optimization, ond provide
convenient medical and drug purchase services for employees during the pandemic.

Working environment improvement

We process the reform of production process, equipment, end focilities. For example, naise
is ane of the biggest occupational hozards influencing fectors. We odopt totally enclosed
noise reduction externol protection measures for stomping line B in terms of equipment
selection to effectvely block the noise generated by the press during the stomping process.

it of personal (PPE)

We pravide all front-line employees with o full set of high-guality ond comfertable protective
equipment free of charge, formulate the PPE wearing standords for different posts, and
distribute them occarding to the post distribution standards so that the employees can wear
them property.

Occupational health troining

We conducted pre-employment eccupational health training, regular eccupational
health training and ination for oll empl - We inform of the types and
distribution of occupotional hozords ond ensure thot employees know the occupational
hazard factors ond control mensures of their posts.

Inclusive Care and

We highly value the psychologicol health of en
the Employee Assistance Program (EAP), cove
and store-end employees. EAP provides emplc
health services to guide them to adjust their w
gain o sense of happiness in their coreers, onc
of efficiency and well-being.

Main contents of the Li Aute's employe

We provide 24-hour wark and life psychologicol col
dicl the 400 hotlines to make oppointments conven
be realized through videa anline.

Fram Sunday to Friday, we pest dally artieles on me
include workploce psychology, mental health, mare
education, interpersonal relationship, etc.

We previde ermplayees with the Xingue Clowd platfe
amployees can immediataly obtain personal feedbe
the anline mentol heclth test. The repart includes tF
suggestions, It comprenensively analyzes emplayes
the wark factors that may offect employess’ person
understond their actual psychologicol stotus ond ne

We carry cut the empowerment training for the blus
qguide the teom leaders with the EAP psychalogical
them identify and locate the obnomal emations of
couses behind them, and master the psychologicol
problems.

‘We carry out speciolized promotion training on topi
and workplace relationships.

We provide 24-hour psychelogical counseling servi
stores that are seriously offected by the pandemic,
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Low-carbon Operatic
Ambition

Climate Strategy Green |
Green Product Green!
Green Logistics Key En

Li Auto actively responds to the impocts and ¢
climate change and integrates the low-carbal
links covering product design, production and
transportation. We endeavor to estoblish a an
industrial structure and fulfill the environment
sustainable development.
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4.1 Climate Strategy

Climate change is a critical global issue. In response to the national "dual
corbon” goals, Li Auto takes tangible actions represented by introducing carbon
emissions reduction measures, making all-cut efforts to address climate change.

We disclose our climate-related risk monagement ond responses in terms of
governance, strategy, risk management, indicators, and objectives, drawing on
the proposals of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD)
established by the Financial Stability Board (FSB).

4.1.1 Governance

Li Auto hos established o Carbon Neutrality Working Group to lounch multiple
initiatives including research on"dual carbon” strategies and setting of emission
reduction targets. We are establishing our Carbon Neutrality Committee to
establish a smoath internal cormmunication mechanism, implement carbon
emission reduction-related work and build o perfect dual corbon management
system, thereby ochieving our carbon reduction goals.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

The organizational structure of Li Auta's Corbon Meutrali

Li Auto's Carbon Nev
Committee

The Carbon Neutn
Working Groug
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4.1.2 Strategies

Li Auto has incorporated climate risk identification and management into risk

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

In order to further tackle climate-related risks, we haove formulated low-

Pursue the design conceg

management systems as well as implemented full-scale identification and carbon strategic plans in product design, technology R&D, production and Product design proportion of battery elec

assessment of climate-related risks and opportunities. In 2022, we identified manufacturing, supply chain monogement and other areas, some of which have the range extenders.

both transitional and physical risks related to our operations, and formulated been implemented with remarkable results ochieved. Increase investmant in e
Technology R&D

countermeasures in alignment with our strategies ond development.

Li Auta's climote risk identificotion and countermeasures

Risk categories Risks

Policy risks
Transition
. Market rigks
risks
Teehnological risks
Acute physicol risks
Physical
risks.

Chrenic physical risks

Description of risks

+ Restrictions on corbon emissions PErmiits in various regions may result in power cut in foctories ond thus o reduction in

production copacity.

- We may face more stringent emission stondards as lows and regulations on energy saving and emission reduction are

being constantly updated.

- Price increases of traditional energy and non-renewable resources may rolse produetion cost.
« Price increases of row materials may raise product costs.
= The demand for purchasing vehicles moy decrease with rising calls for low-carban transportation.

* The NEV technologies witness fost iteration with higher R&D spending thon that in traditional vehicles.
» #As the demand for low-carbon praduction increases, troditional production focilities will produce greater environmental

pollution.

« Intensification of extreme weather events such s typhoons, hurricanes, floods or heavy rainfoll may domage our sewoge

disposal facilities, threaten the safety of the water environment in the Taibu Loke Basin, thus the stability of our openation,

- Continuous hot weather and water shortages may increase the risk of heatstroke omang workers and reduce productivity.

vehicle-network interactic

. i
Production and Strengthen energy consel

N technology and promote -
manufacturing carbon plants,
Supply chain Implement the Company®
management strengthen the carbon fac

Countermeasures

Adjust the energy consumgtion plan as required to ensure compliance.
Increase the R&D investment in emission reduction technologies to further minimiz

Increase the propartion of clean energy in the manufacturing boses.
Develop strategic procurement plans to reduce the cost and risk of row material pr
Timely adjust cperations bosed an users’ needs.

» Timely adjust corporate planning and expand financial investment.

Increase R&D investment, ond opply environmental technologies and processes,

Set Up an emergency monagement office and prepare climate chonge cantingency
Compile the list of the emergency supplies for flood and typhoon and prepane gene
other response supplies,

Farmulate emergency plans for hot weather, prepare equipment to prevent heatstr
ta prevent heatstroke,
Increase R&D investment to improve production efficiency and reduce the energy ©
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4.1.3 Risk Management

Li Auto identifies the likelihood and impaocts of the risks, ond assesses and
categorizes those risks by analyzing material climate risks. For risks of all kinds, we
improve the control measures, formulate response schemes, and then incorporate
them into the corporate risk management process. For example, we have
developed corresponding emergency management measures against extreme
rainfall which is classified as the acute physical risk, and built several rainwater
storage ponds in our manufocturing bases to improve our flood resistance capacity:
we have formulated emergency plans for frequent hot weather which is classified
as the chronic physical risk and prepared equipment to prevent heatstroke.

The Carbon Meutrality Working Group of Li Auto is tasked with developing response
plans for materiol climate-related risks, and will update risk response strategies
according to materiality and technological development progress in the future.

Li Auto’s heot prevention countermeasures

+ Monitar temperature

and humidity in real time  Adjust work schedule

+ Procure equipment to lower the

+ Establish coaling areas in each workshop temperature of the construction site

- Procure heatstrake prevention supplies - Conduet drills of emergency
and medicines response plan

« Visit employess working in the heot and send cold drinks, fruits and ather supplies

Owerview of Li Auto's climate change risk management

Climate change breakdown

Pollution and corbon reduction in the
production process

Water resources management

Energy management

Recycling of materials

Environment-friendly processes R&D

Emergency preparations and plans

Countermeasures

4.2 Green production

4.2 Green production

4.2 Green production

4.3 Green product

4.3 Green product

3.3 Ensuring safety ond health

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

4.1.4 Indicators and Targe

At Li Auto, we are prooctive in setting COz emiss
to reduce carbon emissions across the value che
portfolios, production procedures, supply chains

In 2022, we set targets for energy and water con
of a single vehicle, regulorly track the achievems
and make timely adjustments for deviations from

Energy cansumption

Indicator per vehicle

Target 0.120 teefvehicle
Actual value 0.107 tcefvehicle
rescrno) ves
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4.2 Green Production

Li Auto has continually improved environmental management policies ond
optimized risk control in the production process to reduce pollution and waste.

4.2.1 Green Factory

Li Auto is committed to building sustoinoble and green factories thot minimize
the environmental footprints of the production process.

We carry out an environmental impact assessment before the construction of the
manufacturing base, and actively practice environmental protection, pollution
prevention, biodiversity protection and other measures to ensure that the impact
on the surrounding envirenment can be effectively mitigoted and controlled.

In 2022, the construction and production in the Changzhou and Beijing
manufacturing bases were fulfilled in complionce with lows and regulations

as evidenced by approved Environmental Impact Reports by local autharities.

In the construction phase, our manufacturing bases are constructed following
managerment systems, such as IS0 14001, to standardize the environmental
management systems. Intemal ond external oudits and certification of relevant
systems are carried out after the boses are put inte operation.

Beijing Manufacturing Base

Li Auta's Beijing manufacturing bose adopts a more environment-friendly green
design concept whilst upgrading to meet the Grode-A Enterprise requirements
of Ching’s Perforrmance Grading and Enission Reduction Measures for Key
Industries in Heavy Poliution Weather.

Green design concept features of Beiing manufacturing base

Waste gos treatment Higher then national ond local emissions stendards,
Wasteveater raatment Recycling of reclaimed water, partially used for living and
factory greenary.

Construction of rainwater starage tanks to reduce water
consumption

Water resources
managemeant

Adaoptian of large-scale phatovoltoic power generation for
production and odministrotive work,

Renewable energy
utilizaticn

Changzhou Manufacturing Base

Changzhou Manufacturing Base is located around the Taihu Lake Bosin in the
Yangtze River Economic Belt, sitting in a key area of ecological protection in
Jiangsu Pravince. To protect the water environment of the Taihu Loke and the air
quality of the Yangtze River Delto, Changzhou Manufocturing Base has adopted
energy-saving and environmentol protection processes, with wastewater

Li Auto's Changzhau Monufacturing Base

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

discharge and waste gas emissions for below th

Changzhou Manufacturing Bose was honored a:
the Jiangsu Provincial Industry and Information 1

Six priorities for the green construction of Changzhou Mc

Infrastructure

Management system

Energy input

Product manufacturing

Environmental emissions

Energy performance

Buildings, equipment,

Enwironmental manag
systems

Photovoltoic products,

Control of harmful suk
rate of products

Low emvirenmental po

Land intensificatian, b
production, low-carba
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4.2.2 Environmental Management System

In 2022, Li Auto updated the organizational structure of environmental manogement
to further assume primary responsibility for production and operation. All of our
muanufacturing bases in cperation have obtained the certification of 150 14001 -

Enviranmental Management System ond received annual intermal and extermal audits.

We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic

of China as well as other relevont lows and regulations and have formulated
internal environmental management systems such as the Water Poliution Control
Management Regulations, the Noise Pollution Control Manogement Regulations,
and the Air Poliution Control Management Regulations according to 150 14001,
This aims to regulate water, gas, noise, and residues created in the production
process and make every effort to minimize the environmental footprints. We
have compiled the Contingerncy Plan for Environmental Emergencies, formulated
the on-site emergency treatment plans, prepared emergency supplies, and
performed routine drills. We continue to improve our ability to respend to
enviranmental pollution incidents by comprehensively monitoring potentiol risks
of air pollution, water pollution ond hozardous waste disposal.

‘Orgonizationol structure of Li Auto's emironmentol management system

EHS Center

Ervironmentol Protection Team of the Base

Developing Implementing
environmental environmental
management systems | | management processes

Ensuring normal
operation of facilities

In 2022, Li Auto received no administrative punishrment related to environmental
or ecological malpractices.

4.2.3 Emissions Management

Li Auto sets strict pollutant emission torgets, regulates emission management
processes and standards, keeps innovating green production processes, and properly
handles emissions to comply with national policies and local emission standards.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Li Aute's main emissions coteganas

Woste gas

‘Wostewater

Solid woste

Volatile Organic Compounds [V

Crganic pollutants, ammonia ni

Generol woste: scrap metal, po
kitchen waste, among others.

Hazardous waste: sludge, paint
amang others.
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Reducing Air Pollutants Reducing Solid Waste Discharge

Li Auta's main measures for waste gos emissions reguction

Li Auto fully complies with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Air Pollution and strictly controls and manoges waste

Li Auto has formulated the Wiaste Poliution Cont
standardize the collection, classification, storage

Water-bosed and high-solid paint are used, of which water-based
paint accounts for mare than 85% of the total amount of paint.

Green
s produced in the production processes. To minimize air pollutants in the accordance with lows ond regulations such as tF
il P p P ' materiels Liquid Applied Sound Decdener (LASD) is applisd to reduce VOC ‘ nereg
manufacturing process, we have adopted green processes and environmentally emissions. of Ching on the Prevention and Control of Envirot
friendly materials, estoblished a VOC emission management ledger, and seta o N i In 2022, we set and achieved the geal of 100% o
. s N 5 Fainting workshop adopts zirconium film pretrestment process and B . .
target of controlling VOC emission concentration to under 15 ma/m®, eathodic electrophoresis coating [no phespherus, no Closs | heavy solid waste. We entrusted the material recycling
metal pollutants). aluminum, wood, and other wastes generated in
With a series of obove-mentioned measures, our waste gas collection rate Green
processes BIE2 water-based intercoat-free painting process is applied to

exceeded 90% and the total VOC emissions were 10.3% tons in 2022. This

outperformed local standards and requirements.

compoct the process ond sove energy.
All painting and gluing are finished by robats.

Waste spray of the new project is filtered by a dry paper-box spray

For hozardous waste, we strictly abide by nation
up classification and storage warehouses for ha:
equipment such as the paint slag filter press, we
hazardous waste, Under the principle of "harmle

booth, with 9% of processing efficiency. reduction”, we have established information mai

record waste disposal in real time:

High-efficiency

processing The waste gos produced during painting drying is disposed by

focilities regenerative thermal oxidizer [RTO), and the waste gos produced
during the painting is processed by a rotory concentration wheel
and thermal recuperative axidizer, achieving a 8% filtration rate.
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Reducing Wastewater Discharge

Li Auto monitors ond controls wastewater generated in the production process
through the classified and separated treatment of wastewater by complying with
the Water Pollution Prevention and Cortrol Law of the People’s Republic of Ching. In
response to the policy of nitrogen and phosphorus reduction in the Taihu Loke Basin,
we focus on the emission of nitrogen and phosphorus elements and set Chemical
Oxygen Demand (COD) and ammaonia nitrogen emission limits to ensure that the
emissions meet the standards while continuing to improve the menogement capacity
of utilization of wastewater. In 2022, Li Auto’s Changzhou Manufocturing Base
achieved the goal of zero discharge of nitrogen and phosphorus in wastewater.

By managing wastewater from the source to the end, we effectively promote wostewater
reduction in the manufocturing bases, For the treatment process, we adopt eco-
friendly raw materials and processes while strictly following the requirements of process
procedures to avoid overflow of flushing water and excessive wastewater, thus reducing
ervironmental pollution. In 2022, the passivation process was deployed to reduce the
production of lye, acid, and other pollutants in the wostewater, We hove established
strict treatment regulations for the generoted sewage and wastewater, equipped with
a complete sewoge treatment system in the manufacturing bases to release harmless
discharge and reuse water. The Changzhou Manufocturing Base has two wostewater
treatment systems. It adopts efficient technology to treat production wastewater and
domestic sewage, reduces the discharge of nitrogen and phosphorus pollutants in
wastewater so that the quality of effluent is better than the standard required.

Li Auta's wastewoter treatment systems

Ultr membrane cor e drying, ond
other pracesses ara used for nitrogen-cantaining wostawater
treatrment from our workshops.,

The Mo.1 wastewater
treatment system

“Physico-chemical treatment + biochemical treatment” are
used for electrophoresis waostewater ond domestic sewage
trectment.

The Mo.2 wostewater
treatment system

Reducing Noise Pollution

Li Auto prevenits ond controls noise generated by our production and operations
and has formuloted the Naise Pollution Control Management Regulations with
reference to the Low of the People’s Republic of Ching on Prevention and Cortrof
of Pollution fram Environmental Nolse. We strictly comply with the requirements
of self-monitoring of emission permission by engoging a third party to undertake
a quarterly assessment and issue a report accredited with China Metrology
Accreditation (CMA) mark.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Apart from complying with national standards, w
control measures:

Plant green belts of trees surrounding our bases.

Regular maintenance of equipment to reduce the nai
measures such os sound insulation and sound absan

All vehicles in the plants are prohibited from audible '
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4.2.4 Resource Management

Li Awte's future plans for enengy consenvation

Li Auto promotes the concept of resource recycling managerment and continually and consumption managerment in manutacturing bases. Through the following

improves resource utilization efficiency to build an environmentally friendly enterprise. technological innovation and optimization measures, we continue ta improve m:;g%:ﬂ':;‘fé?‘om Reduce consumption ond o
operational efficiency and accelerate the low-carbon transformation of the boses energy through intelligent ©

Ener volue chain. Energy-caving

gy Management imprul:emgnyg inour  Improve the energy frequen

To build on energy-efficient clean energy system, we plan to launch an online power stationrooms  chilled and living water punr

Li Auto Is committed to reducing energy consumption of the manufacturing intelligent energy management system ond comprehensively promote the gl cur e

bases and the carbon emissions in the production pracess. We have application of new energy sources such as photovaltaic power generation. Phatovoltaic pawar Changzhau Manufaeturing |

promoted the construction of energy monagement systems and formulated generation rooftop systems and cover ¢

equipment, with o total inst

sound management systems and procedures, In 2022, Li Autos obtained the
certification of IS0 50001 - Energy Manogement System

We continue to build an upgraded digital management system, carry out
energy consumption audit, and strengthen automatic and dynamic analysis

Li Auta's measures for enamgy-saving

Use solar-powered streetlamps at the manufeeturing base.

Reduce the use of ice machines at the complex station according to the temperature
change.

Recover the waste heat of flue gas ot pointing and boiler workshop.

Set a condensing heat exchanger at the boiler outlet to lower the temperature of woste
gos, absorb the heat energy in the flue gos, ond improve the thermal efficiency of the
boiler to mare than 95%.

Install compression heat dryers for 100% of air compressor rooms to recover the heat
of the air compressor; energy-saving and high-efficiency variable-frequency air
compressor is selected for outomatic pressure reguiction to reduce energy woste.

Reduce the heat treatment in the product preparotion process to reduce the energy
consumption and greenhause gaos emissions,
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Water Resource Management

Li Auto ottaches great importance to water conservation ond reuse. We carry
out water resource stress analysis and evaluation to avoid environmental
problems and water shortage caused by industrial water use. For water use

in the production process, water-saving tools are applied in the design and
construction of our Chaongzhou Manufacturing Base. We preactively implement
various water-saving measures in our daily operations, introduce advanced
reuse technology of reclaimed water, and improve the utilization rate of water
resources. We install necessary water measuring instruments in the entire water
use process, record the daily water consumption in each areo, summarize and
report on @ manthly basis to ensure timely monitoring of water consumption

in production and operation. The monitoring rote of secondory woter meter in
Changzhou Manufacturing Base is up to 98.9%, effectively reducing water waste.

In 2022, Li Auto accepted the water balance test led by Changzhou Water
Conservancy Bureau. The test results suggest that the freshwater consumption
pervehicle of Li Auto was only 4.61 m¥fvehicle, far less than the guota of 19 mé/
vehicle set by Jiangsu Province, Our excellent performance in the efficient use of
water resources has been fully recognized by the regulatory autharities. In 2022,
Li Auto was awarded the title of provincial water-saving enterprise by the Jiangsu
Provincial People’s Government.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Chemicals Management

Li Auto formulated the Hazardous Chemicals Mc
the procurement, transportation, storoge, and us
with the Regulations on the Safety Administratio
the Reguilation on the Administration of Precursc
to strictly obide by the relevant national standare
we formulated the Li Aute inc. Permitted Chernic
the Catologue of Hozardous Chernicals (2015) a
analysis on the harmfulness, operability, and em
1o reduce the harmful impact of chemicals on hu
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4.3 Green Product

Li Auta upholds the green development concept, adopts low-carbon innovative
technologies in the product design, material selection, and parts recycling
stages, and strives to undertake resource ond environmental responsibility of
the entire life cycle of automobile products.

Li Auta's low-corban product development layout

‘We cooperate with raw material companies with leading low-
Upstreom carbon technologies to develop and use low-carbon and recycloble
supply materials. We prefer upstream suppliers with higher proportion of

renewable energy usage to ensure uninterrupted material supply.

‘We plan to build new green manufacturing boses and upgrode the

Product existing ones by using green energy and production methods for
manufocturing  energy conservation and emissions reduction to ensure sustainable
production.

We systematically optimize the powertrain technologies of our

E::;naslrccm products and improve the power efficiency, reducing CO2 emissions
and ensuring their sustainable use,
Besides EREV madels, we gim to lounch more BEV models to mest
Product type

wsers' needs for low-carbon options and sustain brond loyalty,

4.3.1 Green Design

Li Auto integrotes green concepts in the product design and reduces vehicle
energy consumption by virtue of innovative methods such as clean technology
developments and lightweight designs.

Energy Consumption Control

Li Auto reduces the corbon emissions during the driving phase through

tachnology R&D to save energy costs for users. Our self-developed EREV

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

technologies utilize a five-in-one drive to effect
energy consumption, with its industry-leading &
committed to the development of battery electr
the fast-charging capacity of the high-rate batt
charging performance by allowing users to rech
10 minutes,
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Green Battery Design

Li Auto highly values the green development of batteries. We obtain efficient
green recycling energy through advanced battery technology, expecting to
promote the green ond low-carbon development of the industry.

Li Auta's green battery design

= High=precision in-situ swelling detection
technology of botteries

* Foilure mode onalysis technology for
materiols of cothodes and anodes

« Quantitative analysis of gos produced fram
alactrodytas

+ Quantitative analysis of Lithium precipitation

Improve bottery performance and
extend usage life:
Battery failure mode analysis

« Precise exploration of fast charging boundary
of botteries
- High-preacision Battery Manogement System

Improve battery efficiency and (EMS)
iﬁ%&%’:ﬁﬁ{mw technology  * High-precision forecost and simulation of

battery life
+ Optimal usage strategy recommendation and
OTA upgrading

- Consistency assessment technology of
batteries

Enviranmental protection, resources . gy life cycle volue ossessment system of
recycling, carbon reduction:

Slizati : batteries
G de utilizati d recycling of
ngﬁi‘?—.;“ Sl b + Disossembling and precious metal recycling
technclogy of botteny

+ Reeyeling technalogy of key row materiols

Lightweight Design

Lightweight outornobiles of oll power types consume less energy. Li Auto
effectively reduces the weight of the vehicle body, interior ond exterior
decorations, chassis, battery, electric-drive, and other systems through the
comprehensive optimization of materials, processes, and structures, without

Li Auto's R&D ond applications of lightweight design
Innovative application

- 2000MPa-grode aluminum-silicon-coated hot-formed steel reploces
1500MPa-grade steel, comprehensively reducing weight by 15%

+ High-strength, high-toughness 1000MPa-grade aluminum-
silicon-coated hot-formed steel reploces S00MPo-grade steel,
comprehensively reducing weight by 10%

Material

= Third generotion of advanced high-strength steel QPSE0-EL replaces
DP780, comprehensively reducing weight by 10%

« Third generotion of advanced high-strength steel DHTB0 replaces
DP590, comprahangively reducing weight by 8%

- All-in-one loser tailor-welded hot-stomping door ring can reduce weight
by 15%

Pracess
- Large aluminum alloy die-costing, free from heot reatment car
comprehensively reduce weight by 20%

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

undermining its performance. We opply low-de
with gloss bead in the car body, and PCM comg
module, which can significantly reduce the dea

- Continuous Fiber Reinforced Thermoplastic Composite [CFRTP|
con comgrehensively reduce weight by 30%

« Ultra-high strength martensitic steel MS1700 can reduce the:
weight of parts by 10%

= Developing Ultra-high strength aluminum profile to replace the
axisting 60B2S moterial, reducing the weight of parts by 15%

+ High strength aluminum plate 6056 reploces 6016 structural
aluminum plate, reducing the weight of parts by 10%

- Third generation advanced high-strength steel QPT120 con
raduce weight by 10%

- Extrusion molding technology of ultra-high strength alurminum
profile with complex section can reduce weight by 10%
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4.3.2 Green Material

Li Auto gives priority to low-carbon, sustainable and environment-friendly
materials to reduce the consumption of natural resources and produce more
green and eco-friendly products.

Developing Environment-friendly Materials

Li Auto focuses on the development and application of low-carbon materials, We
have developed a low-carbon material database system to record selected green

Application and develepment of ervireament-friendly materials

Mormalizaton of stainless steel: Adjust the alloy composition and
praduction process of stoinless steel, so that the product can obtain
excellent corrosion resistance ond malding performance.

Spray-free materials: Effectively avoid the pollution of toxic ond
hormiul goses, dust, and other substonces in the sproying process
10 the environment and achieve excellent bright black surfoce effect
without odditional spraying treatment; spray-free materiols can be
fully recycled, which is conducive to green recycling development.

In application . .
ppiicatl Lead-free solder: Reduce the chromium contant of the coating,

reduce the use of heavy metals, and minimize the impact of the
product on nature, seil, ond environment by technical contral,

Water-bosed onti-rust pointings: Reploce oil-based anti-rust paint
with water-based anti-rust paint with woter as solvent can avoid the
volatilization of toxic and harmful substances inta the atmosphens
and reduce environmental pellution; woter-based paint hos no
peculior smell, which can effectively improve the construction
environment and protect the health of construction personnel.

Bio-based curing agent: Lorge-scale use of bio-based curing agent
varnish to reduce the use of fossil row moterials, protect natural
resources, and reduce carbon dioide emissions.

h ) ;
In researc| Long-effect primer-free materiol: Lang-term glass cement and

materials without primer to significantly reduce the amaunt of primer,
relieve environmentol pressure, ond achieve green ond sustainable
development.

material information and carry out material planning ot the beginning of the
design ond development of new vehicle models. At present, we have promoted
the exchange of low-carbon technology ond cooperation with leading material
enterprises bath domestic and intermational, covering nearly 100 kinds of metal
and non-metallic materials.

Hozardous Substance Control

Li Auto aims to reduce and eliminate toxic and hozardous substances in our
products by complying with the Requirements for Prohibited Substances
in Autormobiles (GBIT 30512-2014). In addition, we have interpreted and

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

internalized the mare stringent regulations of the
such as European Union's 2000/53/EC, 2005/6
formed our control standard (Q/LIA 5500001), a:
process control documents to further improve th
For ports or matericls thot come into direct conte
included indicators such as potential sensitizing
pollutants, and bicaccumulation in the developn
minimize the risk of hazardous substances. At pi
than 20 sensitizing substances in the C-AHI five-
development control requirements and enable e
star health standard.
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4.3.3 Green Recycling

Li Auto bears the responsibility os a product producer and continues to promate the

development and reuse of sustainoble materials to build a complete recycling system.

Recycled Material Development

We give priority to the use of materials with maoture recycling technology and
minimize the use of non-recyclable materials to improve the recycling ratio of
vehicle materials. In 2022, Li Auto actively promoted the closed-loop recycling of
stamping waste from aluminum sheet in the manufecturing bases, ond reduced
the carbon emission from aluminum sheet material by more than 50%.

Case Study: Development of biological woste materials

In 2022, the Li Auto inmiated of biolo e and residue in an

effort to adition:

for int ration, thermal mar

more than 5

reduction, but

2r resource regeneration and recy

Packaging Recycling

We actively launch a string of initiatives to produce less waste while increasing

the waste recovery and reuse. We practice the concept of green cycle packaging,
decrease the pockaging volume of single vehicle and reduce the packaging

of parts in the design stage. In 2022, we further reduced the volume of single-
car packaging in the design stage through the packaging optimization scheme,
effectively improving the volurme ratio of Li L8 and Li L9's packaging. The single
car packaging volume of Li L8 dropped from 42 m? to 40.8 m? ond the figure of
Li L9 dropped from 43 m? to 41 m?,

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Furthermore, we consumed more recycled mate
the recycling rate of materials through close coo
suppliers and other portners. In 2022, our propo
volurmme and recycled pockaging ports increased
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Power Battery Recycling

‘We hove odopted the recycling mode of “self-buitt station + third-party cooperation” to
build a power battery recycling system to recycle and dispose the woste batteries that
need to be scrapped all over the country to maximize economic and sociol benefits.
Currently, we are approaching and cooperating with the battery recycling institutions
in East China, Central China, South China and other regions. In the future, battery
recycling stations and institutions are expected to expand into more domestic regions.

Case Study: Li Auto’s power battery recycling cooperation

In 2022, Li Auto partnered with companies included in the Wh

Energy Power Battery Recycling relensad by the Ministry of Industry and

Infarmation Technology for research in the recycling technology of power
batteries and established a power battery recycling network covering the whele
life cycle from vehicle retirement, recycling, comprehensive utilization, disposal,
to ensure the orderly recycling and stondardized disposal of woste batteries,

Stondard hondling procedures of woste battery

! rate means the

S —— remanufoctring

Discarded Vehicles Recycling

Li Auto intensifies input in the loyout of the bock-end market of products,
carry out research on discarded product and resource reuse, and improve the
comprehensive utilization of outormobile resources according to respective
product characteristics. We carry out research to verify the recycling
performance of the discarded ports and materials, and prepore and establish
arecycling system to handle and reuse the discarded vehicles and resources
in advance, to ensure that we meet the requirements of the plan for extended
manufacturers’ responsibilities developed by national ministries.

In accordance with the Road Vehicles - Recyclability and Recoverability -

Calculation Method (GB/T 19515-2015), we calculate ond track the recyclability
rate' and recoverability rote of L8 and L9 vehicle materials to ensure product

recovery and reuse.

Materials remanufoctuning

ige by mass of a new vehicle, petentially able to be reused and recycled.

* Recoverablity rate meons the percentage by mass of a new vehicle, potentinlly able to be reused ond recovered.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Recyclability and recoverability rates of Li Auta's vehicle:

Models Recyclability Rote
L8 93.2%
LiLe 93.0%

Case Study: Recycling and development of

In 2022, Li Auto cooperated with extarnal ins
manufocturers, parts enterprises, discarded
enterprises to carry out recycling and reuse
We have further improved the material utilizi
consumption and carbon emissiens through
vehicles/materials - oluminum material recy
recycling material application” model. Accol
estimation, more than 80 kg of recycled alun

single vehicle, with COz emission reduction ¢
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4.3.4 Product Carbon Footprint

Li Auto takes responsibility for the entire life-cycle management of a product's
caroon fDOTDI’II‘IT and carries out carbon emission r:ccount\ng in three Emgcs: raw
materiol procurement, vehicle production and product use.

In 2022, we established a carbon footprint calculation methodology for our
products based on ISO 14067 (Greenhouse Gases - Carbon Foolprint of
Products — Requirements and Guidelines for Quantification), and PAS 20502008
(Specification for the Assessment of the Life Cycle
of Goods and Services). Meanwhile, we conducted the lif

se Gas Emissi

2

115

cle carbon footprint

accounting for cur Li L9. The result showed that the carbon emission of Li L9 was
295.8 gC0,e/km. Compared with SUVs of the same class, Li L9 can reduce
carbon emissions from the actual energy consumption by over 50%.

Thonks to the identification of foctors affecting corbon emissions across the

fe cycle of the product, we are able to propose recommendations on various

aspects such as design framework, production process, energy control and
ecycling technology, and to lounch training, exchange, and cooperation on
product carbon emissions for over 60 suppliers, thus achieving the continuous
reduction of the vehicle’s carbon footprint in the future. In addition, we activaly

participate in the innovat

e research of the industry allionces and engage in
exploration and discussions in the automotive industry, covering the carbon
accounting for the automaotive industry, low-carbon technological pathways and
carbon management policies. With these efforts, we aim to spur the green and
sustainable development of the industry.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢
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4.4 Green Office

Li Auto actively creotes low-carbon offices and encouroges employees to
implernent the green and low-carbon office concept.

We have formulated and issued the Li Auto inc. Green Office Managerment
System (Trial] to continually detail the management of office resources and
energy, so s to guide employees in saving energy at work ond decrease their
operational environmental impacts. In 2022, we launched the energy data board
to visualize energy management and maximize energy utilization by collecting
and analyzing data on the water and electricity consumption of each office.

We also carry out energy saving and emission reduction of official vehicles

by deploying new energy vehicles, optimizing parking routes to oddress rood
congestion as well os traffic jams, and putting up energy saving and emission
reduction slogans and signs in the office areas.

During the construction of the project of the Phase Il of Beijing R&D headquarters,
we adopted the two-star standard of green buildings for design and equipped
with photovoltaic power generation devices to achieve the sustainable design

of the building. The entire life-cycle carbon emission in the construction of the
project is 142,030.52 tonnes according to standards such os the Standard for
Calculation of Carbon Emissions from Buildings (GB/T 51366-2019). By using
renewable energy and photovoltaic power generation, the project can reduce

30,272.3 tonnes of COz in the 50-year service life.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

Green affice menogement regulations

To save
electricity

To conserve
energy

To conserve
energy of heating
system

To conserve
water

To reduce waste
To recycle office
supplies

To promote
paperless offices

We encouroge o culture of turnir
work, turning off lights when not
where possible

We ensure air-conditioning syste
indoor gir-conditioning temperal
We ensure that the external winc
ond reduce the loss of heot from
Wi install water-seving foucets
immediate repairs,

We encouroge employees to red
ond tobleware.

We encourage employeas to rec

We encouroge employess to wo
processing daily applications an
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4.5 Green Logistics

Li Auto actively builds a low-carbon logistics systern and takes diversified
measures to manage energy conservation and emission reduction for the

tronsportation teams. We abide by national emission standards of motor vehicle
pollutants and carry out emergency control of vehicles experiencing heavy air
pollution to greatly reduce pollutants.

Low-carbon Operation and ¢

We have improved the operation and management systems, enhanced the full-
|oad rate of transportation, and reduced the impact of long-distance transportation
teams on the environment backed by the management mode of both direct and
unified parts sales. While optimizing the driving routes and minimizing the energy
consurmption of vehicles, we are equipping tronsportation teams with NEVS,
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4.6 Key Environmental Indicators

. 480 e
e rosarian i eliciors Unit Data in 2022 Total Scope 1 GHG emissions tC0ze 20,548.58 Municipal water supply tonne
Tatal Scope 2 GHG emissions 1Cose 84,184.89 Recycled water tonne
Main waste gos pollutants
Production and manufacturing Material and resources
VOLC tonne 10.39 consumption
GHG emissions tCose 75,510.18
Methone tonne 187 Refrigerants kg
Scope 1 GHG emissions 0Oz 16,610.47
Soot and dust tonne 227 Packaging materials for complete tonne
Scope 2 GHG emissions 1Ccooe 58,899.1 vehicle manufacturing
Main wastewater pollutants
Retail stores Recycled pockoging materials for
tonne
coD tonne 24.07 parts and components
GHG emissions 1COze 29.223.69
Ammonia nitrogen tanne 1.m N
Seope 1 GHG emissions tCO0ze 393850
Totol h b 0.07
ol phosphora o Scope 2 GHG emissions tcoze 25,285.19
Mai |l
ain wastewater pollutants Energy cons ion
Total nen-hazardous waste tonne 22,871.50 rehensive enel
o o tee 30,292.98 Mot
consumption
MNon-hozardous waste intensity tonne/ RME10,000 0.0057 (1) The i dotn i coflectad from Li Auto's CF
) Cmpmhgml?t enepgy tce/RMB10,000 0.0067 after-sohas 'ndmeﬂunca{er!hel.s,me heodguartarin Beiling r:nd{
Kitchen woste tanne 639.47 consumption intensity 121 5cope 1 issions are yfuel fligue
fuet {gasoline] corsumption from tansportation vehicles. Theem
Domestic waste tonne 221161 Purchosed elactricity kWh 139,038,317.08 the Guidsli mentouss Gas Emission A e M
Socters issund by tha Maticnsl Development ard Reform Comemiz
Recycled waste tanne 20,020.42 Purchosed heat GJ 44,456.75 oF diesel anid tomsport vahiches refer o the
. Eriranmentol KPS published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kot
Total hazardous waste tonne 1,414.72 Purchosed notural gas cubic meter 6,148,389.00 (95c0pe 3 SEE jonaf |
o
) i i purchased power refer 1o the Natice o the Ministry of Ecoiogy am
Hazardous waste intensity tonne/ RMB10,000 0.00031 Diesel liter 0.00 cnthe of Ermiasion R e
o . 2027 to 2025 published on Februory 7, 2023,
GHG emissions Gascline Uter send (] The disclosure scops of hozardous wosts is defined n occordone
B Wiste 2021 Edition) published by the Ministry of Ecology and Em
Total GHG emissions 1COze 104,733.87 Water consumption {51 Th urit comversian foctors of non-renewnbia fuel igasoline, dies
. Prepore an ESG Report - Appendiv 2 Reporting Guidanos on Env
Total water consumption tonne 833,334.38 Exchangs of Hong Kong Limited in March 2020, and the Guidslin
issi i i Methoas and Repanting of Enterpnses it Ciiter GUsIi Secrars
GHG emissions intensity tCOze/RMB10,000 0.023 Total . jon intensity of 000 0.18 g

Refarm Commission on Juby &, 2015,
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Community Contribui
Better Society

Philanthropy User Kindness

Li Auto highly honors the brand mission: “Cre:
Hoppiness" | “QliS#hi0E, cliEsEms" ),
users' hoppiness and a coentributor to the socl
sacial welfare and other charitable activities.
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5.1 Philanthropy

Li Auto duly fulfills social responsibilities and participates in charitable
activities such os pandemic responses, disaster relief and poverty
alleviation. In the face of sudden disasters and social challenges, we
support local residents with instant care and guick responses to help them
weother the difficulties.

Meanwhile, we go to great lengths to promote the preferential development
and medernization of agriculture and rural areas under national guiding
principles, relieve the difficulties for rural low-income population, and boost
rural revitalization with choritable donations.

Li Auta’s philanthrapy regulations

Laws and Regulations Internal Regulations

Welfare Donatians Law of the Peaple's Republic of Ching

Danation Management
Measures

Notice of the Ministry of Finance on Financial Issues
Conceming Charitable Donations of Sharefoldings by
Enterprises

Caose Study: Li Auto fully supports earthquake relief

On September 5, 2022, a 6.8-magnitude earthquake hit Luding County,
Ganzi, Sichuan Province. The hearts of people nationwide, inc
employees of Li Auto, went out to victims. We denated RMES mil
Sichuan Provinciol Charity Federation right after the disaster to support

lion to

the emergency resc

e, living assistonce and post-disaster reconstruction
of Luding County in Ganzi, Shimian County in Ya'an City and the
surrounding disaster-affected areas.

Li Auite's hanarary certificate of donation for earthgquaks relisf and thank-you letter

“9.5" Pt Hu
THM AR

BRn LEEREPENETE

AL AN, S R
R AR SO0 SRS, BRI
A R, T AL

MAEBAREDAABALA, BN, MEOEW
RRLECAR
RANE, NURY, HEAW,

Community Contribution for ¢

Case Study: The pairing-up assistance pro,

In 2021, Li Auto conducted pairing-up assis!
development of Tuanjie Village, Biliutai Tow
Mangolio. On top of that, we donated RMBE
project in Dongfeng Villoge, Shisanaobao T
Inner Mongalia in September 2022 to impro
disabled elderly and left-behind children, pr
health infrastructure, local econemy and sor
poverty alleviation and rural revitolization

As 0 responsible enterprise, we toke the initioti
community residents, actively provide commu
various sports camps across the country, and
our actions.

In 2022, total investment
public welfare and charity

RMBS5.68 millior
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5.2 User Kindness

‘We create a community of Li Auto users across every corner of China to
organize various public welfare octivities. We encourage our users to join us
in offline charitable activities, and regularly provide funds and materials to
contribute to the public welfare.

Case Study: Li Auto's cor club in Shanxi Province

In June 2022, the Li Auto Shanxi Auto Club organized 15 volun
= "Take the Ride an
n with "one-c e" service and hitch-and-ride. The

riving the students to the examinc

ge entrance

Community Contribution for ¢

Cose Study: The owner of Li Auto vehicles:
Xinjiang

The owner of Li ONE traveled 4,000km from
nd hope to childrn

bringing knowled nin

Li ONE prov pport and by

communities, the owner shared the fantastic

education in Xinjiang for years, thus distribu

to public welfare.
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ESG Key Performance Indicators

Indicators

Environment

Emissians
Voo

msupmneric Mathane
Soot and dust
[ee]

Water pallutart  Ammonio nitmgen
Tatal phosphorus

Tatal ren-hozardous
WIS

Non-hozardous waste

intencity
Hon-hazardous
waste Kitchen waste discharge
Bomestic waste discharge
Recycloble woste:
diachaorge
Tatal hazordous weste
Hazordous waste

Hozordous waste intensity

Totol GHG emissions

GHG emission intensity

. Seape | GHG emi
GHG emissions.

Scope 2 GHG emissions
Tatal GHG emissions

[Produsticon and
maonufoacturing)

Unit

torne

tanne

tonne

tonne

tanne

tanne

tarne

tonne/
RMET0,000

tanne

tanne

torng

tanne

torma
RMB10,000

1oz

jiee)
RMBI0,000

100z

1C0ze

Data in 2022

24.07

m

007

22 87150

0.0051

&39.47

zznet

20,020.42

141432

0.00031

104,733.87

0.023

20,548.98

84,184.89

75,510.98

Datain 2021

8.56

203

1799

1972

0.84

0.06

1713149

0.0063

32050

1,334.00

15,476,99

66835

0.00025

54,882.87

0020

11,038.60

43,844.27

54,882.87

Indicators

GHG emissions

Use of Resources

Energy

Water

Resources

Seape 1 GHG emissians
(Preduction and
mandaciuring)
Scope 2 GHE emissions
(Preduction and
manufacturing]

Total GHG emissions
(Retail stares)

Scope 1 GHG emissions
(Retoil stores)

Scope 2 GHE emissions
(Retail stares)

Comprehansive anergy
cansumption

Comgrehanshe aneny
consumption Intensity

Purchosad electricity
Purchesed heat

Purchasad
nowral gas

Dlesal
Gasoline
Total water consurmgtion

Total water eonsurgtion
intensity

Municipol wotar supphy
Recycled water
Refrigarant

Pocknging matariols for
camglats vohicls
manufacturing
Recycled packaging

materials
for parts and componants

Unit

100

toe

tee) RMB
10,000

kWh

GJ

cubic meter
liter

liter

tonne

tenne/
RME 10,000

tonne
tonne

kg

tonne

tonne

Data in 2022

16,610.47

56,899.71

20,223.69

393850

25,285.19

30,292.98

000s7

139,038,317.08

42,486.75

6,148 369.00

0.00
3,229,765.09
B33334.38
018

758,382.38
74,952.00

B5.40

6,660,00

36163225

Data in 2021

1,038.60

43,544.27

13,079.37

Q0048

53,251,725.00

;

4,068,981.00

750000
1,006,868.00
506,079.00
019

464,079.00
4Z,000.00

.00

376857

376957

Indicotors.

Social

Number of empleyees and breakdewn
Tatol number of employees

Total numiberaf  Male

gender
Full-tirme
Tatal number af
employees by Part-tima
Employment type
Outsourced
29 ond balow
Total rumiber af
by ope 301039
ol
A and above
R&D
Sales and maorkating
Nurriger of
by profession General and administrotive
managerment
category services
Production
Blue-tallar employees
Nurniber of

employees by job White-collar employees
type

Stona employees

Master and above

Number-of Undergraduate
employees by
educational Junier college
background
Senior high school and
below

Unit

pesen

persen

person
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Indicators

Murnber of
employeas by
geographical
region

Percentoge of
employeas by
rank and gendar

Mumber of
amployess by
function ond
gender

Chinese manland
Heng Kong SAR, Mesou
SAR and Tarwan
Owverseas

Senior manogemant

Fercenage of moke
ermployees in sénior
management

Percentage of female
employees In senior
management

Middie management

Percentage of male
emplovees in middle
managamant

Percentage of female
ernployees in middle
mansgenent

Junior monagement

Percentage of make
employees injunior
manogameant

Percantage of male:
ermployees in funior
management

General employees

Totol number of fermale:
employees in senior
manogement positions.
ond revenue-generating
functions

Prapartion of female
in senior managament
positions

in revenue-generoting
functions

Total number of fernale.

Unit
person

person

persan

empioyees in STEM-reloted  person

pusitions

Prepartion of female

employees in STEM-related %

positians

Datain 2022
19,359

n

5.26

142

Bh62

1338

160

.38

19,075

526

15.42

Datain 2021

11,873

1,743

Indicatars

Disabled emplovees

lorage P ethric minorey smployees
Overssos employees

New ermployee hires

Employee turnover and rate

Tated ernployee furnower
Totol amployes
turnover and e

Employae tumover rote

Employes Male
turnover rate by
gender Femole
29 and below
Employes
tumover rate by 3010 39
ope
40 ond above
Blue-collor employees
Employes

tumnover rate by White-collor employees
fobtype
Store employess.

Chinese mainlond
Emplayee
turnover rate by Hong Keng SAR, Macou
guographical SAR and Taiwan
regian

QOverszos

Senior management

Employes Middle manogement
turnover rate by
rank Juniar managament

Ganerol employeas

Unit

person

parson

parson

person

person

Data in 2022

W5

1,086

26

13,736

528

EIEH]

3269

3826

2656

5022

1739

3290

3207

154

0.53

15.49

750

na

Data in 2021

n

3223

27

28

2z

36

2

a7

a3

Indicotors.

Employees’ development and training

Tatal rumbar of employees troined

Parcentage of
employess trained
by gender

Percentage of
emgloyess trained
oy rank

Tatal taining
naurs by gender

Average troining

hours by gender

Tatal taining
haurs by renk

Awerage tralning
naurs by rank

Malz

Female

Directors.

SENOF MENOgEment

Middle monsgement

Junior monagement

Generol employees

Male

Fermale

Male

Female

Serior menogement

Middle monagerent

Junice management

Generd emphoyees

Senicr manogement

Middle managament

Junios monagement

Ganaral employees

Unit

hour

hour
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Indicators
Oecupational health and safety

Fatalities due ta production
occidents

Employee work-reloted
Injury rate
Loss due to
wark-related
injuries

werk-related injury
occidants

Lost days due to wark
injurias

Injury rate per million man-
haurs

Hegith checkup  FPIovee heslth chackup
coverage rate

Annual sofety training

SES50NS

Safety training

Annual aumber of

ernployee trained on salety

Salaty inspections
Safety inspection
Salety harord inspections

Arawol production safety occidant
Supply chain management
Total number of suppliars
Herth Ching
Central Ching
South Ching
Totol number of  Eost Ching
suppliers
by geographical  Mertheast Ching
e Morthwest Ching

Hong Kong SAR, Mazou
SAR ond Tafwan

Oversens

peaple

number

number

Number

Datain 2022

06,5

809

e

26

122,614

n

1,947

35

S

Datain 2021

3

0o

296

1,351

Indicatars

Parcentoge of first-tier
suppliers cartfied
0 IATF 16949

Supplier accnss
Parcentoge of suppliers.
signed integrity
agreaments and relsvant
clouses

Product quality and safety

Training an quelity and
safety

Guality and safety Training on quality and

trmining safety
Quality ond safety training
for all employeas.

Product R&D
Total RAD expenditures

Fatant Cumulative number of

tssued patents
Cumulative number of

Trade mark marke regisere
Cumulative number of

Capyright registared copyrights for
softwore

Training on Tatal sessicns

the protection

of intellectual

progerty rights Tatal heurs

Infarmation security monogemant

Total sessions of information
sacurity training

Totol number of dota breach incidents
Product ond custemer services

Total sessions of alter-

Afer-salss soles service training

SEVIER IOINING rorc hour of ates-sales

service franing

Unit

parson

session

hour

RMB billion

sagion

hour

session

number

sassion

hour

Data in 2022

0o

27546

28,000

678

2061

i3

a0

o264

Data in 2021 Indicotors. Unit
After-soles Pre-job training rate of new %
‘sanvice training hiras.
100
Satisfoction .
e Satisfiad customers. £
Total complaints !
o0 Handlirg rate of %
User complaint Lser complainis
Resalved rate of I
user complairts
/ Philanthropy
Charitoble .
B eontibutions Total armeunt RME million
‘Governance
2978
Anti-corruption
Employee integrity fraining  session
329
Tu!u!cnv‘uywirltwji“f hour
107 training
Coverage of employes x
49:4(in Chinal Integrity training
i Intearity training for .
tegrity roining et session
51
Tutal integrity training for [t
management
n
Director integrity roining  session
22
Total director integrity
training Ly
Corruption
8 cases corcluded —
]
a7
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

ital, Sociol and Gi

ice Indicators

Environment

Al
Emisslons

A2
Usa of
Resources

Generol Disclosure

Infermation on:

(0] the policies; and

{b) complionca with relevant laws and regulations that
have @ sigificant impoct an the issuer relating to gir and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into watar and
land, and generation of hazard) d nen-h

woste.

A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions
date.

A1.2 Totol greanhouse gas emissions (in tannes) and,
where oppropriate, imensity [e.g. per unit of production
wolume, per facility.

A3 Total hazordous waste produced lin tonnes) and,
whese: appeopriote, intensity le.o. per unit of produstion
wolume, pes Tacility).

A1 Total nan-hozordous woste produced (n tarnesh
and, where appropriota, intensity la.q. per unit of
procuction volume, par facility]

A15 Description of measures 1o mitigate emissions and
results achieved.

A6 Description of how hazardous and non-hozordous
handled, reduction nitiati
achieved.

Generol Disclasura Policies on the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and ather row
materiols

A2 Direct endfor indirest energy sonssmption by typs:
(g, electricity, gas or oill in totol, kWh in’ 000s) and
intensity (e, per unit of proguction vohume, per facility

AZZ Tatal water consumption and intensity le.q, pes unit
of production valume, per fecilty)

AZ.3 Description of enargy use efficiency initiatives ond
results achieved.

AZ.4 Description of whether there s any sue in sourcing
water that is fit for pupose, water efficiancy initiatives
and results achievad.

Page

]

]
F75

P75

Pé2-hd

P&S-08

P75
P&0G&
Pis-bb

Pés

Environmental, Seciol and Governance Indicators

Environment

issal, 4

Az A2.5 Total packaging matenal used for finished products
Use of [in tonnes) and, if opplicable, with reference to per unit
Resourcas. produced.
‘General Disclosure
“a Falicies on minimising the issuer’ s significant impacts
The on the envirenment and natural resources.
Erwircnment
:r: Hatural A3 Description of the significant impocts of activities on
gl the and natursl d the acti
token 1o manoge them.
‘General Disclosure
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climataraloted issues which hove impactad, and those
A4 which may impact, the issuer.
Climate
Change
A4.1 Description of the significant ¢ lated issuos
which hawe impacted, and thase which moy impact, the
issuer, and the actions taken o manage them,
‘Generol Disclosure
Informaticn or
[a) the palicies; and
(k) complianee with relevant lows and regulations
that heve o significont impoct o the issuer reloting to
ion and dis i e
Bl working hours, rest periods, equal cppartunity, diversity,
Empl i-cliscrimination, ond other benefits and welfore,
B Tetal workforce by gender, employment type, oge
graup and gesgraphical region.
81.2 Employes turnover rate by gender, age graup and
geographical region.
General Disclosure
Information on:
) the policies; and
(5] compliance with relevant lows and regulotions
Ezcd . that have a significant irmpact on the issuer relating to
l
working
ond Safaty arrployees lram oecupational hazards.

B2.1 Mumber and rate of work-related fotalities

PI5

Poz

PB2-72

PEB-&0

PSR-60

Pad-47

Pas

pas

PE3-54

PES

Enviranmental, Social and Governance Indicators

B2.2 Lost days due to worl
B2
Health B2.3 Description of oceup
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

For the Year Ended December 31,
2021 2022 Change (%)
(RMB in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues 27,009,779 45,286,816 67.7%
Gross profit 5,761,454 8,790,456 52.6%
Loss from operations (1,017,320) (3,654,877) 259.3%
Loss before income tax (152,812) (2,159,355) N/A
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348) N/A
Comprehensive loss attributable to the

ordinary shareholders of Li Auto Inc. (838,142) (684,454) (18.3%)

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:
Non-GAAP income/(loss) from operations 84,036 (1,601,712) N/A
Non-GAAP net income 779,901 20,817 (97.3%)

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The Company uses Non-GAAP financial measures, such as Non-GAAP income/loss from operations and Non-GAAP net income/
loss, in evaluating its operating results and for financial and operational decision-making purposes. By excluding the impact
of share-based compensation expenses, the Company believes that the Non-GAAP financial measures help identify underlying
trends in its business and enhance the overall understanding of the Company’s past performance and future prospects. The
Company also believes that the Non-GAAP financial measures allow for greater visibility with respect to key metrics used by

the Company’s management in its financial and operational decision-making.

The Non-GAAP financial measures are not presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP and may be different from Non-GAAP
methods of accounting and reporting used by other companies. The Non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as
analytical tools and when assessing the Company’s operating performance, investors should not consider them in isolation,
or as a substitute for net loss or other consolidated statements of comprehensive loss data prepared in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. The Company encourages investors and others to review its financial information in its entirety and not rely on a single

financial measure.

The Company mitigates these limitations by reconciling the Non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable U.S. GAAP

performance measures, all of which should be considered when evaluating the Company’s performance.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

The following table sets forth unaudited reconciliation of GAAP and non-GAAP results for the period indicated.

2021

For the Year Ended, December 31,

2022

(RMB in thousands)

Loss from operations (1,017,320) (3,654,877)
Share-based compensation expenses 1,101,356 2,053,165
Non-GAAP income/(loss) from operations 84,036 (1,601,712)
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348)
Share-based compensation expenses 1,101,356 2,053,165
Non-GAAP net income 779,901 20,817
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD

In 2022, we successfully executed our growth strategy, solidifying our leadership in the family SUV market. In addition, we
holistically strengthened our business across R&D, supply chain, and direct sales and servicing network.

We achieved solid financial and operating results against the significant industry-wide supply chain challenges posed by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Thanks to the strength of our products and our execution excellence, our total deliveries in 2022 increased
by 47.2% year over year to 133,246 vehicles and our total revenues amounted to RMB45.3 billion, representing a 67.7% year-
over-year increase. Our cumulative deliveries reached 257,334 vehicles as of December 31, 2022.

Products
We remain dedicated to our mission: “Create a Mobile Home, Create Happiness” (8l BB E > A% F4H A K). Leveraging
advanced technologies, we created value for our users and their families by offering a line-up of compelling products and

services.

In 2022, we expanded our model lineup to serve the needs of more families. We introduced Li L9, our six-seat flagship family
SUV, on June 21, 2022. We also launched Li L8, a six-seat premium family SUV that succeeded Li ONE on September 30,
2022, with two trim levels, Pro and Max. Both Li L9 and Li L8 employ our self-developed all-wheel drive range extension
system and Li Magic Carpet air suspension, providing excellent drivability with a CLTC range of 1,315 kilometers and a WLTC
range of 1,100 kilometers. They enable acceleration from 0 to 100 km/h in 5.3 and 5.5 seconds, respectively. Li L9 adopts
our autonomous driving system Li AD Max and smart space system SS Max. Li L8’s Pro and Max trims are equipped with Li
AD Pro and Li AD Max, and SS Pro and SS Max, respectively. Li L9 is priced at RMB459,800. Li L8 Pro and Li L8 Max are
priced at RMB359,800 and RMB399,800 respectively.

Li L9 has dominated the monthly full-size SUV sales in China since September 2022, and Li L8 has defended the title of sales
champion among large SUVs in China following Li ONE’s phenomenal performance, securing it in December 2022. We also
ranked first in both China’s full-size and large SUV markets for the full year of 2022. With our vehicles emerging among the
top choices of premium SUVs for families, we have solidified our position in the RMB300,000 to RMB500,000 price segment.

In 2022, we continued to demonstrate our strong commitment to vehicle safety. According to the vehicle safety evaluation
results released in November 2022 by the China Insurance Automotive Safety Index, or C-IASI, Li L9 obtained the G rating,
the highest safety rating, in three out of four evaluation categories: occupant safety, pedestrian safety, and assistance safety. In
the category of crashworthiness and repair economy, Li L9 received an M rating, one of the top results received by premium
vehicles tested by C-IASI since 2017. In addition, it was the first domestic full-size SUV tested for 25% frontal offset impact

on both the driver and passenger sides and achieved the G rating for both tests.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Supply Chain

Supply chain planning is not only a key priority for the resilience of our business but also a source of our competitive advantage.
As such, in 2022 we worked closely with our supply chain partners to strengthen win-win relationships. At the same time, we
continued with our prudent approach of optimizing our supply network through vertical extension by increasing our in-house
development and manufacturing capabilities for the key components of EREVs and BEVs. These both aim at meaningfully
decreasing supply chain uncertainty while ensuring that we can rapidly deploy key technologies and support overall product
quality.

In the third quarter of 2022, construction of the Li Auto Power Semiconductor R&D and Manufacturing Base (the
“Semiconductor Base”) commenced in the high-tech zone of Suzhou, Jiangsu province. The Semiconductor Base is being
built by Suzhou Sike Semiconductor (#F M W EL ) a company established by Li Auto and Hunan Sanan Semiconductor
(B =421 4. Tt will focus on in-house research and development and production of automotive-grade power modules
based on the third-generation semiconductor material, silicon carbide (SiC). The power module is a core component of our
self-developed 800-volt electric drive system. This marks a key milestone in our ongoing enhancement of its self-development
capabilities and its extension along the value chain into next-generation high-voltage electric drive technology.

Direct Sales and Servicing Network

We deploy our direct sales and services in places with strong foot traffic, while diversifying our locations to reach more varied
target users. While providing purchase, delivery and service experiences, our direct sales and servicing network also allows
us to digitalize our customer interactions and gain a gateway to users’ preferences and pain points. In 2022, we focused on
upgrading our existing retail stores to support multiple models, and continued to expand our sales and servicing network as
well as enhance our brand awareness in order to bolster our commercial capabilities and accelerate our growth. These efforts
have laid a solid foundation to support our sales and servicing and to prepare us for the launch of more models down the
road. Going forward, we will continue to seek new ways to improve our retail distribution through additional locations and

innovative sales strategies.

As of December 31, 2022, we had 288 retail stores in 121 cities, as well as 318 servicing centers and Li Auto-authorized body

and paint shops operating in 223 cities.

Manufacturing
We currently have a manufacturing base in Changzhou, China, and are actively expanding our production capacity by building

our Beijing manufacturing base to serve as an important manufacturing facility.

Intelligent manufacturing is another area in which we excelled in 2022. Our fully self-developed manufacturing management
software, Li-MOS, greatly improved production efficiency and quality with precision control throughout the entire automotive
manufacturing process. We also used vision sensors and algorithms to precisely control the workflow of hardware equipment

in order to realize flexible production and intelligent inspection.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Research and Development

R&D continues to be a core commitment at Li Auto as we seek to maximize our value proposition to users’ families, differentiate
our vehicles, and become a long-term world leader in our industry. On that basis, in 2022 we continued to direct our resources
thoughtfully across products, platforms, and systems. In 2022, our R&D spending accounted for 15.0% of our total revenues,
and our R&D personnel reached 4,838 as of December 31, 2022.

We have achieved significant progress in our smart space and autonomous driving R&D. Our smart in-car voice assistant,
Li Xiang Tong Xue, has evolved with a new generation device-cloud integrated architecture, featuring our self-developed
inference engine for in-car scenarios — LisaRT. It provides solid support for the in-car deployment of more powerful and
complex algorithms. We also have made significant progress in the speech- and vision-related applications of its self-developed
algorithms. On the speech side, its innovative MIMO-NET algorithm can accurately isolate different human voices in multiple
zones. Aided by our self-developed voice recognition algorithm, MSE-NET, Li Xiang Tong Xue’s activation and recognition
accuracy both reached 98% in vehicle field testing. These rates reached over 90% under the three key scenarios of high noise,
low voices, voice commands from children, which are viewed as more challenging issues facing the industry. On the vision side,
our self-developed MVS-NET algorithm can realize accurate gesture recognition for all occupants. Combined with innovative

gesture wakeup technology, it helps achieve easier interactions through gestures in a more natural way.

In terms of autonomous driving, we adopted the fusion BEV algorithm framework jointly proposed by Tsinghua University,
MIT, and us, which can be flexibly deployed with Li AD Max and Li AD Pro’s different hardware combinations. For path
planning and tracking control, our self-developed highway NOA prediction algorithm enables comfortable automatic highway
NOA lane changes and a smooth acceleration and deceleration experience. We also created the industry’s first AEB function
with LIDAR applications on Li AD Max and extended the LIDAR algorithms’ safety scenarios from major traffic participants

such as vehicles, cyclists, and pedestrians to irregular obstacles, including special-shaped vehicles, as well as night scenes.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
In September 2022, we received an “AA” rating from MSCI ESG Research for the second consecutive year, one of the highest
MSCI ESG ratings among automakers worldwide. It demonstrates our excellence in making positive environmental and social

impacts through our sound governance structure and dedication to sustainable development.

The US ATM Offering
On June 28, 2022, we announced an at-the-market offering program (the “ATM Offering”) to sell up to US$2,000,000,000 of
American depositary shares (the “ADSs”), each representing two Class A Ordinary Shares.

As of December 31, 2022, we had sold 9,431,282 ADSs representing 18,862,564 Class A ordinary shares under the ATM
Offering raising gross proceeds of US$366.5 million and net proceeds of approximately US$360.5 million, respectively, with
the selling price ranging from US$38.00 per ADS to US$39.63 per ADS and average net selling price of US$38.86 per ADS. As
disclosed in the announcement and the listing document of the Company dated June 29, 2022, we intend to use the net proceeds
from the ATM Offering for (i) research and development of next-generation electric vehicle technologies including technologies
for BEVs, smart cabin, and autonomous driving, (ii) development and manufacture of future platforms and car models, and (iii)
working capital needs and general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2022, we have utilized approximately 45.3% of the
net proceeds for the purpose described above. To the extent that the net proceeds of the ATM Offering are not immediately

required for the above described purposes, we may hold such funds in bank deposits at authorized financial institutions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Delivery Updates

In January 2023, we delivered 15,141 vehicles, representing a 23.4% increase from January 2022. In February 2023, we
delivered 16,620 vehicles, representing a 97.5% increase from February 2022. In March 2023, we delivered 20,823 vehicles,
surpassing the 20,000 monthly delivery mark again and representing an increase of 88.7% from March 2022. As of March 31,
2023, we had 299 retail stores covering 123 cities, in addition to 318 servicing centers and Li Auto-authorized body and paint
shops operating in 223 cities.

Li L7

On February 8, 2023, we officially launched Li L7, a five-seat flagship family SUV. Li L7 features an exceptional second-row
space, a comfortable interior, and numerous flagship configurations. Supported by our self-developed all-wheel drive range
extension system, it boasts a CLTC range of 1,315 kilometers and a WLTC range of 1,100 kilometers, as well as acceleration
from 0 to 100 km/h in 5.3 seconds. With evolving smart space and autonomous driving systems, Li L7 creates an increasingly
intelligent home for users’ families. Li L7 is available in three trims, Air, Pro, and Max. Li L7 Air comes standard with the
autonomous driving system Li AD Pro and the smart space system SS Pro and is equipped with a continuous damping control
system. Li L7 Pro and Li L7 Max employ Li Magic Carpet air suspension and are equipped with Li AD Pro and Li AD Max,
and SS Pro and SS Max, respectively. Li L7’s three trims, Air, Pro, and Max are priced at RMB319,800, RMB339,800, and
RMB379,800, respectively.

Alongside the Li L7 Air trim release, we have added Li L8 Air to our model lineup. Li L8 Air is equipped with the same self-
developed all-wheel drive range extension system and continuous damping control system. It comes standard with Li AD Pro
and SS Pro at a retail price of RMB339,800. Following the release of Li L7 and Li L8 Air, we have an expanded selection of
models. Our existing Li L-Series' product lineup comprises five- and six-seat premium SUVs with various levels of smartness
and choices of configurations for different price points within the RMB300,000 to RMB500,000 range, allowing us to satisfy
the diverse needs of different users’ families.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With Li L9 and Li L8’s continued strong performance and the addition of Li L7 to our compelling line-up, we expect to gradually
gain market share in the family SUV segment throughout 2023.

Given the robust demand for our vehicles and our model launch roadmap, we plan to further expand our sales network in 2023.
We will also continue deploying our charging network to optimize charging experience for our users and support the launch
of our first HPC BEV model in the future.

In 2023, we will remain committed to investing in R&D and our organization effectiveness and scale to accelerate our flywheel
for company development. As always, we will put user value first and strive to continue building products that exceed their
needs.

! Li L-Series represents the products of Li L9, Li L8, and Li L7, while the Li L-Series mentioned in the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” section represents the products of Li L9 and Li L8 as we officially launched Li L7 in 2023 and there was no delivery
and revenue from Li L7 in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
(RMB in thousands)

Revenues:

Vehicle sales 26,128,469 44,106,434

Other sales and services 881,310 1,180,382
Total revenues 27,009,779 45,286,816
Cost of sales:

Vehicle sales (20,755,578) (35,688,343)

Other sales and services (492,747) (808,017)
Total cost of sales (21,248,325) (36,496,360)
Gross profit 5,761,454 8,790,456
Operating expenses:

Research and development (3,286,389) (6,780,032)

Selling, general and administrative (3,492,385) (5,665,301)
Total operating expenses (6,778,774) (12,445,333)
Loss from operations (1,017,320) (3,654,877)
Other (expense)/income

Interest expense (63,244) (106,340)

Interest income and investment income, net 740,432 976,229

Others, net 187,320 625,633
Loss before income tax expense (152,812) (2,159,355)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (168,643) 127,007
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348)

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests - (20,133)
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of Li Auto Inc. (321,455) (2,012,215)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax (516,687) 1,327,761
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income (516,687) 1,327,761
Total comprehensive loss (838,142) (704,587)

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests - (20,133)
Comprehensive loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of Li Auto Inc. (838,142) (684,454)
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REVENUE

Total revenue increased by 67.7% from RMB27.01 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB45.29 billion for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Revenue from vehicle sales increased by 68.8% from RMB26.13 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB44.11
billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increase in vehicle deliveries, as well as higher
average selling price due to our delivery of Li L-Series starting from the third quarter of 2022.

Revenue from other sales and services increased by 33.9% from RMB881.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
to RMBI1.18 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased sales of charging stalls,
accessories and services in line with higher accumulated vehicle sales, partially offset by the sales of automotive regulatory
credits in 2021, which did not recur in 2022.

COST OF SALES

Cost of sales increased by 71.8% from RMB21.25 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB36.50 billion for the
year ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly driven by the increase in vehicle deliveries, as well as the higher average

cost of sales due to our delivery of Li L-Series starting from the third quarter of 2022.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, gross profit increased by 52.6% from RMBS5.76 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMBS.79 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in gross margin from 21.3% for the year ended December
31, 2021 to 19.4% for the year ended December 31, 2022 was mainly driven by the decrease of vehicle margin.

Vehicle margin decreased from 20.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 19.1% for the year ended December 31, 2022
primarily driven by the inventory provision and losses on purchase commitments related to Li ONE in 2022, partially offset

by higher vehicle margin realized on the Li L-Series with deliveries starting from the third quarter of 2022.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development expenses increased by 106.3% from RMB3.29 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB6.78 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased employee compensation as a

result of growing number of staff, as well as the increased costs associated with new products and technologies developments.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 62.2% from RMB3.49 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021
to RMB5.67 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased employee compensation as
a result of growing number of staff, as well as the increased rental expenses associated with the expansion of the Company’s

sales and servicing network.

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

As a result of the foregoing, loss from operations increased by 259.3% from RMB1.02 billion for the year ended December
31, 2021 to RMB3.65 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022.



ANNUAL REPORT 2022 11

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense increased by 68.1% from RMB63.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB106.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased principal of the borrowings in 2022.

INTEREST INCOME AND INVESTMENT INCOME, NET

Interest income and investment income, net increased by 31.8% from RMB740.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
to RMB976.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased cash position in 2022.

OTHERS, NET

Others, net increased by 234.0% from RMB187.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB625.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the increased VAT refunds and reimbursement paid to us by the
depositary of our ADS program.

NET LOSS

As a result of the foregoing, net loss increased by 532.2% from RMB321.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB2.03 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND SOURCE OF FUNDING AND BORROWING

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we funded our cash requirements principally through cash generated from our
operations, proceeds from borrowings and proceeds from share issuance through an ATM Offering. Details of the ATM Offering
have been disclosed in the section headed “BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK - The US ATM Offering” of this annual
report. Our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and short-term investments increased by 16.5% from
RMB50.16 billion as of December 31, 2021 to RMB58.45 billion as of December 31, 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not make or hold any significant investments during the year ended December 31, 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated entities or associated

companies during the year ended December 31, 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at December 31, 2022, we pledged a restricted deposit of RMB1.94 billion, compared with RMB2.64 billion as of December

31, 2021. We also had secured certain production equipment for borrowings as of December 31, 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSET

The Group did not have detailed future plans for material investments or capital assets as at December 31, 2022.
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GEARING RATIO

As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s gearing ratio (i.e. total liabilities divided by total assets, in percentage) was 47.8%
(as at December 31, 2021: 33.6%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Our expenditures are mainly denominated in Renminbi and, therefore, we are exposed to risks related to movements between
Renminbi and U.S. dollars. Our exposure to U.S. dollars exchange rate fluctuation arises from the Renminbi-denominated cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and short-term investments held by us and our subsidiaries whose functional
currency is U.S. dollars, and the U.S. dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and short
term investments held by our subsidiaries whose functional currency is Renminbi. We may enter into hedging transactions in

an effort to reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk when we deem appropriate.

To the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars or other currencies into Renminbi for our operations, appreciation of Renminbi
against U.S. dollars would have an adverse effect on the Renminbi amount we receive from the conversion. Conversely, if we
decide to convert Renminbi into U.S. dollars or other currency for the purpose of making payments to suppliers or for dividends
on our Class A Ordinary Shares or ADSs or for other business purposes, appreciation of U.S. dollars against Renminbi would

have a negative effect on the U.S. dollar amounts available to us.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As of December 31, 2022, capital commitment of the Company was RMB4.28 billion (as of December 31, 2021: RMB2.92
billion), mainly on construction and purchase of production facilities, equipment and tooling.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

As at December 31, 2022, the Company had a total of 19,396 employees. The following table sets forth the total number of
employees by function as of December 31, 2022:

As of

December 31,

Function 2022
Research and Development 4,838
Production 4,318
Sales and Marketing 9,199
General and Administrative 1,041
Total 19,396

We have also adopted the 2019 Plan, the 2020 Plan and the 2021 Plan.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiang (Z=48)

Mr. SHEN Yanan (IL.5i4#) (resigned with effect from January 1, 2023)
Mr. LI Tie (ZE8)

Mr. MA Donghui (% % ¥) (appointed with effect from January I, 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Xing (+Bl)
Mr. Fan Zheng (¥ )

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhao Honggiang (# 7 )

Mr. Jiang Zhenyu (5% F)

Prof. Xiao Xing (H £)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 33
of this annual report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on April 28, 2017 as an exempted limited liability
company. The Company’s Class A Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on August 12, 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal businesses of the Company’s subsidiaries are
research and development, sales and after sales management, manufacturing of automobile and technology development and
corporate management services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2022 is
set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Substantially all of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and all of the Company’s revenue and operating profits
are derived from the PRC during the Reporting Period. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on geographical locations is
provided.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group, as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the
Company’s business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company, particulars of important events
affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year, an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business, an analysis of the Group’s financial performance and the Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders
who have a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set out in the “Business review” and
“Management discussion and analysis” on pages 9 to 12 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’
report. Events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is set out in “Recent developments
after the Reporting Period” in “Business review”.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our business involves certain risks as set out in the section headed “Risk factors” in the Prospectus and the Form 20-F for
the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. The following list is a
summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are beyond its control.

. we have a limited operating history and face significant challenges as a new entrant into our industry.

. our ability to develop, manufacture, and deliver automobiles of high quality and appeal to users, on schedule, and on a

large scale is unproven and still evolving.

. we currently and in the foreseeable future depend on revenues generated from a limited number of vehicle models.

. we are subject to risks associated with EREVs.

. we had negative net cash flows from operations in the past and have not been profitable, which may continue in the
future.

. our vehicles may not perform in line with user expectations and may contain defects.

. we may not be successful in the highly competitive China automotive market.

. our research and development efforts may not yield the results as expected.

. we could experience disruptions in supply of raw materials or components used in our vehicles from our third-party

suppliers, some of which are our single-source suppliers for the components they supply.

. our business is subject to various evolving PRC laws and regulations regarding data privacy and cybersecurity. Failure
of cybersecurity and data privacy concerns could subject us to penalties, damage our reputation and brand, and harm

our business and results of operations.

. the PCAOB had historically been unable to inspect our auditor in relation to their audit work performed for our financial
statements and the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our auditor in the past has deprived our investors

with the benefits of such inspections.
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. our ADSs may be prohibited from trading in the United States under the HFCAA in the future if the PCAOB is unable
to inspect or investigate completely auditors located in China. The delisting of the ADSs, or the threat of their being
delisted, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. On December 16, 2021, the PCAOB issued
the HFCAA Determination Report, according to which our auditor is subject to the determinations that the PCAOB was

unable to inspect or investigate completely.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development, protecting the
environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such are set out in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company (the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”) published on the same

date as this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and as may be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, the Group

has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, save as disclosed in this annual report, no related party transaction disclosed
in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements falls under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing

connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for which disclosure is required.

PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Intellectual property licensing and provision of related technical support services

On June 3, 2021, Beijing Sankuai Online Technology Co., Ltd. (At = TR7E 5B A FRA Fl) (“Beijing Sankuai Online™) and
Beijing CHJ (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into an agreement (the “IP Licensing Agreement”) pursuant to
which Beijing CHJ granted a non-exclusive license to Beijing Sankuai Online during the term of the IP License Agreement to
use its intellectual properties and related information relating to a specific smart electric vehicle model (the “Licensed IP”; the
said specific smart electric vehicle model, the “SEV model”), including to manufacture, use, sell and lease products produced
from the Licensed IP and to further develop intellectual properties or products based on the Licensed IP; Beijing CHJ shall
also provide related technical support services (such as review of whole-vehicle and in-car electronics system design plans)
to Beijing Sankuai Online. The Licensed IP include intellectual properties such as the whole-vehicle design plan, mold and
tooling and the design plans of vehicle parts and related information such as testing reports, functionality analyses and supplier

information of certain vehicle parts, all in respect of the SEV model.
Beijing Sankuai Online is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Meituan, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Further details of the transactions under the IP Licensing Agreement are set out in the Prospectus.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, no transaction was carried out under the IP Licensing Agreement.
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Contractual Arrangements

Background to the Contractual Arrangements

During the Reporting Period, we conducted our value-added telecommunication services, on-ground mobile surveying, radio
and television production and operation and operation of commercial internet culture activities (the “Relevant Businesses”)
through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC as PRC Laws, or their implementation by relevant government
authorities, generally prohibit or restrict foreign ownership in the Relevant Businesses. In order to comply with such laws,
while availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of our operations, we
control our Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual Arrangements entered into in April 2021. Hence, during
the Reporting Period we did not directly own any equity interest in our Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements, we have effective control over the financial and operational policies of our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and are entitled to all the economic benefits derived from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ operations. During
the Reporting Period, the revenue contribution of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities accounted for 0% of our Group’s total
revenue (2021: 23.3%).

The Consolidated Affiliated Entities that were subject to the foreign ownership restrictions during the Reporting Period are
described herein and as set out in the Prospectus.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and actions taken to mitigate the risks
We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on
pages 88 to 94 of the Prospectus.

. If the PRC government deems that our contractual arrangements with our VIEs do not comply with PRC regulatory
restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if these regulations or the interpretation of existing
regulations change in the future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in those

operations.

. We rely on contractual arrangements with our VIEs and their respective shareholders to exercise control over our
business, which may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing operational control.

. Our ability to enforce the equity pledge agreements between us and our VIEs’ shareholders may be subject to limitations

based on PRC laws and regulations.

. If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of our VIE, the ownership transfer may subject us to
certain limitations and substantial costs.

. The registered shareholders of our VIEs may have potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and

adversely affect our business and financial condition.

. Our contractual arrangements with our VIEs may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and they may
determine that we or our VIEs owe additional taxes, which could negatively affect our financial condition and the value
of your investment.

. We may lose the ability to use and benefit from assets held by our VIEs that are material to the operation of our business
if either of our VIEs goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The structuring and implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, including the detailed terms of the Contractual
Arrangements, as discussed herein, is designed to mitigate these risks.
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Qualification requirements under the FITE Regulations

On December 11, 2001, the State Council promulgated the FITE Regulations, which were amended on September 10, 2008,
February 6, 2016 and April 7, 2022. According to the newly amended FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed
to hold more than 50% of the equity interests in a company providing value-added telecommunications services, including
Internet content provision services. The newly amended FITE Regulations which became effective on May 1, 2022 removed
the Qualification Requirements for major foreign investors that hold equity interest in PRC companies conducting value-added
telecommunication business set out in the previous FITE Regulations. Beijing CLX, a Consolidated Affiliated Entity of the
Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing CHJ, one of the VIEs, operates the official website and the Li Auto App of
the Company, through which the Company provides certain paid membership and other paid premium services to the owners of
the vehicles manufactured by the Company. The said paid services constitute commercial value-added telecom business under
the applicable PRC laws and thus a value-added telecommunication business operation license (the “ICP License”) is required.
The offer of paid membership and other paid premium services is conducted through and embedded in the Company’s official
website and the Li Auto App and therefore is inseparable from the operation of the website and the App. Under the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (2021 Version), radio and television program
production and operation of commercial internet culture activities are “prohibited” businesses for which foreign investment is
not permitted. Beijing CLX creates and publishes video contents through the Company’s official website, the Li Auto App and
its WeChat mini program for marketing and promotional purposes. Beijing CLX has obtained a License for Production and
Operation of Radio and TV Programs and an Internet Culture Operating License as required by PRC laws. The creation and
publication of video content is inseparable from each other and from the operation of the Company’s official website and the
Li Auto App. Further, as set out above, the offer of paid membership and other paid premium services is conducted through
and embedded in the Company’s official website and the Li Auto App and therefore is inseparable from the operation of the
website and the App. Beijing CLX, being the entity licensed with the ICP License, the License for Production and Operation

of Radio and TV Programs and the Internet Culture Operating License, carries out these said workstreams.

According to our consultations with an officer of the MIIT in July 2021, the officer confirmed that in the case of our Company,
the MIIT would not issue an ICP License to our Consolidated Affiliated Entity if it becomes a foreign investment entity and
its foreign investor meets the Qualification Requirements. As confirmed by our PRC Legal Advisor, (i) the MIIT is the issuing
authority for applications of ICP licenses by Sino-foreign equity joint ventures and wholly-owned foreign investment entities;
and (i1) the official duties of the interviewed official include the formulation of regulatory policies in, and the regulation of,
value-added telecommunication services (including the regulatory policies on applications for ICP licenses from Sino-foreign
equity joint ventures and wholly-owned foreign investment entities) in the PRC. In light of the foregoing, our PRC Legal Advisor
is of the view that the officer interviewed is a competent person to give the above confirmation. On the basis of the above, we
are of the view that as of the Latest Practicable Date, the Contractual Arrangements are narrowly tailored and we are therefore
required to carry out our value-added telecommunication services through the Contractual Arrangements.

We will make periodic inquiries to relevant PRC government authorities to understand any new regulatory development and
continuously assess our business conducted through the Contractual Arrangements, with a view to unwinding the Contractual
Arrangements wholly or partially as and when practicable and permissible under the PRC laws. We will closely monitor and
assess any development of PRC laws and regulations, and will, as applicable and when necessary, disclose any updates to our

plans in response to the regulatory developments in our annual and interim reports to inform Shareholders and other investors.

Further details of the Contractual Arrangements, the risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements, the relevant PRC laws and

regulations and the material terms of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the Prospectus.

17




18

LI AUTO INC.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Apart from the above, there were no other new Contractual Arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced during the
financial year ended December 31, 2022. Save as disclosed above or in the Prospectus, there was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, none of the Contractual Arrangements had been terminated as none of the restrictions

that led to the adoption of the contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

The total revenue and net assets derived from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities that are subject to the Contractual
Arrangements is approximately RMB7.2 billion and RMB4.7 billion as of December 31, 2022 and approximately RMB28.6
billion and RMB3.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively.

SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL TERMS OF THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements

Under the exclusive consultation and service agreements dated April 21, 2021 between our VIEs and the WFOE (the “Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreements”), in exchange for a service fee, payable quarterly, our VIEs agreed to engage the
WFOE as its exclusive provider of certain consulting and technical services, including but not limited to software technology
development, technology consulting, and technical services required by our VIEs’ business. Under the Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreements, the service fee shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of our VIEs, after the deduction
of any accumulated deficit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in respect of the preceding financial year(s), operating costs,
expenses and taxes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the amount of the services fee according to the
services provided by our VIEs, our VIEs’ operational conditions and development needs. The WFOE shall calculate the service
fee on a quarterly basis and issue a corresponding invoice to our VIEs. Our VIEs must make the payment to the WFOE within

ten business days of receiving such invoice.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of the WFOE, during the term of the Exclusive Consultation and Service
Agreements, with respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements and other matters, our
VIEs shall not accept the same or any similar services provided by any third party. In addition, without the prior consent of
the WFOE, our VIEs shall not enter into any business cooperation with any third party, and the WFOE shall have the right of

first refusal in respect of such business cooperation with our VIEs under the same terms.

The Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements also provide that the WFOE has the exclusive proprietary rights to and
interests in any and all intellectual property rights developed or created by our VIEs during the performance of the Exclusive

Consultation and Service Agreements.

The Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements shall remain effective for a period of ten years unless otherwise terminated
by the WFOE. Upon request by the WFOE, the term of the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements can be renewed
prior to their expiration. The Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements may also be terminated upon mutual agreement
by the WFOE and our VIEs.
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Equity Option Agreements

Under the equity option agreements dated April 21, 2021 among our VIEs, the WFOE and the Registered Shareholders (the
“Equity Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the rights to require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their
equity interests in our VIEs to the WFOE and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time
to time, at the lower of the amount of the Registered Shareholders’ respective paid-in capital in our VIEs and the lowest price
permitted under applicable PRC laws at the time. For full details regarding covenants between the WFOE and the Registered

Shareholders, please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the prospectus.

The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the relevant laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration they receive in the event that the WFOE exercises the options under the Equity Option Agreements

to acquire the equity interests in our VIEs.
The Equity Option Agreements will remain effective for 10 years and can be renewed upon request by the WFOE.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Under the equity pledge agreements dated April 21, 2021 entered into between the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and our
VIEs (the “Equity Pledge Agreements”), the Registered Sharcholders agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in
our VIEs that they own, including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a security interest to guarantee

the performance of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding debts.

The pledge in respect of our VIEs takes effect upon the completion of registration with the relevant administration for market
regulation and shall remain valid until after all the contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders and our VIEs under
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of the Registered Shareholders

and our VIEs under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default (as defined in the Equity Pledge Agreements), the WFOE
shall have the right to require our VIEs’ sharcholders (i.e. the Registered Shareholders) to immediately pay any amount payable
by our VIEs under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements, repay any loans and pay any other due payments, and
the WFOE shall have the right to exercise all such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law and the Equity Pledge
Agreements, including without limitations, being paid in priority with the equity interests based on the monetary valuation that
such equity interests are converted into or from the proceeds from auction or sale of the equity interest upon written notice to
the Registered Shareholders.

The equity pledge in connection with our VIEs has been registered with the relevant PRC governmental authority pursuant to

PRC laws and regulations.
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Powers of Attorney

The Registered Shareholders have executed powers of attorney dated April 21, 2021 (the “Powers of Attorney”). Under the
Powers of Attorney, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably appointed the WFOE and their designated persons (including but
not limited to Directors and their successors and liquidators replacing the Directors but excluding those non-independent or
who may give rise to conflict of interests) as their attorneys-in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right that they have in respect of their equity
interests in our VIEs, including, among others:

(1) to convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of our VIEs;
(1) to file documents with the relevant companies registry;

(iii)  to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s voting rights in accordance with law and the constitutional
documents of our VIEs, including but not limited to the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all of the equity
interests in our VIEs;

(iv)  to execute any and all written resolutions and meeting minutes and to approve the amendments to the articles of

associations in the name and on behalf of such shareholder; and

v) to nominate or appoint the legal representatives, directors, supervisors, general manager and other senior management
of our VIEs.

The Powers of Attorney will remain in force for 10 years. Upon request by the WFOE, each Registered Shareholder shall extend

the term of the Power of Attorney prior to its expiration.

Business Operation Agreement

In additional to the above, the Registered Shareholders of Xindian Information, Xindian Information and the WFOE entered
into a business operation agreement on April 21, 2021 (the “Business Operation Agreement”), pursuant to which Xindian
Information will not take any action that may have a material adverse effect on its assets, businesses, human resources,
rights, obligations, or business operations without prior written consent of the WFOE. Xindian Information and its Registered
Shareholders further agreed to accept and strictly follow the WFOE’s instructions relating to Xindian Information’s daily
operations, financial management, and election of directors appointed by the WFOE. The Registered Shareholders of Xindian
Information agree to transfer any dividends or any other income or interests they receive as the shareholders of Xindian
Information immediately and unconditionally to the WFOE. Unless the WFOE terminates this agreement in advance, the
Business Operation Agreement will remain effective for 10 years and can be renewed upon request by the WFOE prior to its
expiration. Xindian Information and its Registered Shareholders have no right to terminate this agreement unilaterally. Pursuant
to the Business Operation Agreement, each Registered Shareholder of Xindian Information has executed a power of attorney
described above to irrevocably authorize the WFOE to act as his or her attorney — in-fact to exercise all of his or her rights as
a shareholder of Xindian Information.

Listing Rules implications and waivers
For the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected person”, the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities are treated as our Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and its directors, chief executives or substantial

shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) and their respective associates are treated as our Company’s “connected persons.”
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The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions associated
with the Contractual Arrangements are expected to be more than 5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to the reporting,

annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated therein are fundamental to our legal structure and business operations. Our Directors also believe that
our structure, whereby the financial results of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities are consolidated into our financial statements
as if they were our Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and all the economic benefits of their business flows to our Group,
places our Group in a special position in relation to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the
transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements and any new transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal
of existing transactions, contracts and agreements to be entered into, among others, by our Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
any member of our Group from time to time (including Consolidated Affiliated Entities) (the “New Intergroup Agreements”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that it
would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company, for all such
transactions to be subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including,

among other things, the announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

If the Contractual Arrangements is altered or if the Company enters into any new agreements with any connected persons in
the future (otherwise than pursuant to the renewal and reproduction waiver in relation to the Contractual Arrangements), the
Company must fully comply with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Rules unless it applies for and obtains
a separate waiver from the Stock Exchange.

Confirmation from independent non-executive Directors
The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the IP Licensing Agreement and the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that:

(1) the transactions carried out during the year ended December 31, 2022 have been entered into in accordance with the

relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(1) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group during the year ended December
31, 2022;

(iii)  no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2022 other than the ones disclosed above;

(iv)  the IP Licensing Agreement and the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group;

v) the IP Licensing Agreement and the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into on normal commercial terms or
better; and

(vi)  the IP Licensing Agreement and the Contractual Arrangements have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Reporting from the Company’s independent auditor

The Auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on pages 15 to 21 of this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board, with respect to the IP Licensing Agreement and the Contractual Arrangements

and the transactions contemplated therein:

(1) nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(i1) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention
that causes the Auditor to believe that the continuing connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii)  nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that causes the Auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

(iv)  nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that causes the Auditor to believe that such continuing connected transactions

have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company; and

v) nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that causes the Auditor to believe that dividends or other distributions have
been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of the equity interests of the Consolidated Affiliated

Entities which are not subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

WEIGHTED VOTING RIGHTS

The Company is controlled through weighted voting rights. Under this structure, the Company’s share capital comprises Class
A Ordinary Shares and Class B Ordinary Shares. Each Class A Ordinary Share entitles the holder to exercise one vote, and each
Class B Ordinary Share entitles the holder to exercise ten votes, on any resolution tabled at the Company’s general meetings,
except for resolutions with respect to the Reserved Matters, in relation to which each Share is entitled to one vote.

The WVR structure enables the WVR Beneficiary to exercise voting control over the Company notwithstanding that the WVR
Beneficiary does not hold a majority economic interest in the share capital of the Company. This will enable the Company to
benefit from the continuing vision and leadership of the WVR Beneficiary who will control the Company with a view to its

long-term prospects and strategy.

Investors are advised to be aware of the potential risks of investing in companies with a WVR structure, in particular that the
interests of the WVR Beneficiary may not necessarily always be aligned with those of our Shareholders as a whole, and that
the WVR Beneficiary will be in a position to exert significant influence over the affairs of our Company and the outcome of

Shareholders’ resolutions. Investors should make the decision to invest in the Company only after due and careful consideration.
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The WVR Beneficiary is Mr. Li. As at December 31, 2022, assuming (i) none of the Performance Conditions (as defined in
the Prospectus) is met and no Award Premium (as defined in the Prospectus) is paid in respect of any CEO Award Shares,
(i1) no further Shares are issued under the Share Incentive Plans or pursuant to the conversion of the 2028 Notes, and (iii)
without taking into account the voting rights attached to the 21,666,682 Class A Ordinary Shares issued to the Depositary for
bulk issuance of ADSs reserved for future issuances upon the exercise or vesting of awards granted under the Share Incentive
Plans, Mr. Li beneficially owned and controlled, through his intermediaries, an aggregate of 355,812,080 Class B Ordinary
Shares and 108,557,400 Class A Ordinary Shares (which are CEO Award Shares with one vote per share), representing (a)
approximately 22.28% of the Company’s issued Shares; (b) approximately 69.00% of the voting rights in the Company with
respect to shareholder resolutions relating to matters other than Reserved Matters; and (c) approximately 18.21% with respect
to shareholder resolutions relating to Reserved Matters. The Class B Ordinary Shares are held through Amp Lee Ltd., which
is wholly owned by Cyric Point Enterprises Limited, the entire interest of which is in turn held by a trust that was established
by Mr. Li (as the settlor) for the benefit of himself and his family.

Class B Ordinary Shares may be converted into Class A Ordinary Shares on a one to one ratio. As at December 31, 2022,
assuming the conversion of all the issued and outstanding Class B Ordinary Shares into Class A Ordinary Shares, the Company
will issue 355,812,080 Class A Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 17.07% of the total number of issued and
outstanding Class A Ordinary Shares. The weighted voting rights attached to Class B Ordinary Shares will cease when the
WVR Beneficiary has no beneficial ownership of any of the Class B Ordinary Shares, in accordance with Rule 8A.22 of the

Listing Rules. This may occur:

(1) upon the occurrence of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 8A. 17 of the Listing Rules, in particular where the
WVR Beneficiary is: (1) deceased; (2) no longer a member of the Board; (3) deemed by the Stock Exchange to be
incapacitated for the purpose of performing his duties as a director; or (4) deemed by the Stock Exchange to no longer

meet the requirements of a director set out in the Listing Rules;

(ii) when the holders of Class B Ordinary Shares have transferred to another person the beneficial ownership of, or economic
interest in, all of the Class B Ordinary Shares or the voting rights attached to them, other than in the circumstances
permitted by Rule 8A.18 of the Listing Rules;

(iii)  where a vehicle holding Class B Ordinary Shares on behalf of a WVR Beneficiary no longer complies with Rule 8A.18(2)
of the Listing Rules; or

(iv)  when all of the Class B Ordinary Shares have been converted to Class A Ordinary Shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, our customers primarily include individual vehicle purchasers. We have a broad
base of customers, and we do not believe that we have customer concentration risks. Our top five customers accounted for
1%, 0.1% and 0.1% of our total revenues for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively. Our
top five suppliers accounted for 32%, 30% and 23.6% of our purchases for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021
and 2022, respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in any of our five largest customers or suppliers
during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the

Company’s securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note | to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out
in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Company’s properties are held for development and/or sale or for investment purposes.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 20 to the

consolidated financial statements.

THE US ATM OFFERING

On June 28, 2022 (U.S. Eastern Time), the Company announced the US ATM Offering to sell up to US$2,000,000,000 of ADSs,
each representing two Class A Ordinary Shares, to the public in the United States. The closing price of the ADS on the Nasdaq
on June 28, 2022 was US$37.07. As disclosed in the announcement dated June 29, 2022 issued by the Company in connection
with the US ATM Offering, as an estimate, based on the average closing price of the ADS on the Nasdaq for the five trading days
preceding June 24, 2022, the Company expected that it would not issue more than 53,835,800 ADSs pursuant to the US ATM
Offering, representing 107,671,600 Class A Ordinary Shares with an aggregate nominal value of approximately US$10,767.

As of December 31, 2022, we had sold 9,431,282 ADSs representing 18,862,564 Class A ordinary shares under the US ATM
Offering to the public in the United States, raising gross proceeds of US$366.5 million and net proceeds of approximately
US$360.5 million, respectively, with the selling price ranging from US$38.00 per ADS to US$39.63 per ADS and average net
selling price of US$38.86 per ADS.

As disclosed in the announcement and the listing document of the Company dated June 29, 2022, the Company intends to use
the net proceeds from the US ATM Offering for (i) research and development of next-generation electric vehicle technologies
including technologies for BEVs, smart cabin, and autonomous driving, (ii) development and manufacture of future platforms
and car models, and (iii) working capital needs and general corporate purposes. To the extent that the net proceeds of the US
ATM Offering are not immediately required for the above described purposes, we may hold such funds in bank deposits at
authorized financial institutions.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest
Practicable Date, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group made charitable donations of RMBS5.7 million.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

In April 2021, we issued the US$862.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2028,
or the 2028 Notes, which may be converted, at an initial conversion rate of 35.2818 ADSs per US$1,000 principal amount
of notes (which represents an initial conversion price of US$28.34 per ADS) at each holder’s option at any time on or after
November 1, 2027, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of
May 1, 2028, or at the option of the holders upon satisfaction of certain conditions and during certain periods prior to the close
of business on business day immediately preceding November 1, 2027 based on an initial conversion rate of 35.2818 of our
ADSs per US$1,000 principal amount of notes. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon occurrence of certain events.
The 2028 Notes bear interest at a rate of 0.25% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 1 and November 1 of each
year, beginning on November 1, 2021. Holders of the 2028 Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or part of their
notes for cash on May 1, 2024 and on May 1, 2026, in each case, at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount
of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the relevant repurchase date. Assuming full
conversion of the 2028 Notes at the initial conversion rate of 35.2818 ADSs per US$1,000 principal amount, the 2028 Notes
will be convertible into 30,430,552 ADSs, representing 60,861,104 Class A Ordinary Shares. For illustrative purposes only,
60,861,104 Class A Ordinary Shares represent approximately 2.84% of the total issued share capital (as if enlarged by the issue
of such shares) of the Company as of the Latest Practicable Date. Other than optional redemption for changes in the tax laws,
the 2028 Notes may not be redeemed by us at our option prior to maturity. For further details of the 2028 Notes, please see the
section headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Convertible Notes” in the Prospectus.

After performing sufficient due diligence work that the Directors consider appropriate and after due and careful consideration,
the Directors confirm that, up to the Latest Practicable Date, there had been no material adverse change in our financial or
trading position or prospects since December 31, 2022, being the end date of the periods reported on in the consolidated
financial statements included in this annual report, and there is no event since December 31, 2022 that would materially affect

the information as set out in the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Schemes” in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year ended December 31, 2022.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of an annual dividend for the year ended December 31, 2022.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. A permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently and was in force
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company has also taken out liability insurance to provide additional coverage for the Directors.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 73 and in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company did not have any distributable reserve as at December 31, 2022.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

The Group had 9.6 billion in outstanding loans, overdrafts and borrowings from banks and other financial institutions as of
December 31, 2022 (2021: 6.0 billion).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Li Xiang and Mr. Li Tie, the executive Directors, have entered into an employment agreement with our Company on July
27, 2021. The term of appointment shall be for an initial term of three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual
general meeting of our Company after the Listing Date, whichever is sooner (subject to re-election as and when required under

the Articles of Association). Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not less than three months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Ma Donghui, an executive Director, has entered into an employment agreement with our Company on December 10,
2022. The term of appointment shall be for a term of three years commencing from January 1, 2023, subject to retirement and
re-election as and when required under the Listing Rules and the Company’s Articles of Association. Either party may terminate

the agreement by giving not less than three months’ prior written notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company on July 27, 2021. The initial term
for their appointment letters shall commence from the date of their appointments and shall continue for three years from July
27,2021 or from the date of the Prospectus of the Company (that is August 3, 2021) until the third annual general meeting of
the Company since the Listing Date, whichever is sooner, (subject always to re-election as and when required under the Articles
of Association) until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving

to the other not less than three month’s prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company on July 27, 2021. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall be three years from the date of the Listing Date or until the third annual general
meeting of the Company since the Listing Date, whichever is sooner, (subject always to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association) until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.
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None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has or is proposed
to have a service contract with any member of our Group other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within
one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section “Connected Transactions” of this Directors’ report, none of the Directors or any entity connected
with the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting

during or at the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established the compensation Committee of the Company
to formulate remuneration policies.

The remuneration is determined and recommended based on each Director’s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position and seniority. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the Board upon
recommendation from the compensation Committee.

The Directors and the senior management personnel are eligible participants of 2019 Plan and 2020 Plan, details of which are
set out in the Prospectus and Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 30
and Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of

the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as set out in “Connected Transactions” above, no contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of
services has been entered into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their
subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2022 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holdings companies a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors,
or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company

or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and except for the interests of the Controlling Shareholders in the Group, during the
Reporting Period, neither the Controlling Shareholders nor any of the Directors had any interest in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would

require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

By order of the Board
Mr. Li Xiang
Chairman

Beijing, China
April 21, 2023
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The Directors who held office during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiang (Z48)

Mr. SHEN Yanan (JL574#) (resigned with effect from January 1, 2023)
Mr. LI Tie (ZE#)

Mr. MA Donghui (85 ¥ ##) (appointed with effect from January 1, 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. WANG Xing (FHl)
Mr. FAN Zheng (B 5)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Hongqiang (7% &)

Mr. JIANG Zhenyu (£ EF)

Prof. XIAO Xing (M &)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Xiang (Z#), aged 41, is the Founder, an executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the
Board of the Company.

Mr. Li has over 20 years of founding and managing internet technology companies in China, including over 15 years of
experience focusing on the automotive industry. Mr. Li is the founder of Autohome Inc., (NYSE: ATHM; HKEX stock code:
2518) (“Autohome”), and served as its president from 1999 to June 2015. Autohome is the leading online destination for
automobile consumers in China. At Autohome, Mr. Li was primarily responsible for its overall strategy, content creation and
product development. From May 2015 to September 2018, Mr. Li served as a director of NIO Inc. (NYSE: NIO; HKEX stock
code: 9866). Mr. Li has served as an independent director of Beijing Siwei Tuxin Technology Co., Ltd. (At %< 14 #k &l 5 #l 4%
& A4 BRZA Al) (Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code: 002405) from May 2017 to December 2021, and is also on the board

of directors of several private companies.

Mr. SHEN Yanan (YL Hif#i), aged 45, was an executive Director and had served as our President since November 2015 during
the Reporting Period until 1 January 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Shen held various positions with Lenovo with his most recent position as vice president in
charge of global supply chain operations at Lenovo from October 2014.

Mr. Shen received a bachelor’s degree in industrial foreign trade from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in July 1999 and a
master’s degree in logistics and supply chain management from University of Edinburgh in December 2000. Mr. Shen obtained
his EMBA degree from China Europe International Business School in October 2013.
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Mr. LI Tie (Z58%), aged 45, is an executive Director and has served as our Chief Financial Officer since July 2016.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li worked at Autohome from March 2008 to June 2016 with his last position as a vice president
of Autohome. Before joining Autohome, Mr. Li worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers Beijing Office from August 2002 to February
2008. Mr. Li has served as the Independent non-executive Director of Gushengtang Holdings Limited ([& 4= 4%) (HKEX Stock
Code: 2273) since November 2021.

Mr. Li completed the Senior Executive Leadership Program held by Harvard Business School in July 2019. He received his
bachelor’s degree in accounting and master’s degree in management from Tsinghua University in July 1999 and June 2002

respectively.

Mr. MA Donghui (}§#0#), aged 48, has served as our executive Director and the President of the Company since January 1,
2023. Previously, he served as the chief engineer since September 2015. Mr. Ma worked as dean of research institute at SANY
Heavy Vehicle Body Co., Ltd. since June 2011. Prior to that, Mr. Ma worked at IAT Automobile Technology Co., Ltd. and

Jianshi International Automotive Design (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Mr. Ma received a bachelor’s degree in power engineering from Wuhan University of Technology in 1995 and a master’s degree
in mechanical manufacturing and automation from Shanghai University in 2003.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Xing (E8), aged 44, has served as our non-executive Director of the Company since July 2019. Mr. Wang is a
co-founder, an executive director, the chief executive officer and chairman of the board of Meituan (HKEX stock code: 3690),
a leading e-commerce platform for goods and services in China which was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in
September 2018. Mr. Wang is responsible for the overall strategic planning, business direction and management of Meituan.
He also holds directorship in various subsidiaries of Meituan. Prior to founding meituan.com in 2010, he co-founded xiaonei.
com, China’s first college social network website, in 2005. xiaonei.com was later renamed as Renren Inc. (NYSE: RENN). Mr.
Wang also co-founded fanfou.com, a social media company specializing in microblogging, in May 2007 and was responsible
for the management and operation of this company from May 2007 to July 2009.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from Tsinghua University in July 2001 and his master’s
degree in electrical engineering from University of Delaware in January 2005.

Mr. FAN Zheng (3%§}#), aged 44, has served as our non-executive Director (under the Hong Kong Listing Rules) of the Company
since July 2019 and has served as our independent director (under applicable U.S. regulations) since October 2020. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Fan served as co-founder and vice president of Autohome from June 1999 to October 2016. At Autohome, Mr.

Fan was primarily responsible for its technological operations.

Mr. Fan graduated with a college diploma in computer science from Hebei University of Science and Technology in July 2000.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Hongqiang (8% i), aged 46, has served as an independent director of our Company since July 2020 and was
re-designated as an independent non-executive Director with effect from the Listing Date.

Mr. Zhao serves as an independent non-executive director of Gogox Holdings Limited (HKEX stock code: 2246) on August
2021. Gogox Holdings Limited has been listed on the Stock Exchange since June 2022. Mr. Zhao serves as an executive director
and chief financial officer of Bairong Inc. (HKEX stock code: 6608) (“BaiRong™), a leading big-data application platform in
financial sector in China, since June 2018. Mr. Zhao also currently serves as an independent director of HUYA Inc. (NYSE:
HUYA), a leading China-based game live streaming company since May 2018. Previously, Mr. Zhao served as chief financial
officer of NetEase Lede Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch from October 2014. Mr. Zhao previously held the position of
assistant chief auditor at the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, a regulatory oversight agency under the SEC. He
was also employed with KPMG LLP in the United States from August 2001 to February 2009, with the most recent position
being Manager Audit. Mr. Zhao accumulated corporate governance knowledge and experience through his aforementioned
positions and directorships at BaiRong, NetEase Lede Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch and the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board of the SEC.

Mr. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Tsinghua University in July 1999 and a master’s degree in

accountancy from the George Washington University in May 2001.

Mr. JIANG Zhenyu (R F), aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from the Listing
Date.

Mr. Jiang has more than 13 years of experience in financial management and legal practices. Mr. Jiang has served as the chief
financial officer and a joint company secretary of Dida Inc. since May 2020 and September 2020, respectively. At Dida Inc,
Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for finance, investments and capital market activities and corporate governance related
matters. Prior to joining Dida Inc., Mr. Jiang served as the chief financial officer of Cheetah Mobile Inc., a company listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: CMCM), from April 2017 to January 2020. Prior to that, Mr. Jiang founded and
operated a startup tech company. From February 2014 to October 2015, Mr. Jiang served as the chief financial officer at 9F
Inc., a company listed on Nasdaq (Nasdaq: JFU). From September 2008 to March 2014, he worked as an associate at Skadden,
Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP. Mr. Jiang also served as an engineer at BorgWarner, Inc., a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: BWA) from January 2000 to July 2006. Mr. Jiang accumulated corporate governance knowledge

and experience through his aforementioned senior management positions at Dida Inc, Cheetah Mobile Inc. and 9F Inc..

Mr. Jiang graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in automotive engineering in
July 1995 and June 1998, respectively. He further obtained a master’s degree from Pennsylvania State University in December
1999 and a juris doctor degree from Cornell Law School in May 2008. Mr. Jiang qualified as a registered attorney at law in
the State of New York in January 2009 and was also recognized as a chartered financial analyst by CFA Institute in the USA
in April 2013.
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Prof. XIAO Xing (F &), aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from the Listing Date.

Prof. Xiao is a Professor and the Head of the Accounting Department of the School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua
University, where she has taught classes since April 1997. During her time at the Tsinghua University, Prof. Xiao visited
Harvard University, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, University of Wisconsin as a senior visiting scholar and received
the Fulbright Scholar award in 2011. Prof. Xiao’s main research areas are corporate governance, financial management, financial

statement analysis and financial accounting.

Prof. Xiao has served as an independent director of Mango Excellent Media Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code:
300413) since January 2019; an independent director of Bloomage Biotechnology Corporation Limited (Shanghai Stock
Exchange stock code: 688363) from March 2019 to April 2022; and an independent non-executive director of Agricultural Bank
of China Limited (Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code: 601288 and HKEX stock code: 1288) from March 2015 to July 2021;
independent director of Goertek Inc. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code: 002241) from September 2013 to November 2019;
an independent director of Beijing Thunisoft Corporation Limited (Shenzhen Stock Exchange stock code: 300271) from June
2019 to March 2020; and an independent director of Aixin Life Co., Ltd. since August 2017. Prof. Xiao accumulated corporate

governance knowledge and experience through her academic research and the foregoing directorships.

Prof. Xiao received a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering and a second bachelor’s degree in business management
from Tsinghua University in July 1994 and a master’s degree in industrial foreign trade (accounting) from Tsinghua University

in March 1997. Prof. Xiao obtained her doctorate degree in accounting from Tsinghua University in January 2004.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management team comprises Mr. LI Xiang, Mr. LI Tie and Mr. MA Donghui, who are each an executive Director of
our Company, and Mr. XIE Yan. See “— Executive directors” for biographies of Mr. LI Xiang, Mr. LI Tie and Mr. MA Donghui.

Mr. XIE Yan (#f &), aged 44, has served as the Company’s Chief Technology Officer since December 12, 2022. Previously,
he served as the Company’s senior vice president since July 18, 2022. Mr. Xie has extensive work experience in the technology
sector. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Xie served as a vice president of software engineering at the consumer business
group and the head of the device OS department at Huawei Technologies for three years, chief architect of AliOS system, and
a general manager at Alibaba Group Holding Limited (NYSE: BABA and HKEX: 9988) for five years, and worked at Intel
Corporation for six years.

Mr. Xie received a bachelor’s degree in information electrical engineering from Zhejiang University in 2001 and a master’s
degree in computer engineering from the University of Delaware in 2003.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. WANG Yang (£#5), is our joint company secretary. Mr. Wang joined our Group in July 2020 as the director of capital
markets. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang was a founding partner of Winning Capital (5% & 74) from January 2018 to
July 2020. At Winning Capital, he oversaw all departments and was responsible for the fund raising, investment, management
and exit activities of the fund. From June 2012 to December 2017, Mr. Wang worked at Noah China Holdings Group (# 57
B 42 L 4E 1) with his last position as the deputy general manager of the Shanghai wealth management center.

Mr. Wang received his master’s degree in business administration in August 2010 from Northwood University.

Ms. LAU Yee Wa ($l%i#£), is our joint company secretary. Ms. Lau is an Associate Director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited (“Tricor”), Asia’s leading business expansion specialist. Ms. Lau has over 20 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field and has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is currently the company secretary of five listed companies on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, namely, BAIOO Family Interactive Limited (F B 5 JE B .84 FR /A 7) (stock code:
2100), Meituan (3 [#) (stock code: 3690), Transmit Entertainment Limited ({8 444 BR/A A]) (stock code: 1326), Jiayuan
International Group Limited (fEVR B FBEHEA% A FR/A F]) (stock code: 2768) and Everest Medicines Limited (ZETEH A R
) (stock code: 1952). Ms. Lau is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an Associate of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as “The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”) and The
Chartered Governance Institute.

Ms. Lau obtained her bachelor’s degree in administrative management from University of South Australia in April 2003.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Mr. SHEN Yanan (JLHi4#) resigned as an executive Director and the President of the Company with effect from January 1, 2023.

Mr. MA Donghui (F ###) was appointed as an executive Director and the President of the Company with effect from January
1, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of other changes in the Directors’ information which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. XIE Yan (# %) has been appointed as the chief technology officer of the Company with effect from December 12, 2022.

Disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules

Save and except for the interests of our Controlling Shareholders in our Company and its subsidiaries, during the year ended
December 31, 2022, neither our Controlling Shareholders nor any of our Directors had any interest in a business, apart from the
business of our Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our business, which would require

disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The Board is committed to achieve high corporate governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate

value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure:

. satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

. that the interests of those who deal with the Company are safeguarded;

. that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;

. the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction of customers; and
. that high standards of ethics are maintained.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code set forth in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as the basis of the

Company’s corporate governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, we have complied with all of the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
set forth in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the following.

Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, recommends, but does not require, that the roles of chairperson and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same person. The Company deviates from this
provision because Mr. Li performs both the roles of the chairperson of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Li is our founder and has extensive experience in our business operations and management. Our Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairperson and chief executive officer to Mr. Li has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within our
Company and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning. This structure will enable our Company to make

and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

Our Board considers that the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to this arrangement. In addition, all
major decisions are made in consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant Board committees, and three
independent non-executive Directors. Our Board will reassess the division of the roles of chairperson and the chief executive
officer from time to time, and may recommend dividing the two roles between different people in the future, taking into account
our circumstances as a whole. The Company will continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance practices
to ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, and maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices

of the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Class A Ordinary Shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on August 12, 2021, since which time the
Model Code has been applicable to the Company.

The Company has adopted the Management Trading of Securities Policy (the “Code”), with terms no less exacting than the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as its
own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings by Directors and relevant employees of securities in the Company and
other matters covered by the Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the relevant employees and they have confirmed that they have complied

with the Code during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions

objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balance composition of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises eight members consisting of three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three

independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board comprised the
following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiang (Chairman and chief executive officer, member of compensation committee)
Mr. SHEN Yanan (resigned with effect from January 1, 2023)

Mr. LI Tie (Chief financial officer)

Mr. MA Donghui (President) (appointed with effect from January 1, 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. WANG Xing
Mr. FAN Zheng
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Hongqiang (Chairman of audit committee and compensation committee, member of nominating and corporate
governance comimittee)

Mr. JIANG Zhenyu (Chairman of nominating and corporate governance committee, member of audit committee and
compensation committee)

Prof. XIAO Xing (member of audit committee and nominating and corporate governance committee)

The biographical information of the Directors is disclosed under “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 33 of

this annual report.
There are no material/relevant relationships (including financial, business, family) between members of the Board.

BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the board should meet regularly and board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The board meeting will involve active participation
of a majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic means of communication, at approximately quarterly intervals.
Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with Directors in advance to facilitate their attendance. At least 14
days’ notice for all regular Board meetings will be given to all Directors and all Directors are given the opportunity to include
items or businesses for discussion in the agenda. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice will be given. Relevant agenda
and accompanying meeting papers will be sent to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days in advance of every

regular Board meeting.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board held four meetings. An annual general meeting and nine committee

meetings were held. The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is expected to be held no later than June 30, 2023.
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A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and the annual general meeting
of the Company held during the Reporting Period is set out in the following table below:

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

Nominating

Annual and corporate

general Board Audit Compensation governance
Director meeting meeting committee committee committee
LI Xiang 1/1 4/4 N/A 2/2 N/A
SHEN Yanan 0/1
LI Tie 0/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
MA Donghui @ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
WANG Xing 0/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
FAN Zheng 0/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
ZHAO Hongqiang 1/1 4/4 4/4 2/2 3/3
JIANG Zhenyu 0/1 4/4 4/4 2/2 3/3
XIAO Xing 0/1 4/4 4/4 N/A 3/3
Note:
(1) Mr. Ma Donghui was only appointed as an executive Director with effect from January 1, 2023.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board also held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors

without the presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate

professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has adopted the Policy on Obtaining Independent Views and Input to ensure independent views and inputs are
available to the Board. The Board, Board committees or individual Directors may seek such independent professional advice,
views and input as considered necessary to fulfil their responsibilities and in exercising independent judgement when making
decisions in furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense according to such policy. The Board will review

the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism on an annual basis.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code states that every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if
the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third shall be the number of
retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been in office longest since their last re-election
or appointment but, as between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company. The term of office of our executive
Directors is three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of our Company since the Listing Date
(whichever is sooner).

Each of our non-executive Directors entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of office of our non-
executive Directors is three years from July 27, 2021 or until the third annual general meeting of our Company since the Listing
Date (whichever is sooner).

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with our Company. The term of office
of our independent non-executive Directors is three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual general meeting of
our Company since the Listing Date (whichever is sooner).

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD
AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Board makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. In particular, the role of an independent non-executive
director of a listed issuer with a WVR structure include but is not limited to the functions described in code provisions C. 1.2,
C. 1.6 and C. 1.7 in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business development,

finance, marketing, and operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent

professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is
established with defined written terms of reference (the charter). The terms of reference (the charter) of the Board committees

are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate

Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, review and approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to
the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. ZHAO Hongqiang, Prof. XIAO Xing,
and Mr. JIANG Zhenyu, with Mr. ZHAO (being our independent non-executive Director with the appropriate professional

qualifications) as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met four times. The Audit Committee has reviewed the 2022 interim report,
quarterly result announcements for the fourth quarter and full year ended December 31, 2021, first quarter ended March 31,
2022 and the third quarter ended September 30, 2022, and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period, including the audited condensed consolidated annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period, and has met with
the independent Auditor four times without the presence of the executive Directors. The Audit Committee has also discussed
matters with respect to the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company and internal control and financial reporting

matters with senior management members of the Company.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited by the independent Auditor.

Other Board Committees
In addition to the Audit Committee, the Company has also established a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee.

Compensation Committee
The Company has established a Compensation Committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate

Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Compensation Committee are to review the performance of our Directors and review and make
recommendations to the Board with respect to director compensation and their service contracts, evaluate the performance of
our chief executive officer and chief financial officer and review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the terms
of their compensation, review and approve the compensation and employee benefit plans of our other executive officers and
senior management, and to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
make relevant disclosures in the Company’s corporate governance report on the material matters reviewed and/or approved.
The Compensation Committee comprises three Directors, being Mr. LI Xiang, Mr. ZHAO Hongqiang and Mr. JIANG Zhenyu,

with Mr. ZHAO as the chairman of the Compensation Committee.
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The Compensation Committee met twice during the year to review and make recommendation to the Board on the terms of the

director compensation and the compensation of the executive officers and senior management.

The Company’s compensation policy is to ensure that the compensation offered to employees, including Directors and senior
management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The compensation
packages of executive Directors are also determined with reference to the Company’s performance and profitability, the
prevailing market conditions and the performance or contribution of each executive Director. The compensation policy for
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors are adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including
their participation in Board committees. The compensation for the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which is determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board.

Individual Directors and senior management have not been involved in deciding their own compensation.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The Company has established a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and Rule 3.27A and Rule 8A.30 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee were, among other things, in respect of its
nomination functions, to review annually with the Board the structure, size and composition of the Board as a whole and to
recommend, if necessary, measures to be taken so that the Board reflects the appropriate balance of independence, knowledge,
experience, skills, expertise and diversity required for the Board as a whole and contains at least the minimum number of
independent directors required by the Nasdaq Stock Market and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and to make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, to assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors to develop and recommend to the Board criteria for board and committee membership,
recommend to the Board the persons to be nominated for election as Directors and to each of the Board’s committees, and
develop and recommend to the Board a set of corporate governance guidelines; and in respect of its corporate governance
functions, to ensure that the Company is operated and managed for the benefit of all shareholders and to ensure the Company’s

compliance with the Listing Rules and safeguards relating to the weighted voting rights structures of the Company.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
ZHAO Hongqgiang, Mr. JIANG Zhenyu and Prof. XIAO Xing, Mr. JIANG as the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is required to confirm to the Board it is of the view that the Company
has adopted sufficient corporate governance measures to manage the potential conflict of interest between the Group and the
beneficiaries of weighted voting rights in order to ensure that the operations and management of the Company are in the interests

of the Shareholders as a whole indiscriminately.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is required to review the compensation and terms of engagement of the
Compliance Advisor, and to confirm to the Board that it is not aware of any factors that would require it to recommend either

the removal of the current Compliance Advisor or the appointment of a new compliance advisor.
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The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee held three meetings during the Reporting Period and reviewed the

following matters:

(2)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

&)

(2)

(h)

®

)

the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;

the code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors;

the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report;

the Conflict of Interest Declaration Policy of the Company and any potential conflict of interest between the Company
and the WVR beneficiary;

all risks related to the Company’s WVR structure, including connected transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries or Consolidated Affiliated Entity on the one hand and any WVR beneficiary;

written confirmation provided by the WVR beneficiary that he has completed with Rules 8A.14, 8A.15, 8A.18 and
8A.24 of the Listing Rules throughout the Listing Date to end of the Reporting Period;

effective and on-going communication between the Company and the Shareholders, particularly with regards to the

requirements of Rule 8A.35;

the Company’s various policies and practices on corporate governance;

the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

the matters covered in Rule 8A.30 of the Listing Rules.

The Corporate Governance Committee has confirmed that (i) the WVR beneficiary has been a member of the Board throughout
the Reporting Period; (ii) no matter under Rule 8A. 17 and 8A.30(4)-(6) has occurred during the Reporting Period; and (iii) the
WVR beneficiary has complied with Rules 8A.14, 8A.15, 8A.18 and 8A.24 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Our Company adopted a board diversity policy on January 27, 2021 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the

Board. Our Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board

level, including gender diversity, as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and enhancing

its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.
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Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall regularly review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing suitable candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the Nominating and Corporate Governance committee
is committed to diversity at all levels and considers a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry experience. Pursuant to the board
diversity policy, the Nominating and Corporate Governance committee discusses periodically and when necessary, agree on
the measurable objectives for achieving diversity, including gender diversity, on the Board and recommend them to the Board

for formal adoption.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are

appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had a total of eight Directors. There is a diverse mix of educational background
and professional experience. In terms of gender diversity of the Board, the Company targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation in its Board and will continue to seek opportunities to increase the proportion of female members of
the Board over time as and when suitable candidates are identified. The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. In addition, the Company will continue to ensure that there is gender
diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior management level so that there will be a pipeline of female senior management
and potential successors to the Board in due course. The Group will also continue to emphasize training of female talent and

provide long-term development opportunities for female staff.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance committee reviews the board diversity policy on an annual basis. As of December
31, 2022, the Nominating and Corporate Governance committee had reviewed the board diversity policy and considers that,
appropriate balance has been stricken among the Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in the
workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of this annual report:

Female Male
Board 12.5% (1) 87.5% (7)
Senior Management® 0% (0) 100% (4)
Other employees 18.23% (3,536) 81.77% (15,856)
Overall workforce 18.23% (3,536) 81.77% (15,860)

Note:

(1) Includes 3 members of the board of directors
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The Company considers the current gender ratio in the workforce to be appropriate and will continue to ensure that recruitment
and selection practices at all levels are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered and gender
diversity across the workforce is maintained.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 45 and 80 of our Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In accordance with code provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company adopted a dividend policy on July
27, 2021, which outlines the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio. The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, of the

available funds and any future earnings to operate and expand its business.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

In accordance with paragraph J(a) of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company adopted a nomination policy for nomination
of directors (the “Director Nomination Policy”) on February 25, 2021. Such policy ensures that the Board has a balance of

skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and appointment of Directors to the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee.

According to the Director Nomination Policy:
(1) the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board;

(i1) the Nomination and Corporate Governance committee shall identify, consider and recommend suitable individuals to
the Board to consider and to make recommendations to the Shareholders for election of Directors at a general meeting
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board;

(iii)  in assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, the Nomination and
Corporate Governance committee would reference, among others, the candidates’ reputation for integrity, professional
qualifications and skills, accomplishment and experience in the private education sector, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, independence of proposed independent non-executive Directors; and diversity in

all aspects; and

(iv)  the Nomination and Corporate Governance committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the non-exhaustive factors for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s

business and corporate strategy;
. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate

would be considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence and gender diversity;

. Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company;

. Other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee from time to time

for nomination of directors and succession planning.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there was no change in the composition of the Board, save for the changes disclosed
under the section headed “CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION” of this annual report.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, from time to time and as

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s

responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be provided

to the Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, the key methods of attaining continuous professional development by each of the
Directors are recognised as follows:

Director Attended training session Reading materials
LI Xiang v v
SHEN Yanan v v
LI Tie v v
MA Donghui® N/A N/A
WANG Xing v v
FAN Zheng v v
ZHAO Honggiang v v
JIANG Zhenyu v v
XIAO Xing v v
(N Note: Mr. Shen Yanan was resigned as an executive Director with effect from January 1, 2023 and Mr. Ma Donghui was only appointed

as an executive Director with effect from January 1, 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 65 to 68 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and

can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Board oversees risk management functions directly and also through the audit

committee and the senior management.

The senior management is responsible for the overall implementation of risk management and internal control plans and policies
determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection with all of the Company’s business operations. The senior
management identifies, assess and take measures against any significant risks that the Company is facing, and reviews the risk

assessment report on a regular basis and reports to the Board on a regular basis.

The audit committee assists the Board in leading the management and monitoring and overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems through the internal audit department, and reporting and making recommendations to the Board where

appropriate.
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The Board, supported by the Audit Committee and management, reviewed the management reports and the internal audit reports.
For the Reporting Period, the Board considered the risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control systems of the
Company effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experiences, as well as the adequacy of training programmes and budget of the Company’s

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders
are timely and fully informed about the material developments in the Company’s business, the Board has adopted the inside
information disclosure policy regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. As such, the inside information will
not be passed on to any external party.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Lau Yee Wa and Mr. Wang Yang are the Company’s joint company secretaries. Ms. Lau Yee Wa is currently an associate
director of corporate services of Tricor defined above, a global professional services provider specializing in integrated business,

corporate and investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries on corporate governance and board
practices and matters. Mr. Wang Yang, a joint company secretary of the Company, has been designated as the primary contact
person at the Company who would work and communicate with Ms. Lau, also a joint company secretary of the Company on

the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the Reporting Period, each of Ms. Lau and Mr. Wang has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S SCOPE OF WORK

The Auditor’s statement in respect of their reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this

annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

A breakdown of the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor to the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2022 is set out below:

Service category Fees paid (RMB’000)
Audit services 18,758
Non-audit services (internal control consulting and tax consulting) 13

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange

after each general meeting.
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CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Pursuant to Article 68 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members holding together, as of the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company on a one vote per share basis, which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company, specifying
the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda and signed by the requisitionists. If the Directors
do not within 21 calendar days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 calendar days, the requisitionists or any of them representing more than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company, on a one vote per share basis, which carry the right to vote at general meetings, may themselves convene a general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors provided that

any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months after the expiration of the said 21 calendar days.

PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A
DIRECTOR

Shareholders may propose a person for election as a director, the procedures for which are available on the Company’s website.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will

not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following for the attention of the Joint Company

Secretaries:

Address: 11 Wenliang Street, Shunyi District, Beijing 101399, the PRC
Telephone: 010-87427209

Email: ir@lixiang.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to

give effect thereto. The information of the Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At annual general meetings,

Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy on July 27, 2021, with reference to Corporate Governance Code.
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The Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the

Listing Rules, the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure is

timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational

and informed decisions.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy, which sets out the Board’s approach to provide Sharcholders

and other stakeholders (including potential investors) with balanced and understandable information about the Company.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ communication policy, the Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an

on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a)

(b)

(O]

(d)

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable, its summary interim report;
(c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of
the Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company’s securities in both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner

as required by the Listing Rules.

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing Rules
The Company shall publish announcements (on inside information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in

accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website
Any information or documents of the Company posted on the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the

Company’s website (https://ir.lixiang.com/).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are the primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on the
resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The information
provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or required, the
Chairman of the Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or their delegates, and the external

auditors should attend general meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if any).
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(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about shareholdings
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by sending an email to ipoteam@computershare.com.hk or calling
its hotline at +852 2862 8555, or going in person to its address at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put to the Board and the Company
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company, for the attention of the Board by mail to 11 Wenliang Street, Shunyi District, Beijing 101399, the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there was no significant change in the memorandum and articles of association of

the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS
ASSOCITIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,

underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO,

which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the

SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or

(b) to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c¢) as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name

Nature of interest

Number of Shares

Approximate
% of interest
in each class

of Share®

Mr. Li Xiang @

Mr. SHEN Yanan

Mr. Li Tie

Mr. Wang Xing

Mr. Fan Zheng

Interest in controlled corporations/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Beneficial interest

Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Beneficial interest

Beneficial interest

Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a
discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Interest in a controlled corporation/founder of a

discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust

108,557,400 Class A
Ordinary Shares
355,812,080 Class B
Ordinary Shares
15,000,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
14,000,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
14,373,299 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
10,000,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
2,000,000 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
132,082,166 Class A
Ordinary Shares”
258,171,601 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
603,290 Class A
Ordinary Shares®
83,078,960 Class A
Ordinary Shares'”

6.28%

100.00%

0.87%

0.81%

0.83%

0.58%

0.12%

7.64%

14.93%

0.03%

4.81%



Notes:

(1

@)

3

“

(&)

(6)

(N

®)

)

(10)
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The calculation is based on the total number of 1,728,765,894 Class A Ordinary Shares and 355,812,080 Class B Ordinary Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2022.

The 355,812,080 Class B Ordinary Shares and the 108,557,400 CEO Award Shares (which are Class A Ordinary Shares with one vote
per share) are held by Amp Lee Ltd., a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Cyric Point Enterprises
Limited. The entire interest in Cyric Point Enterprises Limited is held by a trust that was established by Mr. Li (as the settlor) for the
benefit of Mr. Li and his family. Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares and the Class B Ordinary Shares
held by Amp Lee Ltd..

This includes 15,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Da Gate Limited. Da Gate Limited is a company incorporated in British
Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Brave City Group Limited. The entire interest in Brave City Group Limited is held by a trust
that was established by Mr. SHEN Yanan (as the settlor) for the benefit of Mr. SHEN Yanan and his family. Mr. SHEN Yanan is
deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Da Gate Limited.

Represents Mr. SHEN Yanan’s entitlement to receive up to 14,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares pursuant to the exercise of options
granted to him under the Share Incentive Plans, subject to the conditions (including vesting conditions) of those options.

This includes 14,373,299 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Sea Wave Overseas Limited. Sea Wave Overseas Limited is a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Day Express Group Limited. The entire interest in Day Express Group
Limited is held by a trust that was established by Mr. LI Tie (as the settlor) for the benefit of Mr. LI Tie and his family. Mr. LI Tie
is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Sea Wave Overseas Limited.

Represents Mr. LI Tie’s entitlement to receive up to 10,000,000 Class A Ordinary Shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted
to him under the Share Incentive Plans and 2,000,000 RSUs granted to him under the Share Incentive Plans, subject to the conditions
(including vesting conditions) of those options and RSUs.

This includes 132,082,166 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Zijin Global Inc.. Zijin Global Inc. is a company incorporated in British
Virgin Islands which is wholly owned by Songtao Limited. The entire interest in Songtao Limited is held by a trust that was established
by Mr. WANG Xing (as the settlor) for the benefit of Mr. WANG Xing and his family, with the trustee being TMF (Cayman) Ltd. As
such, Mr. WANG Xing is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Zijin Global Inc..

This includes 258,171,601 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Inspired Elite Investments Limited, a company incorporated in British
Virgin Islands. Inspired Elite Investments Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Meituan, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3690). Mr. WANG Xing is a director and the controlling shareholder of Meituan.
As such, Mr. WANG Xing is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Inspired Elite Investments Limited.

Zijin Global Inc. holds 603,290 Class A Ordinary Shares represented by 301,645 ADSs as the beneficial owner.

This includes (i) 77,978,960 Class A Ordinary Shares held by Rainbow Six Limited and (ii) 5,100,000 Class A ordinary shares held by
Future Power Holdings Limited. Rainbow Six Limited is a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Star
Features Developments Limited. The entire interest in Star Features Developments Limited is held by a trust that was established by
Mr. FAN Zheng (as the settlor) for the benefit of Mr. FAN Zheng and his family. As such, Mr. FAN Zheng is deemed to be interested
in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Rainbow Six Limited. Future Power Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly owned by Mr. FAN Zheng.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2022, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives whose interests have been

disclosed in this annual report), had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Name

Capacity/Nature
of interest

Number of Shares

Approximate
% of interest
in each class

of Share®

Class A Ordinary Shares
Inspired Elite Investments Limited®

Meituan®

Zijin Global Inc.®
Mr. Wang Xing®®

Amp Lee Ltd.®
Mr. Li Xiang®

Class B Ordinary Shares

Amp Lee Ltd.®
Mr. Li®

Notes:

Beneficial interest

Interest in controlled corporations
Beneficial interest

Interest in controlled corporations/founder
of a discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust
Beneficial interest

Interest in controlled corporations/founder

of a discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust

Beneficial interest
Interest in controlled corporations/founder
of a discretionary trust/beneficiary of a trust

258,171,601 (L)
258,171,601 (L)
132,082,166 (L)
390,253,767 (L)

108,557,400 (L)
108,557,400 (L)

355,812,080 (L)
355,812,080 (L)

14.93%
14.93%

7.64%
22.57%

6.28%
6.28%

100.00%
100.00%

@) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,728,765,894 Class A Ordinary Shares and 355,812,080 Class B Ordinary Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2022. The letter “L” stands for long position.

2) Inspired Elite Investments Limited is a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands. Inspired Elite Investments Limited is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Meituan, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3690).
As such, Meituan is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Inspired Elite Investments Limited.
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3) Zijin Global Inc. is a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands. Zijin Global Inc. is wholly owned by Songtao Limited. The entire
interest in Songtao Limited is held by a trust that was established by Mr. WANG Xing (as the settlor), our non-executive Director,
for the benefit of Mr. WANG Xing and his family, with the trustee being TMF (Cayman) Ltd. As such, Mr. WANG Xing is deemed
to be interested in the Class A Ordinary Shares held by Zijin Global Inc. Further, Mr. WANG Xing is a director and the controlling
shareholder of Meituan and is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Inspired Elite Investments Limited.

4) Amp Lee Ltd. is a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is wholly owned by Cyric Point Enterprises Limited. The entire
interest in Cyric Point Enterprises Limited is held by a trust that was established by Mr. Li (as the settlor), our executive Director and
controlling shareholder, for the benefit of Mr. Li and his family. As such, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the Class A Ordinary
Shares and the Class B Ordinary Shares held by Amp Lee Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, no person, other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any of its Associated Corporations” had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which

would fall to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS
The Company has the 2019 Plan, the 2020 Plan and the 2021 Plan. From January 1, 2023, the Company will rely on the

transitional arrangements provided for the existing share schemes and will comply with the new Chapter 17 accordingly

(effective from January 1, 2023).

As of December 31, 2022, 21,666,682 Class A Ordinary Shares were issued to the Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas,
the depositary of the Company’s ADSs, for bulk issuance of ADSs reserved for future issuances upon the exercise or vesting
of awards granted under the Company’s share incentive plans (the “Bulk Issuance Shares”).

The details of each share scheme are set out below.

1. The 2019 Plan
The principal terms of the 2019 Plan, as amended, are as described below.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2019 Plan is to secure and retain the services of valuable employees, directors, or consultants

and provide incentives for such persons to exert their best efforts for the success of our business.

Eligible participants. We may grant awards to employees, consultants and directors of our Company.

Awards. The 2019 Plan permits the awards of options, restricted shares, restricted share unit awards and share
appreciation rights or other types of awards approved by the Board.
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Number of new Class A Ordinary Shares available for issue. The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares
pursuant to the 2019 Plan is 141,083,452 Class A Ordinary Shares, of which only up to 123,349,000 may be issued
pursuant to awards granted in the form of options. As the awards under the 2019 Plan would be satisfied by the Bulk

Issuance Shares upon vesting, no new Class A Ordinary Shares (representing 0% of the total number of issued Shares

as at the Latest Practicable Date) are available for issue thereunder.

Maximum entitlement of each participant. Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, the total number

of Class A Ordinary Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options granted and to be granted under the
2019 Plan and any other plan of the Company to an eligible participant within any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Class A Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding at the date of any grant.

Consideration and purchase price. The committee or the Board determines, among other things, the participants

eligible to receive awards, the type or types of awards to be granted to each eligible participant, the number of
awards to be granted to each eligible participant, and the terms and conditions of each award grant.

Option exercise price. The plan administrator determines the exercise price for each award, which is stated in the relevant

award agreement and shall not be lower than the fair market value of the Shares on the date of grant, which shall be
the higher of: (i) the closing sales price for such Shares or securities as quoted on the principal exchange or system on
which the Shares or securities of the Company are listed (as determined by the Board or the committee delegated with
the authority to administer the plan) on the date of grant, and (ii) average closing sales price as quoted on the principal
exchange or system on which the Shares or securities of the Company are listed for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

Option exercise period. The maximum exercisable term is ten years from the date of grant.

Vesting period. In general, the plan administrator determines the vesting schedule, which is specified in the relevant
award agreement.

Duration and remaining life. Unless terminated earlier, the 2019 Plan has a term of ten years. The remaining life of

the 2019 Plan is approximately six years.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had conditionally granted options to 253 eligible participants under the 2019 Plan. Details of
the outstanding options under the 2019 Plan are as follows:

(losing price
of the Class A
Ordinary
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled  Outstanding Shares
Exercise asat  duringthe Vested during  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  immediately
Vesting Exercise Pricc LJamuary  Reporting theReporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting 31 December  before the
Name Dateof Grant ~ Period Period (USS) M Period Period Period Period Period 2022 Date of Grant
Directors
Yanan Shen® 201912001 Syears Within 3 years 0.0 13,000,000 0 0 600,000 0 0 12,400,000 NA
after the date
following his
fermination of
service”
Donghui Ma 2019/12001 § years 10 years 0.1 8,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 8,000,000 NA
Tie Li 20091201 § years 10 years 0.0 10,000,000 0 2,000,000 0 0 010,000,000 NA
Five highest paid individuals (excluding 2019/12/01 § years 10 years (A 100,000 0 20,000 0 0 0 100,000 NA
directors) during the Reporting Period
inaggregate
Other employee grantees in aggregate  Between December 15 years 10 years 01 18,639,584 0 3003000 2,636,144 0 08800 15,294,640 NA
1,2019 to January
1,2021
Notes:
1. No options were granted during the Reporting Period.
2. In respect of the options exercised during the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing price of the Class A Ordinary Shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised is HKD112.90.
3. Mr. SHEN Yanan resigned as an executive Director and the President of the Company with effect from January 1, 2023. Mr. SHEN

Yannan would cease to be an employee of the Company on June 30, 2023 or a later date as otherwise agreed by and between Mr.
SHEN Yanan and the Company, which constitutes a termination of service.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had conditionally granted RSUs to 1,147 eligible participants under the 2019 Plan. Details of
the outstanding restricted share units granted under the 2019 Plan are as follows:

Closing price
of the Class
A Ordinary
Shares
Outstanding Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled Outstanding  immediately
asat  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  before the
Vesting Exercise  1January ~ Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting 31 December Date of Grant
Name Date of Grant  Period Period 2022 Period Period Period Period 2022 (HKS)
Five highest paid individuals July 1,202 -5 years NA 0 1,100,000 120,000 0 500,000 480,000 1529
(excluding directors) during
the Reporting Period in aggregate
Other employee grantees in aggregate July 1, 2022 1-5 years NA 0 14,180,700 0 0 762,400 13418300 1529
Notes:
1. No consideration was payable in respect of and no performance targets were attached to the RSUs granted during the Reporting Period.
2. The fair values of the RSUs granted during the Reporting Period are calculated in accordance with the accounting standards and policies
adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements and represents the closing price of the Class A Ordinary Shares on the date
of grant. Please see Notes 2(y) and 22 to the consolidated financial statements for details on the fair value, accounting standard and
policy adopted for the calculation of the fair value of the underlying Class A ordinary shares.
3. In respect of the RSUs vested during the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing price of the Class A Ordinary Shares
immediately before the dates on which the RSUs vested is HKD147.60.
4. There was no purchase price in respect of the RSUs cancelled during the Reporting Period.

S. There were no RSUs granted to Directors under the 2019 Plan.



ANNUAL REPORT 2022 57

OTHER INFORMATION

The 2020 Plan
The principal terms of the 2020 Plan, as amended, are as described below.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2020 Plan is to secure and retain the services of valuable employees, directors, or

consultants and provide incentive for such persons to exert their best efforts for the success of our business.

Eligible participants. We may grant awards to directors, consultants, and employees of our Company.

Awards. The 2020 Plan permits the awards of options, restricted shares, restricted share unit awards or other types of
awards approved by the Board.

Maximum number of Class A Ordinary Shares available for issue. The overall limit on the number of underlying
Shares pursuant to the 2020 Plan is 165,696,625 Class A Ordinary Shares, of which only up to 138,473,500 may be
issued pursuant to Awards granted in the form of options. As the awards under the 2020 Plan would be satisfied by

the Bulk Issuance Shares upon vesting, no new Class A Ordinary Shares (representing 0% of the total number of

issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date) are available for issue thereunder.

Maximum entitlement of each participant. Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, the total number of

Class A Ordinary Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options granted and to be granted under the 2020
Plan and any other plan of the Company to an eligible participant within any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of

the Class A Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding at the date of any grant.

Option exercise price. The plan administrator determines the exercise price for each award, which is stated in the

relevant award agreement shall not be lower than the fair market value of the Shares on the date of grant, which

shall be the higher of: (i) the closing sales price for such Shares or securities as quoted on the principal exchange or
system on which the Shares or securities of the Company are listed (as determined by the Board or the committee
delegated with the authority to administer the plan) on the date of grant, and (ii) average closing sales price as quoted
on the principal exchange or system on which the Shares or securities of the Company are listed for the five business

days immediately preceding the date of grant.

Consideration and purchase price. The committee or the Board determines, among other things, the participants

eligible to receive awards, the type or types of awards to be granted to each eligible participant, the number of

awards to be granted to each eligible participant, and the terms and conditions of each award grant.

Option exercise period. The maximum exercisable term is ten years from the date of grant.

Vesting period. In general, the plan administrator determines the vesting schedule, which is specified in the relevant

award agreement.

Duration and remaining life. Unless terminated earlier, the 2020 Plan has a term of ten years. The remaining life of

the 2020 Plan is approximately seven years.
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As of the December 31, 2022, we had conditionally granted options to 1,520 eligible participants under the 2020 Plan. Details
of the outstanding options under the 2020 Plan are as follows:

(losing price
of the Class A
Ordinary
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled  Outstanding Shares
Exercise asat  duringthe Vested during  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  immediately
Vesting Exercise Pricc 1Jamuary  Reporting the Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting 31 December  before the
Name Date of Grant ~ Period Period (USS) wn Period Period Period Period Period 2022 Date of Grant
Directors
Yanan Shen” 202100101 Syears  Within 3 years 0.1 2,000,000 0 400,000 400,000 0 0 1,600,000 NA
after the date
following his
fermination of
service"
Donghui Ma 2021/01/01 § years 10 years 01 1,000,000 0 200,000 0 0 0 1,000,000 NA
Five highest paid individuals Jamuary 1,201 1-Syears 10 years 01 1,400,000 0 310,000 200,000 0 800,000 400,000 NA
(excluding directors) during and July 1, 2021
the Reporting Period in aggregate
Other employee grantees in aggregate  Janvary 12021 1-Syears 10 years 0.1 29,104,100 0 5888700 1,965,609 0 2483000 24655404 NiA
and July 1,201
Notes:
1. No performance targets were attached to the options granted during the Reporting Period.
2. In respect of the options exercised during the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing price of the Class A Ordinary Shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised is HKD115.45.
3. The Class A Ordinary Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on August 12, 2021. As such, there is no closing price of the Class
A Ordinary Shares immediately before the date of grant in respect of the options granted before such date.
4. Mr. SHEN Yanan resigned as an executive Director and the President of the Company with effect from January 1, 2023. Mr. SHEN

Yannan would cease to be an employee of the Company on June 30, 2023 or a later date as otherwise agreed by and between Mr.
SHEN Yanan and the Company, which constitutes a termination of service.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had conditionally granted RSUs to 1,173 eligible participant under the 2020 Plan. Details of the
outstanding RSUs granted under the 2020 Plan are as follows:

Closing price

of the Class

A Ordinary

Shares

Outstanding Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled Outstanding  immediately

asat  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  before the

Vesting Exercise  1January ~ Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting 31 December Date of Grant

Name Date of Grant ~ Period Period 2022 Period Period Period Period 2022 (HKS)
Directors

Tie Li 01/01/2022 5 years NA 2,000,000 2,000,000 0 0 0 2,000,000 1227

Five highest paid individuals 01/0112022 § years NA 240,000 240,000 0 0 0 240,000 1227

(excluding directors) during the
Reporting Period in aggregate

Other employee grantees in January 1,2022 15 years NA 20087200 20,078,614 4200 0 3,825,400 16,257,600 1227
aggregate® and July 1, 2021

One grantee who is a consultant of ~ July 1, 2021 3 years NA 8,586 0 2,862 0 0 5,124 NA
our Group

Notes:

1. No consideration was payable in respect of and no performance targets were attached to the RSUs granted during the Reporting Period.

2. The fair values of the RSUs granted during the Reporting Period are calculated in accordance with the accounting standards and policies

adopted for preparing the Company’s financial statements and represents the closing price of the Class A Ordinary Shares on the date
of grant. Please see Notes 2(y) and 22 to the consolidated financial statements for details on the fair value, accounting standard and
policy adopted for the calculation of the fair value of the underlying Class A ordinary shares.

3. The Class A Ordinary Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on August 12, 2021. As such, there is no closing price of the Class
A Ordinary Shares immediately before the date of grant in respect of the RSUs granted on July 1, 2021.

4. In respect of the RSUs that were vested during the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the RSUs were vested is HKD147.60.
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The 2021 Plan
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2021 Plan of the Company as approved by the Board on
March 8, 2021.

Purpose. The purpose of the 2021 Plan is to secure and retain the services of valuable employees, directors, or
consultants and provide incentive for such persons to exert their best efforts for the success of our business.

Eligible participants. We may grant awards to directors, consultants, and employees of our Company.

Maximum number of Class B Ordinary Shares available for issue. The maximum aggregate number of Class B

Ordinary Shares which may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2021 Plan is 108,557,400 Class B Ordinary
Shares. Taking into account the CEO Award, details of which are set out below, no new Class B Ordinary Shares
(representing 0% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date) are available for issue

thereunder.

Maximum entitlement of each participant. Under the 2021 Plan, there is no specific limit on the maximum number of

shares which may be granted to a single eligible participant but unvested under the 2021 Plan.

Option exercise period. The maximum exercisable term is ten years from the date of grant.

Vesting period. In general, the plan administrator determines the vesting schedule, which is specified in the relevant

award agreement.

Consideration and purchase price. The committee or the Board determines, among other things, the participants

eligible to receive awards, the type or types of awards to be granted to each eligible participant, the number of
awards to be granted to each eligible participant, and the terms and conditions of each award grant.

Duration and remaining life. Unless terminated earlier, the 2021 Plan has a term of ten years. The remaining life of

the 2021 Plan is approximately eight years.

During the Reporting Period, no award was granted under the 2021 Plan and as at January 1, 2022 and December 31,
2022, there were no outstanding grants under the 2021 Plan. Please refer to the below paragraph for details of the
CEO Award.
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4. CEO Award
The overall limit on the number of underlying Shares pursuant to the 2021 Plan is 108,557,400 Class B Ordinary Shares.

On March 8, 2021, our Company granted an option to purchase 108,557,400 Class B Ordinary Shares to Mr. Li, our
Chairman of the Board, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, under the 2021 Plan. The date of expiration
for the CEO Award was March 8, 2031.

The exercise price of the options was US$14.63 per share, which was the average per-share closing price of our ADSs,
each representing two Class A Ordinary Shares, in the thirty trading days immediately prior to the grant date, as reported
by the Nasdaq Global Select Market. The options were divided into six equal tranches of 18,092,900 each and subject

to the same vesting conditions as the Performance Conditions described below.

On May 5, 2021, the Board resolved to change the form of CEO Award from options to an award of 108,557,400 Class
B Ordinary Shares, or the CEO Award Shares. The CEO Award Shares were duly issued fully paid to Amp Lee Ltd. (a
company legally and beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Li) as registered legal and beneficial owner on May 5, 2021. On
the same day, all of the options granted under the CEO Award (none of which vested or were exercised) were terminated
and cancelled. Under the terms of the CEO Award, Mr. Li has agreed that the CEO Award Shares shall be held subject
to certain restrictions, terms and conditions. Pursuant to a conversion notice submitted by Mr. Li to the Board dated
July 26, 2021 and the written resolutions passed by the Board on July 27, 2021, all CEO Award Shares were converted
from Class B Ordinary Shares to Class A Ordinary Shares on one-to-one basis with effect immediately upon the Listing.

For details please see the section headed “Directors and Senior Management — Grant of CEO Award” in the Prospectus.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the

Stock Exchange during the Reporting Period.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

(@)

Use of proceeds from the Global Offering

On August 12, 2021, the Class A Ordinary Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering were approximately HK$13.3 billion. As of the Latest

Practicable Date, there had been no change in the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the section

headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The Company expects to fully utilize the residual amount

of the net proceeds in accordance with such intended purposes within 3 years.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had utilized the net proceeds as set out in the table below:

Utilized
Unutilized amount for Unutilized
amount as at  the year ended amount as at
% of use December 31,  December 31,  December 31,
of proceed  Net proceeds 2021 2022 2022
(HKS million) ~ (HKS million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)
Fund the research and development of HPC BEV technologies, 20% 2,653.5 2,653.5 1,597.5 1,056.0
platforms, and future models, including to fund (a) the development
of high C-rate battery, high-voltage platform, and ultra-fast charging
technologies, (b) the development of our HPC BEV platforms,
including Whale and Shark platforms, and (c) the development and
launch of HPC BEV models planned for 2023
Fund the research and development of intelligent vehicle and 15% 1,990.1 1,990.1 1,329.4 660.7
autonomous driving technologies, including to fund (a) the
enhancement of intelligent vehicle systems, (b) the enhancement
of the current Level 2 autonomous driving technology and the
development of the Level 4 autonomous driving technology
Fund the research and development of future EREV models, including to 10% 1,326.8 1,326.8 886.3 440.5
fund (a) the development of a next-generation EREV platform, and
(b) the development and launch of a new EREV model planned for
2022 and two more planned for 2023
Fund the expansion of production capacity 25% 3,316.9 3,316.9 - 3,316.9
Fund the expansion of retail stores and delivery and servicing centers 10% 13268 1,166.1 2175 948.6
Fund the roll-out of HPC network 5% 663.4 663.4 6060.9 56.5
Fund marketing and promotion 5% 663.4 663.4 - 663.4
Working capital and other general corporate purposes to support our 10% 1,326.7 1,326.7 - 1,326.7
business operation and growth in the next 12 months
Total 100% 13,267.6 13,106.9 4,637.6 8,469.3
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Use of proceeds from the US ATM Offering

On June 28, 2022 (U.S. Eastern Time), the Company announced the US ATM Offering to sell up to US$2,000,000,000
of ADSs, each representing two Class A Ordinary Shares, to the public in the United States. The closing price of the
ADS on the Nasdaq on June 28, 2022 was US$37.07. As disclosed in the announcement dated June 29, 2022 issued by
the Company in connection with the US ATM Offering, as an estimate, based on the average closing price of the ADS
on the Nasdaq for the five trading days preceding June 24, 2022, the Company expected that it would not issue more
than 53,835,800 ADSs pursuant to the US ATM Offering, representing 107,671,600 Class A Ordinary Shares with an
aggregate nominal value of approximately US$10,767.

As of December 31, 2022, we had sold 9,431,282 ADSs representing 18,862,564 Class A ordinary shares under the
US ATM Offering to the public in the United States, raising gross proceeds of US$366.5 million and net proceeds of
approximately US$360.5 million, respectively, with the selling price ranging from US$38.00 per ADS to US$39.63 per
ADS and average net selling price of US$38.86 per ADS.

As disclosed in the announcement and the listing document of the Company dated June 29, 2022, the Company intends
to use the net proceeds from the US ATM Offering for (i) research and development of next-generation electric vehicle
technologies including technologies for BEVs, smart cabin, and autonomous driving, (ii) development and manufacture
of future platforms and car models, and (iii) working capital needs and general corporate purposes. As of December 31,
2022, we had utilized (i) nil for research and development of next-generation electric vehicle technologies including
technologies for BEVs, smart cabin, and autonomous driving, (ii) nil for development and manufacture of future

platforms and car models, and (iii) US$165.9 million for working capital needs and general corporate purposes.

DIVIDEND

The Company has not opted to pay any dividends for the year ended December 31, 2022.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.S. GAAP AND IFRSS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 is prepared by the Directors of the Company under
U.S. GAAP, and the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs has been disclosed in the Note 33 to such annual financial

statements.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the year
ended December 31, 2022. The Directors are also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened

against the Company since the Listing Date and up to December 31, 2022.

EVENTS AFTER DECEMBER 31, 2022

Mr. Shen Yanan resigned as an executive Director and the President and Mr. Ma Donghui was appointed as an executive Director
and the President, each with effect from January 1, 2023. For further details of the above, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated December 9, 2022.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other significant events that might adversely affect the Group after
December 31, 2022, and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL REPORT

The annual report and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 were approved
and authorized for issue by the Board on April 21 2023.
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To the Shareholders of Li Auto Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Li Auto Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out

on pages 69 to 162, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2022;

. the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at December 31, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and have been

properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section

of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated

financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to accrual of product warranties.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Accrual of product warranties

Refer to note 2(q) to the consolidated financial

statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company accrued a provision for warranties
of RMB800.9 million. As of December 31,
2022, the accrued warranty liability balance was
RMB1,594.3 million.

A warranty reserve is accrued for the vehicles
sold, by considering the expected unit cost for
warranty service, which includes the Company’s
best estimate of the projected costs to repair or
replace items under warranty. These estimates
are based on the estimate of the nature, frequency

and average costs of future claims.

We focused on this area since the accrual of
product warranties is subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risks in
relation to the accrual of product warranties are
considered significant due to the complexity of
models, subjectivity of significant assumptions
used, and significant judgments involved in
selecting data.

We understood and evaluated the key internal controls and assessment

process in relation to management’s estimate of the product warranties;

We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

We evaluated the appropriateness of the model applied by management for

the accrual of warranty liabilities;

We evaluated the reasonableness of significant assumptions related to the
nature and frequency of future claims and the related projected costs to
repair or replace items under products warranties, considering current and
past performance, including a lookback analysis comparing prior period

forecasted claims to actual claims incurred;

We tested, on a sample basis, the completeness, accuracy and relevance of
management’s data by tracing to supporting documents such as supplier
invoices, and that such data was appropriately used by management in the

estimation of future claims; and

We tested the calculation of accrual of product warranties prepared by

management.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the key assumptions and
judgments adopted by management in the estimation of accrual of product

warranties were supported by available evidence.




ANNUAL REPORT 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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O Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

O Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong, April 21, 2023
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(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 2(1) 27,854,224 38,478,016 5,578,788
Restricted cash 2() 2,638,840 1,940,142 281,294
Time deposits and short-term investments 19,668,239 18,031,395 2,614,307
Trade receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of RMB467,
and RMB327 as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively 6 120,541 48,381 7,015
Inventories 7 1,617,890 6,804,693 986,588
Prepayments and other current assets, net of allowance for credit
losses of RMB2,192, and RMB4,427 as of December 31, 2021
and 2022, respectively 480,680 1,689,860 245,007
Total current assets 52,380,414 66,992,487 9,712,999
Non-current assets:
Long-term investments 12 156,306 1,484,491 215,231
Property, plant and equipment, net 8 4,498,269 11,187,898 1,622,093
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 10 2,061,492 3,538,911 513,094
Intangible assets, net 9 751,460 832,620 120,719
Goodwill - 5,484 795
Deferred tax assets 23 19,896 74,767 10,840
Other non-current assets, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB3,757, and RMB4,572 as of December 31, 2021 and
2022, respectively 11 1,981,076 2,421,293 351,054
Total non-current assets 9,468,499 19,545,464 2,833,826
Total assets 61,848,913 86,537,951 12,546,825
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings 13 37,042 390,750 56,653
Trade and notes payable 14 9,376,050 20,024,329 2,903,255
Amounts due to related parties 26 37,455 7,190 1,042
Deferred revenue, current 17 305,092 569,234 82,531
Operating lease liabilities, current 10 473,245 696,454 100,976
Accruals and other current liabilities 15 1,879,368 5,684,644 824,198

Total current liabilities 12,108,252 27,372,601 3,968,655
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(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term borrowings 13 5,960,899 9,230,807 1,338,341
Deferred revenue, non-current 17 389,653 581,598 84,324
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 10 1,369,825 1,946,367 282,197
Deferred tax liabilities 23 153,723 77,809 11,281
Other non-current liabilities 802,259 2,142,462 310,628
Total non-current liabilities 8,676,359 13,979,043 2,026,771
Total liabilities 20,784,611 41,351,644 5,995,426

Commitments and contingencies 25
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Class A ordinary shares
(US$0.0001 par value; 4,500,000,000 shares authorized,
1,709,903,330 shares issued and 1,573,750,346 shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2021; 4,500,000,000 shares
authorized, 1,728,765,894 shares issued and 1,598,541,812
shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022) 20 1,176 1,188 172
Class B ordinary shares
(US$0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized,
355,812,080 shares issued and outstanding as of December

31, 2021 and 2022) 20 235 235 34
Treasury Shares 20 (89) (84) (12)
Additional paid-in capital 49,390,486 53,869,322 7,810,318
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,521,871) (194,110) (28,143)
Accumulated deficit (6,805,635) (8,817,850) (1,278,468)
Total Li Auto Inc. shareholders’ equity 41,064,302 44,858,701 6,503,901
Noncontrolling interests - 327,606 47,498
Total shareholders’ equity 41,064,302 45,186,307 6,551,399
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 61,848,913 86,537,951 12,546,825

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)

Revenues:

Vehicle sales 26,128,469 44,106,434 6,394,832

Other sales and services 881,310 1,180,382 171,139
Total revenues 16 27,009,779 45,286,816 6,565,971
Cost of sales:

Vehicle sales (20,755,578) (35,688,343) (5,174,323)

Other sales and services (492,747) (808,017) (117,151)
Total cost of sales (21,248,325) (36,496,360) (5,291,474)
Gross profit 5,761,454 8,790,456 1,274,497
Operating expenses:

Research and development 18 (3,286,389) (6,780,032) (983,012)

Selling, general and administrative 19 (3,492,385) (5,665,301) (821,391)
Total operating expenses (6,778,774)  (12,445,333) (1,804,403)
Loss from operations (1,017,320) (3,654,877) (529,906)
Other (expense)/income

Interest expense (63,244) (106,340) (15,418)

Interest income and investment income, net 740,432 976,229 141,540

Others, net 187,320 625,633 90,708
Loss before income tax expense (152,812) (2,159,355) (313,076)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 23 (168,643) 127,007 18,414
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LI AUTO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348) (294,662)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests - (20,133) (2,919)
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of Li Auto Inc. (321,455) (2,012,215) (291,743)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
computing net loss per share
Basic and diluted 21 1,853,320,448 1,941,230,998 1,941,230,998
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic and diluted (0.17) (1.04) (0.15)
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348) (294,662)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax (516,687) 1,327,761 192,507
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax (516,687) 1,327,761 192,507
Total comprehensive loss, net of tax (838,142) (704,587) (102,155)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — (20,133) (2,919)
Comprehensive loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of
Li Auto Inc. (838,142) (684,454) (99,236)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Accumulated
(lass A Ordinary Shares Class B Ordinary Shares Treasury Shares Additional Other Total
Nunber Number Paidn - Comprehensive ~ Accumulated Noncontrolling ~ Shareholders’
of Shares Amount of Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Interests Equity
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
Balance as of January 1, 2021 1433476230 1010 355812,080 235 - - N6l (L005184)  (6,482.25) - 9803597
Cumulative effect of adoption of credit
loss guidance (Nore J/h) - - - - - - - - (1959) - (1,955)
Issuance of ordinary shares s treasury
shares 34,000,000 2 - = (34,000,000) 2) - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares for granting
Award Shares to CEO 108,557,400 10 = - (108,557400) (70) 10 = = = 10
Share issuance upon the Hong Kong
public offering (*HK 1P0), net of
Issuance costs 113,869,700 i - - - - 10,995,213 - - - 10,995,287
Exercise of share options - - - - 6,404,416 3] 4086 - - - 4089
Share-based compensation - - - - - - 1,101,356 - - - 1,101,356
Foreign currency translation adjustment,
et of tax - - - - - - - (516,687) - - (516,687)
Net loss - - - - - - - - (321,455) - (321,459)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 1,709.903,330 LITo 355812080 B5 (136,152984) (89) 93048 (L281)  (6805,63) - 4106430
Exercise of share options and vesting
of RSUs - - - - 5928902 § 39m - - - 39m
Share-based compensation - - - - - - 2,053,165 - - - 2,053,165
Foreign currency translation adjustment,
et of tax - - - - - - - 1,327,761 - - 1,327,761
Capital injection by noncontrolling
Interests - - - - - - - - - 347,739 341739
Share issuance upon the at-the-market
cquity offering program (the “ATM
Offering’) 18,862,564 12 - - - - 242,699 - - - 2420711
Net loss - - - - - - - - ) (20,133) (203234
Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,728,765,894 1,188 355,812,080 235 (130,224082) (84 53800322 (194110) ~ (8,817,850) e 45,186,307

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LI AUTO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss (321,455) (2,032,348) (294,662)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 590,397 1,213,855 175,992
Share-based compensation expenses 22 1,101,356 2,053,165 297,681
Foreign exchange loss 46,593 2,887 419
Unrealized investment loss 13,797 9,438 1,367
Interest expense 60,628 29,627 4,296
Share of loss of equity method investees 83 10,449 1,515
Impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment 27,388 - -
Inventory write-downs and losses on purchase commitments
relating to inventory and loss on inventory obsolescence 62,031 1,127,332 163,448
Allowance for credit losses 19 6,415 2,910 422
Deferred income tax, net 23 168,643 (128,338) (18,607)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 19,843 55,880 8,102
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepayments and other current assets (99,421) (1,172,064) (169,933)
Inventories (611,557) (5,920,182) (858,346)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (675,322) (766,681) (111,158)
Operating lease liabilities 695,940 799,750 115,953
Other non-current assets (633,307) (745,320) (108,061)
Trade receivable (5,459) 72,211 10,470
Deferred revenue 287,577 5,020 728
Trade and notes payable 6,162,009 10,593,584 1,535,925
Amounts due to related parties (11,751) (30,266) (4,388)
Accruals and other current liabilities 932,119 1,166,947 169,191
Other non-current liabilities 523,838 1,032,410 149,684
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,340,385 7,380,266 1,070,038




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (3,444,573) (5,127,899) (743,475)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 38 4,528 656
Purchase of long-term investments - (713,775) (103,488)
Placement of time deposits (1,308,296) (679,486) (98,516)
Redemption of time deposits 1,630,773 514,242 74,558
Placement of short-term investments (220,850,351)  (58,268,079) (8,448,077)
Redemption of short-term investments 220,345,863 59,953,714 8,692,471
Placement of long-term financial instruments - (50,000) (7,249)
Cash paid related to purchase Changzhou Manufacturing Base
Phase I and Phase II through acquisition of Changzhou
Chehejin Standard Factory Construction Co., Ltd.
(“Changzhou Chehejin”), net of cash acquired 10 (563,118) - -
Cash paid related to the acquisition of Chongqing Zhizao
Automobile Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing Zhizao”), net of cash
acquired 5 (67,580) — —
Acquisition of Changzhou Huixiang New Energy Auto Parts
Co., Ltd. (“Changzhou Huixiang”), net of cash acquired — 2,094 304
Net cash used in investing activities (4,257,244) (4,364,661) (632,816)
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LI AUTO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022 2022
Note RMB RMB US$
Note 2(e)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from share issuance through an at-the-market equity
offering program (the “ATM Offering”), net of issuance cost - 2,462,300 357,000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, share options and
vesting of RSUs 1,139 6,728 975
Proceeds from borrowings 600,000 3,741,482 542,464
Repayment of borrowings - (661,118) (95,853)
Repayment of unsecured corporate loan (429,692) - -
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt 13 5,533,238 - -
Capital injection from noncontrolling interest 90,000 13,049
Proceeds from HK IPO, net of issuance cost 11,004,778 - -
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 70 — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 16,709,533 5,639,392 817,635
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash (472,129) 1,270,097 184,146
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 20,320,545 9,925,094 1,439,003
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year 10,172,519 30,493,064 4,421,079
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year 30,493,064 40,418,158 5,860,082
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing
activities
Payable related to acquisition of Chongqing Zhizao (2,000) - -
Payable related to purchase of property, plant and equipment (456,395) (2,629,834) (381,290)
Property, plant and equipment and other assets related to capital
injection by noncontrolling interest shareholders - 228,668 33,154
Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized (10,173) (87,935) (12,749)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

(@)

(b)

Principal activities

Li Auto Inc. (“Li Auto”, or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands in April
2017 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company, through its consolidated subsidiaries and
the consolidated variable interest entities (the “VIEs”) and the VIEs’ subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), is
primarily engaged in the design, development, manufacturing, and sales of new energy vehicles and providing
other sales and services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

History of the Group and basis of presentation for the Reorganizations
In preparation for the Listing on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”), the
Group underwent reorganization of its corporate structure (the “2021 Reorganization™) in the second quarter of

2021. The major reorganization steps are described as follows:

. In accordance with the requirements under the Listing Decision LD43-3 of HKEXx to the extent practicable,
the Company underwent reorganization of the holding structure of its onshore subsidiaries and the VIEs.
The 2021 Reorganization mainly involved changing certain VIEs to wholly owned or partly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, to the extent permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Please
refer to Note 1 (b) (i) and (ii).

0 In April, 2021, the certain new contractual arrangements were entered into to replace the original
contractual arrangements in place before the completion of 2021 Reorganization. Upon the completion
of 2021 Reorganization, Beijing CHJ Information Technology Co., Ltd. (or “Beijing CHJ”) and Leading
Ideal HK Limited’s (“Leading Ideal HK’s”) subsidiary each held 50% of equity interest of Chongqing

Lixiang Automobile which was previously a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijng CHJ.

The transactions relating to the 2021 Reorganization were accounted for as common control transactions within
the Group. Accordingly, the Group’s consolidated financial information was not impacted as a result of these

transactions.

In March 2022, Beijing CHJ transferred its equity interest of Chongqing Lixiang Automobile to Leading Ideal
HK’s subsidiary. Consequently, Chongqing Lixiang Automobile became a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. The transaction was accounted for a common control transaction within the Group; accordingly, there

was no impact to the Group’s consolidated financial information.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries,
the consolidated VIEs and the VIEs’ subsidiaries.
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LI AUTO INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

History of the Group and basis of presentation for the Reorganizations (Continued)

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s principal subsidiaries, the consolidated VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries

are as follows:

Date of Place of Principal
Issued and Incorporation Incorporation and Activities and
Equity Interest Fully Paid or Date of Nature of Place of
Held Share Capital Acquisition Legal Entity Operation  Notes
Subsidiaries
Leading Ideal HK Limited 100% HKDO.1 May 15, 2017 Hong Kong, China, Investment holding
(“Leading Ideal HK”) limited in Hong Kong
liability company
Beijing Co Wheels Technology Co., 100% RMBI05,422  December 19,2017 Beijing, PRC, limited Technology
Ltd. (“Wheels Technology”) liability company development and
corporate management
in the PRC
Beijing Leading Automobile Sales 100% RMBI,647,831 August 6,2019  Beijing, PRC, limited ~ Sales and after sales
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Leading”) liability company management in
the PRC
Jiangsu Xindian Interactive Sales and 100% RMB238,702 May 8, 2017 Changzhou, PRC,  Sales and after sales (i)
Services Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu XD”) limited management in
liability company the PRC
Chongging Lixiang Automobile = RMB324,000  October 11, 2019 Chongging, PRC, Manufacturing of (i)
Co., Ltd. (“Chongging Lixiang limited ~ automobile in the PRC
Automobile”) liability company
VIEs
Beijing CHJ Information Technology = RMB295,464 April 10,2015 Beijing, PRC, limited Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing CHJ”) liability company development in
the PRC
Beijing Xindian Transport - - March 27,2017 Beijing, PRC, limited Technology
Information Technology Co., Ltd. liability company development in
(“Xindian Information”) the PRC

Notes:

(6] Jiangsu XD was Beijing CHJ’s subsidiary before the 2021 Reorganization.

(i1) Upon the completion of 2021 Reorganization, Beijing CHJ and Leading Ideal HK’s subsidiary each held a 50% equity
interest in Chongqing Lixiang Automobile which was previously a wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing CHJ. In March
2022, Beijing CHIJ transferred its equity interest of Chongqing Lixiang Automobile to Leading Ideal HK’s subsidiary.
Consequently, Chongqing Lixiang Automobile became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(©)

Variable interest entity

The Company’s subsidiary Wheels Technology has entered into contractual arrangements with Beijing CHJ and
Xindian Information (collectively the “VIEs”) and their respective shareholders. Through these arrangements
the Company has a controlling financial interest (and is the primary beneficiary) in each of the VIEs (as defined
under ASC 810) and, accordingly, consolidates each VIE under US GAAP.

The following is a summary of the contractual arrangements by and among Wheels Technology, the VIEs, and
their respective shareholders.

Powers of Attorney and Business Operation Agreement.

Each shareholder of Beijing CHJ signed a power of attorney to irrevocably authorize Wheels Technology to act
as his or her attorney in-fact to exercise all of his or her rights as a shareholder of Beijing CHJ, including the
right to convene shareholder meetings, the right to vote and sign any resolution as a shareholder, the right to
appoint directors, supervisors, and officers, and the right to sell, transfer, pledge, and dispose of all or a portion
of the equity interest held by such shareholder. These powers of attorney will remain in force for 10 years. Upon
request by Wheels Technology, each shareholder of Beijing CHJ shall extend the term of its authorization prior
to its expiration.

Pursuant to the Business Operation Agreements entered into in April 2021 by and among Wheels Technology,
Xindian Information, and each of the shareholders of Xindian Information, Xindian Information will not take
any action that may have a material adverse effect on its assets, businesses, human resources, rights, obligations,
or business operations without prior written consent of Wheels Technology. Xindian Information and its
shareholders further agreed to accept and strictly follow Wheels Technology’s instructions relating to Xindian
Information’s daily operations, financial management, and election of directors appointed by Wheels Technology.
The shareholders of Xindian Information agree to transfer any dividends or any other income or interests they
receive as the shareholders of Xindian Information immediately and unconditionally to Wheels Technology.
Unless Wheels Technology terminates this agreement in advance, this agreement will remain effective for 10
years and can be renewed upon request by Wheels Technology prior to its expiration. Xindian Information
and its shareholders have no right to terminate this agreement unilaterally. Pursuant to the Business Operation
Agreement, each shareholder of Xindian Information has executed a power of attorney to irrevocably authorize
Wheels Technology to act as his or her attorney-in-fact to exercise all of his or her rights as a shareholder of
Xindian Information. The terms of these powers of attorney are substantially similar to the powers of attorney
executed by the shareholders of Beijing CHJ described above.
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LI AUTO INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(©)

Variable interest entity (Continued)

Spousal Consent Letters.

Spouses of nine shareholders of Beijing CHJ, who collectively hold 100% of equity interests in Beijing CHJ,
have each signed a spousal consent letter. Each signing spouse of the relevant sharecholder acknowledges that
the equity interests in Beijing CHJ held by the relevant shareholder of Beijing CHJ are the personal assets of
that shareholder and not jointly owned by the married couple. Each signing spouse also has unconditionally
and irrevocably disclaimed his or her rights to the relevant equity interests and any associated economic rights
or interests to which he or she may be entitled pursuant to applicable laws, and has undertaken not to make
any assertion of rights to such equity interests and the underlying assets. Each signing spouse has agreed and
undertaken that he or she will not carry out in any circumstances any conducts that are contradictory to the

contractual arrangements and the spousal consent letter.

Spouses of nine shareholders of Xindian Information, who collectively hold 98.1% equity interests in Xindian
Information, have each signed a spousal consent letter, which includes terms substantially similar to the spousal

consent letter relating to Beijing CHJ described above.

Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreements.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement entered into in April 2021 by and between Wheels
Technology and Beijing CHJ, Wheels Technology has the exclusive right to provide Beijing CHJ with software
technology development, technology consulting, and technical services required by Beijing CHJ’s business.
Without Wheels Technology’s prior written consent, Beijing CHJ cannot accept any same or similar services
subject to this agreement from any third party. Beijing CHJ agrees to pay Wheels Technology an annual service
fee at an amount that is equal to 100% of its quarterly net income, after making up losses from previous years,
or an amount that is adjusted in accordance with Wheels Technology’s sole discretion for the relevant quarter
and also the mutually agreed amount for certain other technical services, both of which should be paid within
10 days after Wheels Technology sends invoice within 30 days after the end of the relevant calendar quarter.
Wheels Technology has exclusive ownership of all the intellectual property rights created as a result of the
performance of the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement, to the extent permitted by applicable PRC
laws. To guarantee Beijing CHJ’s performance of its obligations thereunder, the shareholders have agreed to
pledge their equity interests in Beijing CHJ to Wheels Technology pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement. The
Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement will remain effective for 10 years, unless otherwise terminated
by Wheels Technology. Upon request by Wheels Technology, the term of this agreement can be renewed prior

to its expiration.

In April 2021, Wheels Technology, Xindian Information, and each of the shareholders of Xindian Information
entered into an exclusive consultation and service agreement, which includes terms substantially similar to the

Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement relating to Beijing CHJ described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(©)

Variable interest entity (Continued)

Equity Option Agreements.

Pursuant to the Equity Option Agreement entered into in April 2021 by and among Wheels Technology, Beijing
CHJ, and each of the shareholders of Beijing CHJ, the sharecholders of Beijing CHJ have irrevocably granted
Wheels Technology an exclusive option to purchase all or part of their equity interests in Beijing CHJ, and
Beijing CHJ has irrevocably granted Wheels Technology an exclusive option to purchase all or part of its assets.
Wheels Technology or its designated person may exercise such options to purchase equity interests at the lower
of the amount of their respective paid-in capital in Beijing CHJ and the lowest price permitted under applicable
PRC laws. Wheels Technology or its designated person may exercise the options to purchase assets at the lowest
price permitted under applicable PRC laws. The shareholders of Beijing CHJ have undertaken that, without
Wheels Technology’s prior written consent, they will not, among other things, (i) transfer or otherwise dispose
of their equity interests in Beijing CHJ, (ii) create any pledge or encumbrance on their equity interests in Beijing
CHJ, (iii) change Beijing CHI’s registered capital, (iv) merge Beijing CHJ with any other entity, (v) dispose of
Beijing CHJ’s material assets (except in the ordinary course of business), or (vi) amend Beijing CHJ’s articles
of association. The Exclusive Option Agreement will remain effective for 10 years and can be renewed upon
request by Wheels Technology.

In April 2021, Wheels Technology, Xindian Information, and each of the shareholders of Xindian Information
entered into an equity option agreement, which includes terms substantially similar to the equity option agreement
relating to Beijing CHJ described above.

Equity Pledge Agreements.

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement entered into in April 2021 by and between Wheels Technology and the
shareholders of Beijing CHIJ, the shareholders of Beijing CHJ have agreed to pledge 100% of equity interests in
Beijing CHJ to Wheels Technology to guarantee the performance by the shareholders of their obligations under
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Powers of Attorney, as well as the performance by Beijing CHJ of its
obligations under the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Powers of Attorney, and payment of services fees to
Wheels Technology under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement. In the event of a breach by Beijing
CHIJ or any shareholder of contractual obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement, Wheels Technology, as
pledgee, will have the right to dispose of the pledged equity interests in Beijing CHJ and will have priority in
receiving the proceeds from such disposal. The shareholders of Beijing CHJ also have undertaken that, without
prior written consent of Wheels Technology, they will not dispose of, create, or allow any encumbrance on the
pledged equity interests.

In April 2021, Wheels Technology, Xindian Information, and each of the shareholders of Xindian Information
entered into an Equity Pledge Agreement, which includes terms substantially similar to the Equity Pledge
Agreement relating to Beijing CHJ described above.

The registration of the equity pledge relating to Beijing CHJ and Xindian Information with the competent office
of the SAMR in accordance with the PRC Property Law has been completed.

81




82

LI AUTO INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Risks in relations to the VIE structure

According to the Guidance Catalogue of Industries for Foreign Investment promulgated in 2017, or the
Catalogue, foreign ownership of certain areas of businesses are subject to restrictions under current PRC laws
and regulations. Pursuant to the 2021 Negative List, foreign investors are not allowed to own more than 50%
of the equity interests in a value-added telecommunication service provider (excluding e-commerce, domestic
multiparty communications, store-and-forward, and call centers). In addition, foreign investors are prohibited
from investing in companies engaging in internet culture businesses (except for music) and radio and television

program production businesses.

Part of the Group’s business is conducted through the VIEs of the Group, of which the Company is the ultimate
primary beneficiary. In the opinion of the management, the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and the
nominee shareholders are in compliance with PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.
The nominee shareholders indicate they will not act contrary to the contractual arrangements. However, there are
substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the PRC laws and regulations including
those that govern the contractual arrangements, which could limit the Group’s ability to enforce these contractual
arrangements and if the nominee shareholders of the VIEs were to reduce their interests in the Group, their
interest may diverge from that of the Group and that may potentially increase the risk that they would seek to
act contrary to the contractual arrangements.

It is possible that the Group’s operations of certain of its businesses through the VIEs could be found by the
PRC authorities to be in violation of the PRC laws and regulations prohibiting or restricting foreign ownership of
companies that engage in such operations and businesses. While the Group’s management considers the possibility
of such a finding by PRC regulatory authorities under current PRC law and regulations to be remote, on March 15,
2019, the National People’s Congress adopted the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC, which came into effect on
January 1, 2020 and replaced the trio of existing laws regulating foreign investment in China, namely, the Sino-
foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law, the Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law, and
the Wholly Foreign-invested Enterprise Law, together with their implementation rules and ancillary regulations.
The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC embodies an expected PRC regulatory trend to rationalize its foreign
investment regulatory regime in line with prevailing international practice and the legislative efforts to unify
the corporate legal requirements for both foreign and domestic investments. However, since it is relatively new,
uncertainties still exist in relation to its interpretation and implementation. For example, the Foreign Investment
Law of the PRC adds a catch-all clause to the definition of “foreign investment” so that foreign investment, by
its definition, includes “investments made by foreign investors in China through other means defined by other
laws or administrative regulations or provisions promulgated by the State Council” without further elaboration
on the meaning of “other means.” It leaves leeway for the future legislations promulgated by the State Council
to provide for contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment. It is therefore uncertain whether the
Group’s corporate structure will be seen as violating the foreign investment rules as the Group are currently
leveraging the contractual arrangements to operate certain businesses in which foreign investors are prohibited
from or restricted to investing. Furthermore, if future legislations prescribed by the State Council mandate
further actions to be taken by companies with respect to existing contractual arrangement, the Group may face
substantial uncertainties as to whether the Group can complete such actions in a timely manner, or at all. If the
Group fail to take appropriate and timely measures to comply with any of these or similar regulatory compliance
requirements, the Group’s current corporate structure, corporate governance and business operations could be

materially and adversely affected.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)
If the Company’s ownership structure, contractual arrangements, and businesses of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries or VIEs are found to be in violation of any existing or future PRC laws or regulations, or PRC
subsidiaries or VIEs fail to obtain or maintain any of the required permits or approvals, the relevant PRC

regulatory authorities would have broad discretion to take action in dealing with such violations or failures,

including:
. revoke the business licenses and/or operating licenses of such entities;
. shut down our servers or blocking the website or mobile application, or discontinue or place restrictions

or onerous conditions on the Group’s operation through any transactions between the PRC subsidiaries
and the VIEs;

. impose fines, confiscate the income from the PRC subsidiaries or the VIEs, or imposing other requirements

with which the VIEs may not be able to comply;

. require the Group to restructure the ownership structure or operations, including terminating the
contractual arrangements with the VIEs and deregistering the equity pledges of the VIEs, which in turn
would affect the Group’s ability to consolidate, derive economic interests from, or exert effective control
over the VIEs;

. restrict or prohibit the Group’s use of the proceeds of this offering to finance the Group’s business and

operations in China; or

. take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to the Group’s business.
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(@)

Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)

The imposition of any of these penalties may result in a material and adverse effect on the Group’s ability to
conduct the Group’s businesses. In addition, if the imposition of any of these penalties causes the Group to
lose the right to direct the activities of any of the VIEs (through its equity interests in its subsidiaries) or the
right to receive their economic benefits, the Group will no longer be able to consolidate the relevant VIEs and
its subsidiaries, if any. In the opinion of management, the likelihood of loss in respect of the Group’s current
ownership structure or the contractual arrangements with its VIEs is remote. The Group’s operations depend
on the VIEs and their nominee shareholders to honor their contractual arrangements with the Group. These
contractual arrangements are governed by PRC law and disputes arising out of these agreements are expected
to be decided by arbitration in the PRC. The management believes that each of the contractual arrangements
constitutes valid and legally binding obligations of each party to such contractual arrangements under the PRC
laws. However, the interpretation and implementation of the laws and regulations in the PRC and their application
on the legality, binding effect and enforceability of contracts are subject to the discretion of competent PRC
authorities, and therefore there is no assurance that relevant PRC authorities will take the same position as the
Group herein in respect of the legality, binding effect and enforceability of each of the contractual arrangements.
Meanwhile, since the PRC legal system continues to evolve, the interpretations of many laws, regulations and
rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which
may limit legal protections available to the Group to enforce the contractual arrangements should the VIEs or the
nominee shareholders of the VIEs fail to perform their obligations under those arrangements. The enforceability,
and therefore the benefits, of the contractual agreements between the Company and the VIE depend on nominee
shareholders enforcing the contracts. There is a risk that nominee shareholders of the VIEs, who in some cases
are also shareholders of the Company, may have conflicts of interest with the Company in the future or fails
to perform their contractual obligations. Given the significance and importance of the VIEs, there would be a
significant negative impact to the Company if these contracts were not enforced.

The Group’s operations depend on the VIEs to honour their contractual agreements with the Group and the
Company’s ability to control the VIEs also depends on the authorization by the shareholders of the VIEs to
exercise voting rights on all matters requiring shareholder approval in the VIEs. The Company believes that the
agreements on authorization to exercise shareholder’s voting power are legally enforceable and the possibility
that it will no longer be able to control and consolidate the VIEs as a result of the aforementioned risks and

uncertainties is remote.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)
The following consolidated financial information of the Group’s VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries as of December
31, 2021 and 2022 and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022 were included in the accompanying
Group’s consolidated financial statements as follows:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
RMB RMB
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 5,311,800 18,529,655
Restricted cash 2,415,941 977,346
Time deposits and short-term investments 8,326,541 8,344,332
Trade receivable 103,056 -
Amounts due from the Company and its subsidiaries" 23,402,104 37,885,882
Inventories 1,396,992 254
Prepayments and other current assets 220,402 168,160
Total current assets 41,176,836 65,905,629
Non-current assets:
Long-term investments 97,854 142,539
Property, plant and equipment, net® 2,329,507 101,577
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 731,874 693,111
Intangible assets, net 703,274 740,570
Other non-current assets 1,107,674 583,967
Total non-current assets 4,970,183 2,261,764
Total assets 46,147,019 68,167,393
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings 31,547 -
Trade and notes payable® 8,547,181 1,323,196
Amounts due to the Company and its subsidiaries” 31,999,140 60,539,514
Amounts due to related parties 1,277 23
Operating lease liabilities, current 80,606 40,707
Accruals and other current liabilities 515,036 334,333
Total current liabilities 41,174,787 62,237,773
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term borrowings 479,453 500,000
Deferred revenue, non-current 8,704 -
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 719,628 738,673
Deferred tax liabilities 153,723 2,979
Other non-current liabilities 14,333 7,720
Total non-current liabilities 1,375,841 1,249,372
Total liabilities 42,550,628 63,487,145
Total shareholders’ equity 3,596,391 4,680,248
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 46,147,019 68,167,393

These balances have been reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements with intercompany
transactions eliminated.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(@)

Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
Third-party revenues® 6,294,675 -
Inter-company revenues® 22,287,788 7,211,082

Third-party cost

(20,171,861)

(4,534,351)

Inter-company cost® (5,891,611) (8,290)
Third-party expenses (2,401,187) (1,638,834)
Inter-company expenses (65,750) 302)
Share of loss from subsidiaries (13) -
Other income 2,610,121 (358,394)
Profit before income tax expense 2,662,162 670,911
Income tax (expense)/benefit (117,413) 8,701
Net income 2,544,749 679,612
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders of Li Auto Inc. 2,544,749 679,612
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
Net cash provided by inter-company transactions® 7,341,282 2,834,408
Net cash used in other transactions (8,693,141) (10,922,189)
Net cash used in operating activities (1,351,859) (8,087,781)
Other investing activities with external entities (8,641,045) (2,149,494)
Net cash used in investing activities (8,641,045) (2,149,494)
Inter-company loan financing from Group companies 14,858,966 20,417,626
Other financing activities with external entities 81,308 1,598,877
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,940,274 22,016,503
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash - 32
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 4,947,370 11,779,260
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year 2,780,371 7,727,741
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year 7,727,741 19,507,001

The Company’s involvement with the VIEs is through the contractual arrangements disclosed in Note 1(c). All
recognized assets held by the VIEs are disclosed in the table above.

Notes:

(1) The amounts due from Group companies represent the funds provided by the consolidated VIEs to the WFOEs, and
the operating receivables resulting from the provision of goods and services to WFOEs;

The amounts due to Group companies represent the funds provided by Group companies to the consolidated VIEs,
and the operating payables resulting from the technical service fees charged by WFOEs.

2) The decrease in property, plant and equipment, net and trade and notes payable relates primarily to the transfer of
Chongging Lixiang Automobile’s equity interest from a VIE to Leading Ideal HK’s subsidiary as described in Note
1(b).

3) Third-party revenues were solely generated from sales of vehicles to customers by certain of the VIE subsidiaries

before the 2021 Reorganization as described in Note 1(b). No third-party revenues were generated by the VIEs in 2022
as these same VIE subsidiaries have become equity owned/controlled subsidiaries after the 2021 Reorganization.

4) Represents the inter-group revenues for technical service fees, inter-company sales of vehicles and transfer of intangible
assets and inter-group costs recognized by the consolidated VIEs related to the sales of vehicles and transfer of
intangible assets between the consolidated VIEs and subsidiaries of the Group. There were no management fees paid
by VIEs to WOFEs as the VIEs were in each in an accumulated deficit position as of December 31, 2022.

5) For the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2022, cash paid by subsidiaries to VIEs for technical service fees, inter-
company sales of vehicles and inter-company transfer of intangible assets were RMB7,341,282 and RMB2,834,408
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, no management fees were paid by VIEs to Wheels
Technology as each of the VIEs was in an accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2022 (pursuant to each management
fee arrangement with the VIEs).
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Risks in relations to the VIE structure (Continued)

As a result of the contractual arrangements between Wheels Technology, the VIEs and the VIEs’ shareholders,
Wheels Technology has a controlling financial interest and is the primary beneficiary (pursuant to ASC 810)
in the Group’s consolidated VIEs and the VIEs’ subsidiaries and can have assets transferred out of the such
VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries without restriction. Therefore, it is considered that there is no asset in the Group’s
VIEs and the VIEs’ subsidiaries that can be used only to settle their obligations except for registered capitals
and PRC statutory reserves of the Group’s consolidated VIEs amounting to RMB7,103,472 and RMB5,230,100
as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively. As the Group’s consolidated VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries
are incorporated as limited liability companies under the PRC Company Law, the creditors do not have
recourse to the general credit of Wheels Technology for all the liabilities of the Group’s consolidated VIEs
and VIEs’ subsidiaries. The total accumulated deficit of the Group’s consolidated VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries
was RMB1,229,463 and RMB549,853 as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2022, no management fees were paid by VIEs to the WOFEs as each of the VIEs were
in accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2022 (pursuant to each management fee arrangement with the VIEs).

Currently there is no contractual arrangement that could require the Company, Wheels Technology or other
subsidiaries of the Company to provide additional financial support to the Group’s consolidated VIEs and VIEs’
subsidiaries. As the Company is conducting certain businesses in the PRC through the consolidated VIEs and
VIEs’ subsidiaries, the Company may provide additional financial support on a discretionary basis in the future,
which could expose the Group to a loss. The amount due to/from the Company and its subsidiaries represents the
balances arising from inter-company sales of vehicles and intangible assets and inter-company loan financings.

Impact of the COVID-19

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the related nationwide precautionary and control measures that were adopted
in China starting in January 2020, the Company postponed the production in its Changzhou manufacturing
facility after the Chinese New Year holiday in February 2020, and also experienced short term delays in the
suppliers’ delivery of certain raw materials needed for production. As a result of varying levels of travel and
other restrictions for public health concerns in various regions of China, the Group also temporarily postponed
the delivery of Li ONE to customers. Following this temporary closure in February 2020, the Group reopened
the retail stores and delivery and servicing centers and have resumed vehicle delivery to customers. Subsequent
to March 31, 2020, the Group continuously increased their production capacity and delivery to normal level as
the Group had recovered from the adverse impact of COVID-19 across China through the third quarter of 2021.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(e)

Impact of the COVID-19 (Continued)

Since October 2021, the supply of semiconductor chips used for automotive manufacturing has experienced a
global shortage following the disruption to semiconductor manufacturers due to the COVID-19 pandemic and
an increase in global demand for personal computers for work-from-home economies. For example, due to the
COVID-19 pandemic in Malaysia, the production of chips dedicated for the Group’s millimeter-wave radar
supplier had been severely hampered, and the production and deliveries for the third quarter of 2021 had been
adversely affected. Subsequent to December 2021, the Group gradually resumed normal vehicle production by
continuing to obtain the chips or other semiconductor components at a reasonable cost from multiple sources.

In late March and April 2022, the COVID-19 resurgence in the Yangtze Delta region of China caused renewed
and severe industry-wide disruptions in supply chain, logistics and production. The Group’s Changzhou
manufacturing base is located in the center of the Yangtze Delta region, which is home to over 80% of the
Group’s parts suppliers, especially in Shanghai and Kunshan. Certain suppliers in Shanghai and Kunshan
temporarily terminated the production or delivery of their products completely, resulting in the Group unable
to maintain adequate inventory for production demand. This had a material adverse impact on production in
April 2022, resulting in delayed deliveries for customers. The Group has been working with vendors to restore
production capacity with the objective to shorten the delivery waiting time for Li ONE customers. Despite
the significant ongoing industry-wide parts supply chain challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group’s production and delivery of vehicles gradually began to resume and sustain pre-pandemic levels
beginning in May 2022.

With the COVID-19 resurgence gradually under control and the zero-COVID policy being modified by the
Chinese government, most of the travel restrictions and quarantine requirements were lifted in December 2022.
Following this change, the Group continued to expand its sales networks to meet the increasing demands from
customers. Despite the impact of the COVID-19 resurgence, the Group reported a year-over-year revenue growth
for the year ended December 31, 2022. In light of the uncertainties in the global market and economic conditions
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group will continue to evaluate the nature and extent of the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic to its financial condition and liquidity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

(b)

(©

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for financial information and the disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on HKEX, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time (the “HK Listing Rules”).

Significant accounting policies followed by the Group in the preparation of its accompanying consolidated

financial statements are summarized below.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries, the VIEs
and the VIEs’ subsidiaries for which the Company is the ultimate primary beneficiary.

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly, controls more than one half of the voting
power; has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors (the “Board”);
to cast majority of votes at the meeting of the Board or to govern the financial and operating policies of the

investee under a statute or agreement among the shareholders or equity holders.

A VIE is an entity in which the Company, or its subsidiary, through contractual arrangements, has established
a controlling financial interest (as defined in ASC 810) and is able to direct the activities and derive the
economic benefits of the entity. Accordingly, the Company is considered the primary beneficiary of each VIE

and consolidates each entity in accordance with US GAAP.

All significant transactions and balances between the Company, its subsidiaries, VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries

have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, related disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, and the reported revenue and expenses during the

reported period in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, to the extent
applicable, mainly include, but are not limited to, standalone selling price of each distinct performance obligation
in revenue recognition and determination of the amortization period of these obligations, the determination
of share-based compensation expenses, fair value of investments and derivative instruments, useful lives
and assessment for impairment of long-lived assets and intangible assets, the provision for credit losses of
financial assets, inventory valuation for excess and obsolete inventories, lower of cost and net realizable
value of inventories, losses on purchase commitments relating to inventory, product warranties, and valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions
and conditions.
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Functional currency and foreign currency translation

The Group’s reporting currency is the Renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiary which are incorporated in Hong Kong and Singapore are United States dollars (“USS$”). The functional
currencies of the other subsidiaries, the VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries are their respective local currencies
(“RMB”). The determination of the respective functional currency is based on the criteria set out by ASC 830,
Foreign Currency Matters.

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency using the applicable exchange rates at the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are measured
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Exchange gains or losses arising from foreign

currency transactions are included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

The financial statements of the Group’s entities of which the functional currency is not RMB are translated
from their respective functional currency into RMB. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Equity accounts other than earnings
generated in current period are translated into RMB at the appropriate historical rates. Income and expense items
are translated into RMB using the periodic average exchange rates. The resulting foreign currency translation
adjustments are recorded in other comprehensive income/(loss) in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income/(loss), and the accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments are presented as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity. Total
foreign currency translation adjustment loss were RMB516,687 for the years ended December 31, 2021, and
foreign currency translation adjustment income was RMB1,327,761 for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Convenience translation

Translations of balances in the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and
consolidated statements of cash flows from RMB into USS$ as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
solely for the convenience of the reader and were calculated at the rate of US$1.00 = RMB6.8972, representing
the noon buying rate set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board on December 30,
2022. No representation is made that the RMB amounts represent or could have been, or could be, converted,
realized or settled into US$ at that rate on December 31, 2022, or at any other rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

(€9)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash on hand, time deposits and highly liquid investments placed with banks
or other financial institutions, which are unrestricted as to withdrawal and use, and which have original maturities
of three months or less. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Group had cash held in accounts managed by
online payment platforms such as China Union Pay in connection with the collection of vehicle sales for a total
amount of RMB33,540 and RMB68,824, respectively, which have been classified as cash and cash equivalents
on the consolidated balance sheets.

Cash that is restricted as to withdrawal for use or pledged as security is reported separately on the face of
the consolidated balance sheets and is not included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statements of cash flows. The Group’s restricted cash mainly represents (a) the secured deposits held in
designated bank accounts for issuance of letter of credit, bank guarantee and bank acceptance bill; (b) the deposits
held in designated bank accounts for security of the repayment of the notes payable (Note 15).

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows are presented
separately on our consolidated balance sheets as follows:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Cash and cash equivalents 27,854,224 38,478,016
Restricted cash 2,638,840 1,940,142
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 30,493,064 40,418,158

Time deposits and short-term investments

Time deposits are those balances placed with the banks. These deposits that have original maturities longer
than three months but less than one year are classified as short-term time deposits which are reflected in the
consolidated balance sheets as “Time deposits and short-term investments”, while the balances with original
maturities longer than one year are classified as long-term time deposits which are reflected in the consolidated

statements of balance sheets as “Long-term investments”.

Short-term investments are investments in financial instruments with variable interest rates. These financial
instruments which have maturity dates within one year are classified as short-term investments and are reflected
in the consolidated statements of balance sheets as “Time deposits and short-term investments”, while those
financial instruments which have maturity dates longer than one year are classified as long-term investments
in the consolidated statements of balance sheets. The Group elected the fair value method at the date of initial
recognition and carried these investments subsequently at fair value. Fair value is estimated based on quoted
prices of similar financial products provided by financial institutions at the end of each period. Changes in the
fair value are reflected in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) as “Interest income and

investment income, net”.
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Trade receivables and current expected credit losses

Trade receivables primarily includes commission service fee receivables derived from insurance companies and
banks (the company earns such fees in facilitating customer use of services offered by these entities), and vehicle
sale receivables related to government subsidies to be collected from the government on behalf of customers. The
Group provides an allowance against trade receivables based on the expected credit loss approach (see below)
and writes off trade receivables when they are deemed uncollectible. No material allowance for credit loss on

trade receivables was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, which introduces an
approach based on expected losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including,
but not limited to, trade and other receivables and net investments in leases. The Group assessed that trade
receivables, other current assets, and other non-current assets are within the scope of ASC 326. The Group
has identified the relevant risk characteristics of trade receivables, other current assets, and other non-current
assets which include size, type of the services or the products the Group provides, or a combination of these
characteristics, the historical credit loss experience, current economic conditions, supportable forecasts of future
economic conditions, and any recoveries in assessing the lifetime expected credit losses, etc. Other key factors
that influence the expected credit loss analysis include industry-specific factors that could impact the credit
quality of the Group’s receivables. This is assessed at each quarter based on the Group’s specific facts and
circumstances. All forward looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of
which are beyond the Group’s control. Considering the macroeconomic and market turmoil caused by COVID 19,

the Group is continuously monitoring data and trends and took the latest available information into consideration.

The Group adopted ASC 326 and several associated ASUs on January 1, 2021 using a modified retrospective
approach with a cumulative effect recorded as an increase of accumulated deficit in the amount of RMB1,955. As
of January 1, 2021, upon the adoption, the expected credit loss provisions for the current assets and non-current
assets were RMB972 and RMB983, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, the Group
recorded RMB6,415 and RMB2,910 in expected credit losses in selling, general and administrative expenses,
respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the expected credit loss reserves recorded in current assets were
RMB2,659 and RMB4,754, and recorded in non-current assets were RMB3,757 and RMB4,572, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

(@

Trade receivables and current expected credit losses (Continued)

The Group typically does not carry significant trade receivables related to vehicle sales and related sales as
customer payments are due prior to vehicle delivery, except for amounts of vehicle sales in relation to government
subsidies to be collected from the government on behalf of customers. Other current assets and other non-current
assets primarily consist of other receivables and deposits. The following table summarizes the activity in the
allowance for credit losses related to trade receivables, other current assets and other non-current assets for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022:

For the year ended December 31

2021 2022

Balance as of the beginning of the year 1,955 6,416
Provisions 6,415 24,163
Reversals (1,954) (21,253)
Balance as of the end of the year 6,416 9,326

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value and recognized as either assets or liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets in either other current or non-current assets or other current liabilities or non-current liabilities
depending upon maturity and commitment. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are either recognized
periodically in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) or in other comprehensive income/

(loss) depending on the use of the derivatives and whether they qualify for hedge accounting.

The Group selectively uses financial instruments to manage market risk associated with exposure to fluctuations
in foreign currency rates with foreign exchange forwards and option contracts. These financial exposures are
monitored and managed by the Group as an integral part of its risk management program. The Group does
not engage in derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes. The Group’s derivative instruments
are not qualified for hedge accounting, thus changes in fair value are recognized in “Interest income and
investment income, net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss). The cash flows of
derivative financial instruments are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the items subject to
the economic hedging relationships. The estimated fair value of the derivatives is determined based on relevant
market information. These estimates are calculated with reference to the market rates using industry standard

valuation techniques.

Derivative instruments are presented as net if rights of setoff exist, with all of the following conditions met:
(a) each of two parties owes the other determinable amounts; (b) the reporting party has the right to set off the
amount owed with the amount owed by the other party; (c) the reporting party intends to set off; and (d) the
right of setoff is enforceable at law.
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Derivative instruments (Continued)

The Group did not have any outstanding derivative account balances instruments as of December 31, 2021 and
2022 due to related maturities prior to December 31, 2021. The Group recorded a fair value gain of RMB73,824
and nil in Interest income and investment income, net on the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for

the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted average
basis and includes all costs to acquire and other costs to bring the inventories to their present location and
condition. The Group records inventory write-downs for excess or obsolete inventories based upon assumptions
on current and future demand forecasts. If the inventory on hand is in excess of future demand forecast, the excess
amounts are written off. The Group also reviews inventory to determine whether its carrying value exceeds the
net amount realizable upon the ultimate sale of the inventory. This requires the determination of the estimated
selling price of the vehicles less the estimated cost to convert inventory on hand into a finished product. Once
inventory is written-down, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established and subsequent changes in
facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly established cost basis. The
Company recognized RMB51,256 and RMB1,112,015 in write-downs of inventories to net realizable value and
losses on inventory purchase commitments in cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022,

respectively (Note 7).

Property, plant and equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates sufficient to write off their costs less impairment and
residual value, if any, over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Direct costs that
are related to the construction of property, equipment and software and incurred in connection with bringing the
assets to their intended use are capitalized as construction in progress. Interest expense on specific outstanding
debt is capitalized during the period of significant capital asset construction. Capitalized interest expense on
construction-in-progress is included within property, plant and equipment and is amortized over the life of the
related assets. Motor vehicles represent vehicles used for the Group’s daily operation, including driving testing
purpose. Construction in progress is transferred to specific property, equipment and the depreciation of these
assets commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Property, plant and equipment, net (Continued)
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Useful Lives

Buildings 20 years

Buildings improvements 5 to 10 years

Production machineries and facilities 3 to 10 years

Equipment 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

Mold and tooling Unit-of-production

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term

The cost of maintenance and repairs is expensed as incurred, whereas the cost of renewals and betterment that
extends the useful lives of property, plant and equipment is capitalized as additions to the related assets. When
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization
are removed from their respective accounts, and any gain or loss on such sale or disposal is reflected in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss).

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of its Property, plant and equipment on an ongoing basis. In
evaluating useful lives, the Company considers how long assets will remain functionally efficient and effective,
given levels of production, competitive factors, and the economic environment. If the assessment indicates that
the assets will continue to be used for a shorter or longer period than previously anticipated, the useful life of
the assets is revised, resulting in a change in estimate. Changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective

basis by depreciating the assets’ current carrying values over their revised remaining useful lives.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company completed an assessment of the estimated units of production of certain
mold and tooling and the useful lives of certain production facilities, all of which can only be used for Li ONE
vehicle production. The Company’s assessment in the third quarter of 2022, which reflects the planned cessation
of Li ONE production by the end of October 2022, indicated that certain production facilities directly used for Li
ONE vehicle production will not be used for the period of time originally estimated. As a result, the Company
changed its estimates of useful lives for the certain production facilities from 10 years to 3 years, after considering
the Company’s planned model succession from 2021 Li ONE to Li L8. In addition, depreciation of certain mold
and tooling that are directly used in Li ONE production was also accelerated based on management’s revised best
estimate for 2021 Li ONE’s production volume using the unit-of-production depreciation method. As a result of
these changes in estimates, which are treated prospectively, the Company recorded an increase in depreciation
expense of RMB357,500, for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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(m)

Intangible assets, net
Definite lived intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any. Definite

lived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as below:

Useful Lives

Software and Patents 5 to 10 years

The Company estimates the useful life of the software and patents to be 5 to 10 years based on the contract terms,
expected technical obsolescence and innovations and industry experience of such intangible assets.

Intangible assets that have indefinite useful life represent the automotive manufacturing permission and the
insurance agent license. The automotive manufacturing permission is necessary to produce the passenger vehicles.
No useful life was determined in the contract terms when the Company acquired the automotive manufacturing
permission and the insurance agent license. The Company expects that the permission and the license are unlikely
to be terminated based on industry experience and will continue to contribute revenue in the future. Therefore, the

Company considers the useful life of these intangible assets to be indefinite.

The newly acquired insurance agent license in 2022 is considered to be an indefinite lived intangible asset and is
carried at cost less any subsequent impairment loss. The Group believes, based upon regulatory precedent, that
ongoing required license renewals (as approved by government authorities) is a normal activity, those providing
the basis for the indefinite life assumption.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired as a result of the Group’s acquisitions of interests in its subsidiaries and consolidated VIEs. Goodwill
is not amortized but is tested for impairment on an annual basis, as of December 31, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
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(n)

Goodwill (Continued)

The Group first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. In the qualitative assessment, the Group considers primary
factors such as industry and market considerations, overall financial performance of the reporting unit, and other
specific information related to the operations. If the Group decides, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the quantitative
impairment test is mandatory. Otherwise, no further testing is required. The quantitative impairment test consists
of a comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the difference will be recorded. Application of
a goodwill impairment test requires significant management judgment, including the identification of reporting
units, assigning assets and liabilities to reporting units, assigning goodwill to reporting units, and determining
the fair value of each reporting unit. The judgment in estimating the fair value of reporting units includes
estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates and making other assumptions. Changes
in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each reporting
unit. The Group performs goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit level on December 31 annually and
more frequently if indicators of impairment exist. No impairment loss of goodwill was recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Impairment of long-lived assets and intangible assets

Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives. Long-lived
assets are assessed for impairment, whenever events or changes in circumstances (such as a significant adverse
change to market conditions that will impact the future use of the assets) indicate the carrying value of an asset
may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC360. The Company measures the carrying amount of long-lived
assets against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. The impairment exists when the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated. Impairment
loss is calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. RMB27,388 and nil

impairment of long-lived assets were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment at least annually and more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired in accordance with
ASC 350. The Company first performs a qualitative assessment to assess all relevant events and circumstances
that could affect the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset.
If after performing the qualitative assessment, the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, the Company calculates the fair value of the intangible asset and
perform the quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair value of the asset with its carrying amount. If
the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, the Company recognizes an
impairment loss in an amount equal to that excess. In consideration of the growing electric vehicle industry in
China, the Group’s improving financial performance, and the Group’s future manufacturing and sales plans, the
Company determined that it is not likely that the indefinite-lived intangible assets was impaired as of December
31,2021 and 2022.
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Long-term investments
Long-term investments are comprised of investments in publicly traded companies and privately-held companies,

as well as long-term time deposits and long-term financial instruments.

Equity Investments with Readily Determinable Fair Values

Equity investments with readily determinable fair values are measured and recorded at fair value using the market
approach based on the quoted prices in active markets at the reporting date. The Group classifies the valuation
techniques that use these inputs as Level I of fair value measurements.

Equity Investments without Readily Determinable Fair Values

The Group adopted ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018. The Group measures equity investments other than equity
method investments at fair value through earnings. For those equity investments without readily determinable
fair values, the Group elects to record these investments at cost, less impairment, and plus or minus subsequent
adjustments for observable price changes. Under this measurement alternative, changes in the carrying value of
the equity investment are required to be made whenever there are observable price changes in orderly transactions
for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer. The implementation guidance notes that an entity
should make a “reasonable efforts” to identify price changes that are known or that can reasonably be known.

Pursuant to ASC 321, for equity investments measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in
earnings, the Group does not assess whether those securities are impaired. For those equity investments that
the Group elects to use the measurement alternative, the Group makes a qualitative assessment of whether the
investment is impaired at each reporting date. If a qualitative assessment indicates that the investment is impaired,
the Group estimates the investment’s fair value in accordance with the principles of ASC 820. If the fair value
is less than the investment’s carrying value, the Group recognizes an impairment loss equal to the difference

between the carrying value and fair value.

Equity investments accounted for using the equity method

Investments in entities over which the Group can exercise significant influence and hold an investment in common
shares or in-substance common shares (or both) of the investee but do not own a majority equity interest or
control are accounted for using the equity method of accounting in accordance with ASC topic 323, Investment
— Equity Method and Joint Ventures (“ASC 323”). Under the equity method, the Group initially records its
investments at cost and the difference between the cost of the equity investee and the fair value of the underlying
equity in the net assets of the equity investee is recognized as equity method goodwill, which is included in
the equity method investment on our consolidated balance sheets. The Group subsequently adjusts the carrying
amount of the investments to recognize our proportionate share of each equity investee’s net income or loss
into earnings after the date of investment. The Group evaluates the equity method investments for impairment
under ASC 323. An impairment loss on the equity method investments is recognized in earnings when the
decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary. The Group performs an impairment assessment of its
equity method investments whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
investment may not be fully recoverable. No impairment of equity method investments was recognized for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.
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Long-term investments (Continued)

Equity investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

The Group assesses its investments in privately-held companies for impairment by considering factors including,
but not limited to, current economic and market conditions, operating performance of the companies, including
current earnings trends and undiscounted cash flows, and other company-specific information, such as recent
financing rounds. The fair value determination, particularly for investments in privately-held companies whose
revenue model is still unclear, requires significant judgment to determine appropriate estimates and assumptions.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could affect the calculation of the fair value of the investments. If
this assessment indicates that an impairment exists, the Group estimates the fair value of the investment and
writes down the investment to its fair value, taking the corresponding charge to the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income/(loss).

Long-term time deposits

Long-term time deposits are those balances placed with the banks with original maturities longer than one year.

Long-term financial instruments

Long-term financial instruments are investments in financial instruments with variable interest rates and maturity
dates greater than one year. The Group elected the fair value method at the date of initial recognition and carried
these investments subsequently at fair value. Fair value is estimated based on quoted prices of similar financial
products provided by financial institutions at the end of each period. Changes in the fair value are reflected in

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income/(loss) as “Interest income and investment income, net.”

Employee benefits

Full time employees of the Group in the PRC participate in a government mandated defined contribution plan,
pursuant to which certain pension benefits, medical care, employee housing fund and other welfare benefits are
provided to the employees. Chinese labor regulations require that the PRC subsidiaries and VIEs and VIEs’
subsidiaries of the Group make contributions to the government for these benefits based on certain percentages
of the employees’ salaries, up to a maximum amount specified by the local government. The Group has no legal
obligation for the benefits beyond the contributions made. During the reporting period, there are no forfeited
contribution that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. Total
amounts of such employee benefit expenses, which were expensed as incurred, were approximately RMB482,536
and RMB1,092,499 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.
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Product warranties

The Group provides product warranties on all new vehicles based on the contracts with its customers at the time
of sale of vehicles. The Group accrues a warranty reserve for the vehicles sold by multiplying the expected unit
costs for warranty services by the sales volume, which includes the best estimate of projected costs to repair or
replace items under warranties and recalls when identified. These estimates are made primarily based on actual
claims incurred to date and the estimates of the nature, frequency and average costs of future claims. These
estimates are inherently uncertain given the Group’s relatively short history of sales, and changes to the historical
or projected warranty experience may cause material changes to the warranty reserve in the future. The portion of
the warranty reserve expected to be incurred within the next 12 months is included within the accruals and other
current liabilities while the remaining balance is included within other non-current liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets. Warranty cost is recorded as a component of cost of sales in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income/(loss). The Group reevaluates the adequacy of the warranty accrual on a regular basis.

The Group recognizes the benefit from a recovery of the costs associated with the warranty when specifics of

the recovery have been agreed with the Group’s suppliers and the amount of the recovery is virtually certain.

The Group does not consider standard warranty as being a separate performance obligation as it is intended to
provide greater quality assurance to customers and is not viewed as a distinct obligation. Accordingly, standard
warranty is accounted for in accordance with ASC 460, Guarantees. The Group also provides extended lifetime
warranty for certain vehicle models which is sold separately through a vehicle sales contract. The extended
lifetime warranty is an incremental service offered to customers and is considered a separate performance
obligation distinct from other promises and should be accounted for in accordance with ASC 606.

The accrued warranty activity consists of the following:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
Accrued warranty at beginning of the year 233,366 842,345
Warranty cost incurred (22,558) (48,963)
Provision for warranty 631,537 800,930
Accrued warranty at end of the year 842,345 1,594,312
Including: Accrued warranty, current 154,276 141,832

Accrued warranty, non-current 688,069 1,452,480
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Revenue recognition

The Group launched the first volume manufactured extended-range electric vehicle, Li ONE, to the public in
October 2018 and started making deliveries to customers in the fourth quarter of 2019. The Group released the
2021 Li ONE in May 2021, which is upgraded version of Li ONE and terminated the production of the first
model Li ONE in May, 2021. From June 2022, the Company launched extended-range electric vehicle L-Series
to the public and started making deliveries to customers from August 2022. Revenues of the Group are primarily
derived from sales of vehicles, along with multiple distinct performance obligations within each sale of vehicle,
as well as the sales of Li Plus Membership.

The Group adopted ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, on January 1, 2018 by applying the full

retrospective method.

Revenue is recognized when or as the control of the goods or services is transferred to a customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and services may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the

Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;
. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
. does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to

payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue

is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Group
allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Group
generally determines standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers. If the standalone selling
price is not directly observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin, depending on the availability
of observable information. Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling price
of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in judgments on these assumptions and estimates may

impact the revenue recognition.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance

and the customer’s payment.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods and services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A
right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional,
before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the
payment is made, or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

Vehicle sales

The Group generates revenue from sales of vehicles, currently the L-Series and Li ONE, together with a number
of embedded products and services through a contract. There are multiple distinct performance obligations
explicitly stated in the sales contracts including sales of L-Series and Li ONE, charging stalls, vehicle internet
connection services, firmware over-the-air upgrades (or “FOTA upgrades”) and initial owner extended warranty
subject to certain conditions, which are accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. The standard warranty
provided by the Group is accounted for in accordance with ASC 460, Guarantees, and the estimated costs are
recorded as a liability when the Group transfers the control of L-Series or Li ONE to a customer.

Customers only pay the amount after deducting the government subsidies to which they are entitled for the
purchase of new energy vehicles, which is applied on their behalf and collected by the Group from the government
according to the applicable government policy. The Group has concluded that government subsidies should be
considered as a part of the transaction price it charges the customers for the new energy vehicles, as the subsidy
is granted to the purchaser of the new energy vehicles and the purchaser remains liable for such amount in
the event the subsidies were not received by the Group due to his fault such as refusal or delay of providing
application information. Since July 2020, the Group was no longer eligible for the government subsidies as the
Group’s selling price of vehicles is higher than threshold in the circular issued by the certain PRC authorities.

The overall contract price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation based on the relative estimated
standalone selling price in accordance with ASC 606. The revenue for sales of the L-Series and Li ONE and
charging stalls are recognized at a point in time when the control of the product is transferred to the customer. For
the vehicle internet connection service and FOTA upgrades, the Group recognizes the revenue using a straight-
line method over the service period. As for the initial owner extended warranty, given the limited operating
history and lack of historical data, the Group recognizes the revenue over time based on a straight-line method
over the extended warranty period initially, and will continue monitoring the cost pattern periodically and adjust
the revenue recognition pattern to reflect the actual cost pattern as it becomes available.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Vehicle sales (Continued)

As the contract price for the vehicle and all embedded products and services must be paid in advance, which
means the payments are received prior to the transfer of goods or services by the Group, the Group records a

contract liability (deferred revenue) for the allocated amount regarding those unperformed obligations.

Sales of Li Plus Membership

The Group also sells the Li Plus Membership to enrich the ownership experience of customers. Total Li Plus
Membership fee is allocated to each performance obligation based on the relative estimated standalone selling
price. And the revenue for each performance obligation is recognized either over the service period or at a point

in time when the relevant goods or service is delivered or when the membership expired, whichever is earlier.

Customer loyalty points

Beginning in January 2020, the Group offers customer loyalty points, which can be used in the Group’s online
store to redeem the Group’s merchandise or services. The Group determines the value of each customer loyalty
point based on cost of the Group’s merchandise or service that can be obtained through redemption of customer

loyalty points.

The Group concludes the customer loyalty points offered to customers in connection with the purchase of the
L-Series and Li ONE is a material right and is considered as a separate performance obligation according to ASC
606, and should be taken into consideration when allocating the transaction price of the sales of vehicle. The
amount allocated to the customer loyalty points as separate performance obligation is recorded as contract liability

(deferred revenue) and revenue should be recognized when the customer loyalty points are used or expired.

Customers or users of the mobile application can also obtain customer loyalty points through other ways, such
as referring new customers to purchase the vehicles via the mobile application. The Group offers these customer
loyalty points to encourage user engagement and generate market awareness. As a result, the Group accounts for
such points as selling and marketing expenses with a corresponding liability recorded under accruals and other

current liabilities upon the points offering.

Sales of Automotive Regulatory Credits

Pursuant to the measurements and policies promulgated by China’s Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology (“MIIT”), each of the vehicle manufacturers or importers above a certain scale is able to earn
Automotive Regulatory Credits by manufacturing or importing New Energy Vehicle (“NEV”). The Automotive
Regulatory Credits are tradable and sold to other companies through a credit management system established
by MIIT. The Group earns the tradable new energy vehicle credits from the production of the Group’s electric
vehicles. The Group sells these credits at agreed price to other regulated entities who can use the credits to
comply with the regulatory requirements. The Group recognized revenue on the sale of Automotive Regulatory
Credits at the time control of the Automotive Regulatory Credits were transferred to the purchasing party in
September 2021 as MIIT has completed the review and approved the sale of Automotive Regulatory Credits, the
related NEV Credits have been transferred to purchasing party. The full consideration for sale of Automotive
Regulatory Credits was collected by the Group in the fourth quarter of 2021. There was no revenue from the

sale of automotive regulatory credits for the years ended December 31, 2022.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Practical expedients and exemptions

The Group elects to expense the costs to obtain a contract as incurred given the majority of the contract
considerations for vehicle sales are allocated to the sales of L-Series and Li ONE and recognized as revenue

upon transfer of control of the vehicles, which is within one year after entering the sales contracts.

Cost of sales

Vehicle sales

Cost of vehicle sales consists of direct production and material costs, labor costs, manufacturing overhead
(including depreciation of assets associated with the production), shipping and logistic costs and reserves for
estimated warranty costs. The cost of sales also includes adjustments to warranty costs and charges to write-down
the carrying value of the inventory when it exceeds its estimated net realizable value and to provide for on-hand
inventory that is either obsolete or in excess of forecasted demand, loss on inventory purchase commitment as
well as impairment charges of certain property, plant and equipment.

Other sales and services
Cost of other sales and services generally includes cost of accessories, installation costs of charging stalls, vehicle
internet connection costs, costs associated with providing non-warranty after-sales services and shipping and

logistic costs related to sale of accessories.

Research and development expenses

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses are primarily comprised of salaries, bonuses, benefits and
share-based compensation for those employees engaged in research, design and development activities; design
and development expenses, primarily includes consultation fees, validation and testing fees; depreciation and
amortization expenses of equipment and software of R&D activities and other expenses. R&D costs are expensed

as incurred.

Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and other compensation related expenses for sales
and marketing personnel, marketing and promotional expenses, rental and related expenses for retail stores and

delivery and servicing centers and other expenses.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, bonuses, benefits and share-based compensation
for employees involved in general corporate functions, including finance, legal and human resources, depreciation
and amortization expenses primarily relating to leasehold improvements, rental and other general corporate

related expenses.
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Government grants

The Group’s PRC based subsidiaries receive government subsidies from certain local governments. The Group’s
government subsidies consist of specific subsidies and other subsidies. Specific subsidies are subsidies that the
local government has provided for a specific purpose, such as research and development purpose, construction
of production plants and facilities and capacity subsidies related to the Chongqing Manufacturing Base. Other
subsidies are the subsidies that the local government has not specified its purpose for and are not tied to future
trends or performance of the Group, receipt of such subsidy income is not contingent upon any further actions
or performance of the Group and the amounts do not have to be refunded under any circumstances. The Group
recorded specific purpose subsidies as a non-current liability if the amount is received in advance. For specific
subsidies, upon government acceptance of the related project construction or asset acquisition, the specific
purpose subsidies are recognized to reduce the cost of asset acquisition. Other subsidies are recognized as Others,
net upon receipt as further performance by the Group is not required.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, other non-current liabilities included nil and RMB431,735 in deferred
government grants relating to specific government subsidies for construction production plants and facilities and
product development, respectively. These government grants are expected to be amortized using the straight-line
method as a deduction of the depreciation expense of these assets over their useful lives upon construction and
when placed in use.

Fair value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value
measurement for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be either recorded or disclosed at fair value, the
Group considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact, and it also considers

assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.

Accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s
categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. Accounting guidance establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable, market-based inputs, other than quoted prices, in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.

When available, the Group uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value of an asset or liability. If
quoted market prices are not available, the Group will measure fair value using valuation techniques that use,
when possible, current market-based or independently sourced market parameters, such as interest rates and

currency rates.
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Share-based compensation
The Company grants share options and RSUs to eligible employees, directors and consultants and accounts for

share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation.

Employees’ share-based compensation awards granted with service conditions and the occurrence of a qualified
IPO as performance condition, are measured at the grant date fair value. Cumulative share-based compensation
expenses for the options that have satisfied the service condition should be recorded upon the completion of
the US IPO, using the graded-vesting method. This performance condition was met upon the completion of the
Company’ US IPO in August 2020 and the associated share-based compensation expense for awards vested as
of that date were recognized. Employees’ share-based compensation awards granted with only service conditions

are recognized as expenses over the vesting period, using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures.

The binomial option-pricing model is used to measure the value of share options. The determination of the fair
value is affected by the fair value of the ordinary shares as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex
and subjective variables, including the expected share price volatility, risk-free interest rates and expected
dividends. The fair value of these awards was determined taking into account these factors.

The assumptions used in share-based compensation expense recognition represent management’s best estimates,
but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and application of management judgment. If factors change
or different assumptions are used, the share-based compensation expenses could be materially different for any
period. Moreover, the estimates of fair value of the awards are not intended to predict actual future events or
the value that ultimately will be realized by grantees who receive share-based awards, and subsequent events are
not indicative of the reasonableness of the original estimates of fair value made by the Company for accounting

purposes.

Taxation

Current income taxes are recorded in accordance with the regulations of the relevant tax jurisdiction. The Group
accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, Income Tax. Under
this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax consequences attributable to differences
between carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax
basis, and operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss in the period of change. Valuation allowances are established when necessary
to reduce the amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that amount of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized.

The Group records liabilities related to uncertain tax positions when, despite the Group’s belief that the Group’s
tax return positions are supportable, the Group believes that it is more likely than not that those positions may
not be fully sustained upon review by tax authorities. Accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits are classified as income tax expense. The Group did not recognize uncertain tax positions as of
December 31, 2021 and 2022.
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Pl

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa)

Leases

The Group accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”), which requires lessees to
recognize leases on the balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The Group
adopted ASC 842 on January 1, 2018, along with all subsequent ASU clarifications and improvements that are
applicable to the Group, to each lease that existed in the periods presented in the financial statements, using the
modified retrospective transition method and used the commencement date of the leases as the date of initial
application. Consequently, financial information and the disclosures required under ASC 842 are provided
for dates and periods presented in the financial statements. The Company elected not to apply the recognition
requirements of ASC 842 to short-term leases. The Company also elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, therefore, it will account for lease component and the non-lease components as a single
lease component when there is only one vendor in the lease contract. The adoption of ASC 842 resulted in
recognition of right of use (“ROU”) assets of RMB158,770, current operating lease liabilities of RMB14,575

and non-current operating lease liabilities of RMB142,751 upon the adoption date.

The Group determines if a contract contains a lease based on whether it has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from the use of an identified asset which the Group does not own and whether it has
the right to direct the use of an identified asset in exchange for consideration. ROU assets represent the Group’s
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets are recognized as the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for
lease incentives received. Lease liabilities are recognized at the present value of the future lease payments at the
lease commencement date. The interest rate used to determine the present value of the future lease payments is
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”), because the interest rate implicit in most of the Group’s leases
is not readily determinable. The IBR is a hypothetical rate based on the Group’s understanding of what its credit
rating would be to borrow and resulting interest the Group would pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease
payments in a similar economic environment over the lease term on a collateralized basis. Lease payments may
be fixed or variable, however, only fixed payments or in-substance fixed payments are included in the Group’s
lease liability calculation. Variable lease payments are recognized in operating expenses in the period in which
the obligation for those payments are incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(aa)

(ab)

(ac)

Leases (Continued)

The land use rights are operating leases with terms of about 50 years. Other than the land use rights, the lease
terms of operating and finance leases vary from more than a year to 20 years. Operating leases are included in
operating lease right of use assets, current and non-current operating lease liabilities on the Group’s consolidated
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2022, all of the Group’s ROU assets were generated from leased assets in
the PRC.

In a sale and leaseback transaction, one party (the seller-lessee) sells an asset it owns to another party (the
buyer-lessor) and simultaneously leases back all or a portion of the same asset for all, or part of, the asset’s
remaining economic life. The seller-lessee transfers legal ownership of the asset to the buyer-lessor in exchange
for consideration, and then makes periodic rental payments to the buyer-lessor to retain the use of the asset.
The Company applies requirements in Topic 606 on revenue from contracts with customers when determining
whether the transfer of an asset shall be accounted for as a sale of the asset.

An option for the seller-lessee to repurchase the asset would preclude accounting for the transfer of the asset as
a sale of the asset unless both of the following criteria are met:

a. The exercise price of the option is the fair value of the asset at the time the option is exercised.
b. There are alternative assets, substantially the same as the transferred asset, readily available in the
marketplace.

Loss per share

Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the period using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, net loss is not allocated to other participating
securities if based on their contractual terms they are not obligated to share in the loss. Diluted net loss per share
is computed using the weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the period. Potential ordinary shares include ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
share options using the treasury stock method and ordinary shares issuable upon the conversion of convertible
debt using the if-converted method. Potential ordinary shares are not included in the denominator of the diluted

loss per share calculation when inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is defined to include all changes in equity/(deficit) of the Group during a period arising
from transactions and other events and circumstances excluding transactions resulting from investments by
shareholders and distributions to shareholders. Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), as presented

in the consolidated balance sheets, consists of accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ad) Segment reporting
ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for companies to report in their financial statements

information about operating segments, products, services, geographic areas, and major customers.

Based on the criteria established by ASC 280, the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) has
been identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews consolidated results when making decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group as a whole, and hence, the Group has only one
reportable segment. The Group does not distinguish between markets or segments for the purpose of internal
reporting. As the Group’s long-lived assets are substantially located in the PRC, no geographical segment
information is presented.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20)
and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). For convertible instruments, the
accounting update reduces the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred
stock. Limiting the accounting models results in fewer embedded conversion features being separately recognized from
the host contract as compared with current U.S. GAAP. The accounting update amends the guidance for the derivatives
scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions.
The accounting update also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. For public business
entities, the update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Entities are allowed to apply this update on either a full or modified retrospective basis. The
Company has early adopted this new accounting update on a modified retrospective basis from January 1, 2021 and
reported the convertible debt as one single unit of account of long-term borrowings on the balance sheet (Note 14(1)).

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832). This ASU requires
business entities to disclose information about government assistance they receive if the transactions were accounted for
by analogy to either a grant or a contribution accounting model. The disclosure requirements include the nature of the
transaction and the related accounting policy used, the line items on the balance sheets and statements of operations that
are affected and the amounts applicable to each financial statement line item and the significant terms and conditions
of the transactions. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. The disclosure
requirements can be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all transactions in the scope of the amendments
that are reflected in the financial statements at the date of initial application and new transactions that are entered into
after the date of initial application. We adopted the ASU prospectively on January 1, 2022. Adoption of this ASU did

not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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4. CONCENTRATION AND RISKS

(@)

(b)

Concentration of credit risk

Assets that potentially subject the Group to significant concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and short-term investments, long-term deposits and long-term
financial instruments. The maximum exposure of such assets to credit risk is their carrying amounts as of the
balance sheet dates. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, most of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits and short-term investments, long-term deposits and long-term financial instruments were
held by major financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong Kong which management believes are of high
credit quality. On May 1, 2015, China’s new Deposit Insurance Regulation came into effect, pursuant to which
banking financial institutions, such as commercial banks, established in the PRC are required to purchase deposit
insurance for deposits in RMB and in foreign currency placed with them. This Deposit Insurance Regulation
would not be effective in providing complete protection for the Group’s accounts, as its aggregate deposits are
much higher than the compensation limit. However, the Group believes that the risk of failure of any of these
PRC banks is remote. The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits and short-term investments, long-term deposits and long-term financial instruments
which are held by reputable financial institutions in the jurisdictions where the Company, its subsidiaries and
the VIEs are located. The Group believes that it is not exposed to unusual risks as these financial institutions
have high credit quality. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to the assets

mentioned above.

The Group relies on a limited number of third parties to provide payment processing services (“payment service
providers”) to collect amounts due from customers. Payment service providers are financial institutions, credit
card companies and mobile payment platforms such as Alipay and WeChat Pay, which the Group believes are

of high credit quality.

Currency convertibility risk

The PRC government imposes controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and short-term investments and long-term financial
instruments denominated in RMB that are subject to such government controls amounted to RMB24,509,656 and
RMBS55,065,266 as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively. The value of RMB is subject to changes in
the central government policies and to international economic and political developments affecting supply and
demand in the PRC foreign exchange trading system market. In the PRC, certain foreign exchange transactions
are required by law to be transacted only by authorized financial institutions at exchange rates set by the People’s
Bank of China (the “PBOC”). Remittances in currencies other than RMB by the Group in the PRC must be
processed through PBOC or other Chinese foreign exchange regulatory bodies which require certain supporting

documentation in order to process the remittance.
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4.

CONCENTRATION AND RISKS (CONTINUED)

() Foreign currency exchange rate risk

The conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies, including U.S. dollars, is based on rates set by the People’s
Bank of China. The Renminbi has fluctuated against the U.S. dollar, at times significantly and unpredictably.
The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies is affected by changes in China’s political
and economic conditions and by China’s foreign exchange policies, among other things. The appreciation of
the RMB against the US$ was approximately 2.3% in 2021. The depreciation of the RMB against the US$ was
approximately 8.2% in 2022. It is difficult to predict how market forces or PRC or U.S. government policy may
impact the exchange rate between the RMB and the USS in the future.

ACQUISITION OF CHONGQING ZHIZAO AND CHANGZHOU HUIXTANG

Acquisition of Chongqing Zhizao

On December 28, 2018, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing CHJ, Chongqing Xinfan Machinery
Co., Ltd. (the “Buyer” or “Xinfan”), entered into an acquisition agreement (the “Lifan Acquisition Agreement”) with
Lifan Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Lifan Industry” or the “Seller”) and its two wholly-owned subsidiaries Chongqing
Zhizao (the “Target”) and Chongqing Lifan Passenger Vehicle Co., Ltd. (“Lifan Passenger Vehicle” or the “Divestiture
Recipient”), to acquire an 100% equity interest in Chongqing Zhizao (the “Acquisition”). Chongqing Zhizao was formerly
known as Chongqing Lifan Automobile Co., Ltd.

Prior to the completion of the Acquisition, Chongqing Zhizao transferred most of its assets and liabilities and the
related rights and obligations to Lifan Passenger Vehicle in November 2018 (the “Divestiture”). After the Divestiture,
Chonggqing Zhizao still retained its Automotive Manufacturing Permission, working capital and certain lease contracts,
and other financial assets or liabilities (hereinafter referred to as “Retained Assets and Liabilities™).

Key operating assets including plants, equipment, vehicle design and development technologies and raw materials had
been transferred out from Chongqing Zhizao to Lifan Industry or Lifan Passenger Vehicle prior to the Acquisition.
All employee contracts, operational systems and processes have also been transferred to Lifan Passenger Vehicle. No
system, standard, protocol, convention, or rule that can create or has the ability to contribute to the creation of outputs
were obtained by Xinfan. This Acquisition is determined to be an asset acquisition as no sufficient inputs and processes
were acquired to produce outputs.

The Acquisition was completed on December 29, 2018 (the “Acquisition Date”) when the legal procedures were
completed. Total consideration for the Acquisition was RMB650,000 in cash. As of December 31, 2021, the Group
settled the aggregate amount of RMB648,000, of which RMB8,000 was settled with the outstanding loan receivable
from Chongqing Lifan Holdings Ltd. (“Lifan Holdings”).

On December 19, 2019, Xinfan entered into a share transfer agreement (the “Lifan Disposal Agreement”) to dispose
of its 100% equity interest in Chongqing Zhizao, with cash consideration of RMB0.001. The Retained Assets and
Liabilities of Chongqing Zhizao not related to the manufacturing of Li ONE were transferred out to Lifan Industry and
Lifan Passenger Vehicle upon the completion of the disposal of Chongqing Zhizao. A disposal loss of RMB4,503 was

recognized on December 26, 2019, the disposal date of the transaction.
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ACQUISITION OF CHONGQING ZHIZAO AND CHANGZHOU HUIXIANG
(CONTINUED)

Acquisition of Changzhou Huixiang

In July 2021, Beijing CHJ Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing CHJ”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
and Suzhou Huichuan United Power System Co., LTD (“Suzhou Huichuan™), an independent third party, signed a
shareholders’ agreement (the “Agreement”) to establish Changzhou Huixiang New Energy Auto Parts Co., LTD
(“Changzhou Huixiang”), which engaged in producing auto parts for NEVs.

The registered capital of Changzhou Huixiang was RMB150,000, and Beijing CHJ will contribute RMB73,500 to
acquire a 49% ownership share. In January 2022, both Beijing CHJ and Suzhou Huixiang have injected RMB30,000
in Changzhou Huixiang.

In September 2022, Beijing CHJ and Suzhou Huichuan entered into another agreement regarding the investment in
Changzhou Huixiang. Both parties agreed that Beijing CHJ would contribute RMB87,040 to acquire 87.34% shares, with
Suzhou Huichuan making no further capital contribution. Beijing CHJ has 4 out of 5 seats on the Changzhou Huixiang
Board of Directors and Suzhou Huichuan has one seat. Upon the completion of the transaction, the Group has voting
interest control over Changzhou Huixiang and consolidates the entity in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of December 31, 2021 and 2022, based on the recognition date and net

of credit loss provisions, is as follows:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Within 3 months 16,462 35,065
Between 3 months and 6 months 890 41
Between 6 months and 1 year - 1
More than 1 year 103,189 13,274
Total 120,541 48,381

The Company received government subsidies on behalf of customers for purchases of new energy vehicles of RMB89,840
in 2022, whose aging was more than 1 year as of December 2021.
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7.

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Finished products 149,089 3,477,457
Raw materials, work in process and supplies 1,468,801 3,327,236
Total 1,617,890 6,804,693

Raw materials, work in process and supplies as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 primarily consist of materials for
volume production which will be transferred into production cost when incurred as well as spare parts used for after

sales services.

Finished products include vehicles ready for transit at production plants, vehicles in transit to fulfil customers’ orders,

new vehicles available for immediate sales at the Group’s sales and servicing center locations.

The Company recognized inventory write-downs and losses on inventory purchase commitments which were recorded
in cost of sales of nil and RMB51,256 for the years ended December 31, 2021, and RMB592,545 and RMB519,470 for
the years ended December 31, 2022, respectively. The amount recognized for the year ended December 31, 2022 was
related primarily to the Company’s phase out plan of the Li ONE vehicle which considers a related forecasted decline

in future sales and resulting excess inventory levels.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment and related accumulated depreciation were as follows:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Production machineries and facilities® 804,281 3,226,785
Construction in process 1,942,953 2,748,697
Mold and tooling 1,098,392 2,721,990
Buildings 409,123 2,046,472
Leasehold improvements 660,902 1,070,995
Equipment 266,745 626,502
Motor vehicles 59,702 615,231
Buildings improvements 297,163 314,987
Total 5,539,261 13,371,659
Less: Accumulated depreciation (983,222) (2,156,225)
Less: Accumulated impairment loss® (57,770) (27,536)
Total property, plant and equipment, net 4,498,269 11,187,898

The Group recorded depreciation expense of RMB579,097 and RMB1,194,781 for the years ended December 31, 2021

and 2022, respectively.

(1) On August 27, 2021, Beijing CHJ entered into an investment agreement with Mianyang Xinchen (“Xinchen”),

a wholly owned subsidiary of Xinchen China Power Holdings Limited, relating to the formation of Sichuan Li

Xinchen Technology Co., Ltd (“Sichuan Li Xinchen”) in Mianyang, Sichuan Province, China. According to the

investment agreement, Bejing CHJ has a 51% equity interest in Sichuan Li Xinchen and has the right to nominate

three board members (out of five), therefore, providing Beijing CHJ with a controlling interest over Sichuan

Li Xinchen. In June 2022, Sichuan Li Xinchen received a capital contribution of long-lived assets amounting

to RMB228,668 from Xinchen and completed the necessary legal procedures as required in the investment

agreement (pursuant to which Bejing CHJ will maintain a 51% equity interest).
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8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Construction in process is primarily comprised of production plants, facilities, equipment and mold and
tooling related to manufacturing of the extended-range electric SUV vehicles and BEV models in Changzhou

Manufacturing Base construction and Beijing Manufacturing Base construction.

In July 2021, the Group signed a memorandum and a series of agreements (collectively “Beijing Manufacturing
Base Agreements”) for collaboration on a construction and expansion project of an automobile manufacturing
plant, for the Group’s specific use, in Shunyi District, Beijing, with an enterprise affiliated with the Beijing
local government (“the Developer Enterprise”). Since May, 2022, the Group was entitled to lease the plant
facility from the Developer Enterprise (responsible for the construction of the plant) with exemption of rental
expenses to September 2028, and agreed to acquire the plant in September 2028. In October 2021, construction
commenced on the Beijing Manufacturing Base, which is scheduled to be put into use in 2023. As of December
31, 2022, RMB469,317 of construction in process and along with RMB214,092 of other non-current liabilities

were recognized in the consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company completed a necessary assessment of the estimated units of production
of certain mold and tooling and the useful lives of certain production facilities directly used for Li ONE vehicle
production. The assessment was determined to be necessary as a result of the Company’s decision during the
third quarter, 2022 to cease Li ONE production by the end of October 2022 (as a result of the Company’s planned
migration to the Li L8 model). As a result of this assessment, the Company changed the estimated useful lives
relating to dedicated Li ONE production facilities from 10 years to 3 years. In addition, depreciation of certain
mold and tooling that are directly used in Li ONE production was also accelerated based on management’s
best estimate for 2021 Li ONE’s production volume when using the unit-of-production depreciation method.
As a result, the effect of these changes in estimates, accounted for on a prospective basis, was an increase in
depreciation expense of RMB357,500 for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group launched 2021 Li ONE in May 2021, which subsequently led to a reduction in production and sales
volume relating to the first model Li ONE. As of December 31, 2021, the Group recorded an impairment loss of
RMB27,388 on its production facilities and mold and tooling used in the production of the first model Li ONE
as a significant portion of the carrying value of these assets are not expected to be recovered in the foreseeable
future. The Group recorded an impairment loss of RMB27,388 and nil for property, plant and equipment for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets and related accumulated amortization were as follows:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Automotive Manufacturing Permission (Note 5) 647,174 647,174
Insurance Agent License = 35,000
Indefinite-lived intangible assets, net 647,174 682,174
Software 137,576 202,848
Patents 694 694
Definite-lived intangible assets 138,270 203,542
Less: Accumulated amortization
Software (33,290) (52,402)
Patents (694) (694)
Accumulated amortization (33,984) (53,096)
Definite-lived intangible assets, net 104,286 150,446
Total intangible assets, net 751,460 832,620

The newly acquired Insurance Agent License is considered to be an indefinite lived intangible asset and is carried at
cost less any subsequent impairment loss. The Group believes, based upon regulatory precedent, that ongoing required
license renewals (as approved by government authorities) is a normal activity, those providing the basis for the indefinite
life assumption.

The Group recorded amortization expense of RMB11,300 and RMB19,074 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2022, respectively.
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10.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (CONTINUED)

As of December 31, 2022, amortization expenses related to intangible assets for future periods are estimated to be as

follows:
As of
December 31
2023 21,310
2024 18,558
2025 16,500
2026 15,674
2027 and thereafter 78,404
Total 150,446
LEASES

Operating leases of the Group mainly include land use rights and leases of offices, retail stores and delivery and servicing
centers and the finance lease was the lease of Changzhou manufacturing base production plants (Note 8(ii)).

The components of lease expenses were as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
Lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of assets 12,122 -
Interest of lease liabilities 19,322 -
Operating lease cost 367,375 698,280
Short-term lease cost 15,559 54,683
Total 414,378 752,963

Operating lease cost is recognized as rental expenses in consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Short-term lease cost is recognized as rental expenses in consolidated statements of comprehensive loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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LEASES (CONTINUED)

Supplemental cash flows information related to leases was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2021 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows payments for operating leases 346,757 610,490
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 1,120,392 2,071,200

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows (in thousands, except lease terms and discount

rate):

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Operating Leases
Land use rights, net 289,810 1,010,640
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net (excluding land use rights) 1,771,682 2,528,271
Total operating lease assets 2,061,492 3,538,911
Operating lease liabilities, current 473,245 696,454
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 1,369,825 1,946,367
Total operating lease liabilities 1,843,070 2,642,821

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term
Land use rights 47 years 49 years
Operating leases 8 years 7 years
Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases 5.8% 5.8%
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10. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

As of

December 31,
2022

Operating leases

2023 824,247
2024 584,377
2025 377,332
2026 263,142
2027 195,680
Thereafter 965,491
Total undiscounted lease payments 3,210,269
Less: imputed interest (567,448)
Total lease liabilities 2,642,821

Acquisition of Changzhou Manufacturing Base Phase I and Phase II and termination of lease agreements

In November 2021, Jiangsu CHJ, as a subsidiary of the Group, entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire
an 100% equity interest in Changzhou Chehejin which owns the legal title of Changzhou Manufacturing Base Phase
I and Phase II Land use rights and Plants. According to the equity transfer agreement, the total consideration for this
transaction was RMB567,118 in cash, of which RMB537,009 was paid as of December 31, 2022. Upon the completion
of the transaction, the legal titles of Changzhou Manufacturing Base Phase I and II, including Land use rights and Plants,
were transferred to the Group, and the original lease agreements were terminated accordingly.

There were no inputs and substantive processes acquired to significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs
(no workforce or revenue supporting processes were acquired in connection with this transaction). Accordingly, this

transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition.

According to ASC 842-20-40-2, the termination of a lease that results from the purchase of an underlying asset by
the lessee is not the type of termination of a lease contemplated but, rather, is an integral part of the purchase of the
underlying asset. Upon the Group’s purchase of the Changzhou Manufacturing Base Phase I and II Land use right and
Plants, the difference between the total consideration of this transaction and the carrying amount of the lease liabilities
arising from Phase I assets and short-term borrowings arising from Phase II assets immediately prior to the transaction
was recorded as an adjustment of the carrying amount of the asset, with an amount of RMB47,876 on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.
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LEASES (CONTINUED)

Acquisition of land use rights in Changzhou and Chongqing

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group acquired land use rights to construct production plants and facilities
for manufacturing vehicles of the Group in Changzhou and Chongqing, the PRC. The total consideration of land use
rights was RMB766,662 that was fully paid as of December 31, 2022.

Land use rights are classified as an operating lease and are recorded at cost, as a right of use asset less accumulated
amortization. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives which are 50 years that
represent the terms of land use rights certificate. The Group recorded amortization of land use rights in Changzhou and
Chongqing of RMB12,807 for the year ended December 31, 2022.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Long-term deposits paid to vendors 653,030 1,319,816
Prepayments for purchase of property, plant and equipment® 1,051,415 641,748
Deductible VAT input, non-current 263,390 454,359
Others 16,998 9,942
Less: Allowance for credit losses (3,757) (4,572)
Total 1,981,076 2,421,293
(1) Prepayments for purchase of property, plants and equipment primarily consists of production facilities, leasehold improvements,

equipment and mold and tooling related to manufacturing of the extended-range electric SUV vehicles and BEV models, a
portion of Beijing, Chongqing and Changzhou Manufacturing Bases construction and production facilities and equipment
relating to manufacturing of engines and parts of Sichuan Li Xinchen.
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12. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

The Group’s long-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Equity investments:
Equity Securities Without Readily Determinable Fair Values 93,150 558,004
Equity investments accounted for using the equity method 34,704 155,053
Equity Security With Readily Determinable Fair Values 28,452 12,966
Long-term held-to-maturity investments:
Long-term time deposits - 707,853
Long-term financial instruments — 50,615
Total Long-term Investments 156,306 1,484,491

Equity Security with Readily Determinable Fair Values
Equity security with readily determinable fair values are marketable equity securities which are publicly traded stocks

measured at fair value.

The following table shows the carrying amount and fair value of equity securities with readily determinable fair values:

Foreign

Unrealized Currency
Cango Inc. Cost Basis Loss Translation Fair Value
As of December 31, 2021 100,303 (73,5395) 1,684 28,452
As of December 31, 2022 100,303 (91,063) 3,726 12,966

The Company purchased 2,633,644 shares of Series C preferred shares issued by Cango Inc. (“Cango”), with a total
cash consideration of US$15,634 (RMB100,303) in 2018. This investment was initially recorded as an equity holding
without a readily determinable fair value given Cango was still a privately held company at that time. In July 2018,
Cango completed its listing on the New York Stock Exchange (“Cango IPO”) and the Series C preferred shares held
by the Company were converted to Class A ordinary shares of Cango.

Upon the completion of Cango IPO, the Company reclassified this investment from equity securities without readily
determinable fair value to equity securities with readily determinable fair value. These securities are valued using the
market approach based on the quoted prices in active markets at the reporting date. The Company classifies the valuation
techniques that use these inputs as Level 1 of fair value measurements.

Any unrealized gain or loss is recognized in Interest income and investment income, net in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive loss.
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Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Values

Equity securities without determinable fair value represent investments in privately held companies with no readily
determinable fair value. The Group’s investments are preferred shares, which are not considered as common stock or
in substance common stock. Upon adoption of ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018, the Group elected the measurement
alternative and recorded these investments at cost, less impairment (if any), adjusted for subsequent observable price
changes.

In March 2022, one of the Group’s subsidiaries — Chongqing Chezhiyuan, entered into an agreement with Xin Wang
Da Electronics Limited (“Xin Wang Da Electronics”), an A-share listed company engaging in design, production and
sale of lithium battery cells and modules to purchase certain Series Pre-A preferred shares of Xin Wang Da Electric
Vehicle and Battery Limited (“the investee”), a subsidiary of Xin Wang Da Electronics. This transaction, with a total
consideration of RMB400,000, resulted in the Group’s 3.2% equity ownership in the investee at the acquisition date,
which was diluted to 2.41% as a result of a financing transaction completed by the investee in October 2022. As of
December 31, 2022, Chongqing Chezhiyuan has fully paid the investment consideration of RMB400,000.

Impairment charges of nil and RMB7,200 were recorded in Interest income and investment income, net in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Borrowings consist of the following:

Interest Rate As of December 31,

Maturity Date Classification Principal Amount Per Annum 2021 2022

Convertible debt™® May 1, 2028 Non-current US$ 862,500 0.25% 5,397,941 5,913,715

Secured borrowing® February 15, 2027 Current and Non-current RMB 900,000  5-year LPR - 900,000
-0.40%

Secured borrowing® June 21, 2034 Non-current RMB 625,383 S-year LPR - 625,383
-0.80%

Secured borrowing® September 28, 2029 Current and Non-current RMB 600,000  S5-year LPR 600,000 600,000
-0.31%

Credit guaranteed borrowing®  June 29, 2024 Current and Non-current Us$ 50,000 SOFR - 348,230

Credit guaranteed borrowing®  July 26, 2025 Current and Non-current RMB 300,000 I-year LPR - 300,000

Unsecured borrowing!” March 8, 2024 Non-current RMB 260,000 I-year LPR - 260,000
-0.70%

Unsecured borrowing® June 15, 2024 Non-current RMB 240,000 I-year LPR - 240,000
-0.70%

Secured borrowing® March 25, 2025 Current and Non-current RMB 224329 S-year LPR - 224,329
-0.60%

Credit guaranteed borrowing!”  December 26, 2025 Non-current RMB 209,900 I-year LPR - 209,900
-0.90%

Total borrowings 5,997,941 9,621,557
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13.

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The total borrowings are classified as short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings:

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Short-term borrowings:
Current portion of secured borrowing 37,042 283,785
Current portion of credit guaranteed borrowing — 106,965
Total short-term borrowings 37,042 390,750

As of December 31,

2021 2022
Long-term borrowings:
Convertible debt 5,397,941 5,913,715
Non-current portion of secured borrowing 562,958 1,440,544
Secured borrowing - 625,383
Non-current portion of credit guaranteed borrowing - 541,265
Unsecured borrowing = 500,000
Credit guaranteed borrowing — 209,900
Total long-term borrowings 5,960,899 9,230,807
Total borrowings 5,997,941 9,621,557

(1

In April 2021, the Company issued and sold convertible debt in an aggregate principal of US$862,500 through a private
placement. The convertible debt will mature in 2028, bearing the interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum. The related interest is
payable semiannually in arrears on May | and November 1 of each year, beginning on November 1, 2021. The net proceeds
from this offering were approximately US$844,876, equivalent to RMBS5,533,238.

The convertible debt may be converted, at an initial conversion rate of 35.2818 American depositary shares (the “ADSs”) per
US$1,000 principal amount (which represents an initial conversion price of approximately US$28.34 per ADS) at each holder’s
option at any time on or after November 1, 2027, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately
preceding the maturity date of May 1, 2028. Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver to such converting holders,
as the case may be, either cash, ADSs, or a combination of cash and ADSs, at its election.

The initial conversion price of US$28.34 per ADS, or US$14.17 per Class A Ordinary Share (the latter represents the effective
cost per Class A Ordinary Share), represents a discount of approximately 26.56% to the maximum Public Offer Price of
HK$150.00 per Class A Ordinary Share. The initial conversion rate may be adjusted in certain circumstances, including but
not limited to when the Company effects a share split or share combination. As of December 31, 2022, no adjustment had
been made to the initial conversion rate.

Holders of the convertible debt have the rights to require the Company to repurchase all or a portion for their convertible debt
on May 1, 2024 and May 1, 2026 or in the event of certain fundamental changes, at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the convertible debt to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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The Company assessed the convertible debt under ASC 815 and concluded that:

(1) Since the conversion option is considered indexed to the Company’s own stock and classified in shareholders’ equity,
bifurcation of conversion option from the convertible debt is not required as the scope exception prescribed in ASC
815-10-15-74 is met;

(ii) The repurchase option is considered clearly and closely related to its debt host and does not meet the requirement for
bifurcation.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06 Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)(the “ASU 2020-06"). The Company
determined to early adopt ASU 2020-06 from January 1, 2021. Since the ASU 2020-06 amended the guidance on convertible
debt instruments by removing accounting models for the instruments with beneficial conversion features and cash conversion
features. Accordingly, there is no need to consider beneficial conversion feature or cash conversion features for the convertible
debt.

Therefore, the Company accounted for the convertible debt as a single instrument measured at its amortized cost as long-
term borrowings on the consolidated balance sheets. The issuance costs were recorded as an adjustment to the long-term
borrowings and are amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual life to the maturity
date (i.e., May 1, 2028). For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, the convertible debt related interest expense was
US$3,353 (RMB21,369) and US$4,506 (RMB31,076), respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2022, the principal amount
of the convertible debt was RMB5,499,041 and RMB6,006,968, and the unamortized debt issuance cost was RMB101,100
and RMB93,253, respectively.

In February, 2022, the Group entered into a 5-year pledged loan agreement with a commercial bank in the PRC, with total
principal of RMB900,000. This loan was pledged by certain manufacturing facilities of the Group. As of December 31, 2022,
the interest rate was 5-year Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published by the National Interbank Funding Center, minus 0.40% per
annum. The outstanding loan principal of RMB110,000 is due within 12 months, which is classified as current portion of
long-term borrowing and the remaining portion of principal of RMB790,000 is presented as a long-term borrowing.

The borrowing contains covenants which includes limitations on certain asset sales and a requirement to maintain current
assets. The Group is in compliance with all of the loan covenants as of December 31, 2022.

In June 2022, the Group entered into a credit agreement with a group of banks pursuant to which the Group is entitled to
borrow from the group of banks from time to time up to an aggregate of RMB3,000,000 until April 2024. The related principle
is payable semiannually in arrears in June and December of each year, from June 2025 to June 2034. The related interest is
payable quarterly in arrears on the twentieth of the last month of every quarter, from September 2022 to June 2034. As of
December 31, 2022, the Group made drawdown in the amount of RMB625,383. The loan is secured by the pledge of certain
Group’s land use rights and property relating to the production of electric vehicles, when the certificates of land use rights and
property are approved and provided by the local authorities. Interest accrues on the principal amounts of the loans outstanding
at an annual rate equal to the 5-year LPR minus 0.80%. Borrowings under this credit agreement are classified as long-term
borrowings.

The borrowing contains covenants which includes a requirement to the quantities of electric vehicle deliveries in the foreseeable
future and maintain financial assets on the specific account. The Group is in compliance with all of the applicable loan
covenants as of December 31, 2022.
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In September 2021, the Group entered into a loan facility agreement with a commercial bank in the PRC, which allows the
Group to draw borrowings up to RMB1,009,900 as of periods ended September 28, 2029. The borrowings bear annual interest
rate of 5-year LPR minus 0.31% and were guaranteed by certain production facilities and tooling of the Group. As of December
31, 2022, the outstanding loan principal was RMB600,000, of which RMB74,083 will be due within 12 months, which is
classified as current portion of long-term borrowing and the remaining balance of RMB525,917 will be due in January 1, 2024
and thereafter, which is classified as long-term borrowing. The unused credit limit under these facilities was RMB409,900 as
of December 31, 2022.

In June 2022, the Group entered into loan agreements with a commercial bank guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group pursuant
to which the Group is entitled to borrow from the group of banks from time to time until June 2024 up to an aggregate of
US$200,000. In June 2022, the Group made the drawdown in the amount of US$100,000 (RMB696,460). Interest accrues on
the principal amounts of the loans outstanding at an annual rate equal to the SOFR. The Group repaid a portion of the principal
in the amount of US$50,000 (RMB348,230) in December 2022. As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding loan principal of
RMB6,965 is due within 12 months, which is classified as current portion of long-term borrowing and the remaining portion
of principal of RMB341,265 is presented as a long-term borrowing.

The borrowing contains covenants which includes limitations on liquidity ratios and requirements on stock price and vehicle
deliveries. The Group is in compliance with all of the loan covenants as of December 31, 2022.

In July 2022, the Group entered into a 3-year loan agreement with a commercial bank in the PRC guaranteed by a subsidiary
of the Group, with total principal of RMB300,000. The related principal is payable semiannually in arrears in January and
July of each year, beginning from January 2023, until July 2025. The related interest is payable quarterly in arrears on the
twenty-first of the last month of every quarter, from September 2022 to July 2025. As of December 31, 2022, the interest rate
was l-year LPR per annum and an outstanding loan principal of RMB100,000 is due within 12 months, which is classified
as current portion of long-term borrowing and the remaining portion of principal of RMB200,000 is presented as a long-term
borrowing.

In September 2022, the Group enter